
9 October 2019

Cabinet

Wednesday 9 October 2019 10.00 am

Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester

AGENDA

Item Discussion Portfolio

1 Apologies 

To note any apologies for absence.

Leader of  Council

2 Minutes (Pages 1 - 24)

To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 24 July 2019 (minutes 
attached).

Leader of  Council

3 Declarations of Interest 

To  declare any pecuniary or personal interests relating to specific 
matters on the agenda.

Please see information note (1) at the end of the agenda

Leader of  Council

4 Questions at Cabinet Meetings 

Up to 30 minutes is allowed for this item.

Written questions 

To answer any written questions from a County Councillor, (or any 
person living or working in the county, or is affected by the work of the 
County Council), about any matter which relates to any item on the 
agenda for this meeting. 

The closing date for the receipt of written questions is 4.00 pm on 
Thursday 3 October 2019 

Please submit any questions to jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

A written answer will be provided for each written question received (to 
be presented to the questioner and to Cabinet (in advance of the 

Leader of  Council

mailto:jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk


9 October 2019

meeting. The questions and answers will be taken as read at the 
meeting and need not be read out. At the discretion of the Leader of 
Council, each questioner in attendance at the meeting will be allowed to 
ask one supplementary question at the meeting (in response to the 
answer given to the original question). 

A copy of all written questions and written answers circulated at the 
meeting will be attached to the signed copy of the minutes of the 
meeting.

Urgent questions

An urgent written question may be asked by a member of the public 
about any item on the Cabinet agenda for that meeting which the 
Chairperson considers could not have been reasonably submitted by the 
deadline for the receipt of written questions, provided he or she gives 
notice of the question to the Chief Executive by 12 noon the day before 
the meeting.

Budget Framework and Policy Development Decision

5 Recommendation to Council: Youth Justice Management Plan 
(Pages 25 - 58)

The Youth Justice Management Plan forms part of the Council’s Policy 
Framework. Taking into account comments made by the Children’s and 
Families Scrutiny Committee on 18 July 2019, Cabinet to recommend 
that the plan be adopted by Full Council. 

Children's 
Safeguarding and 
Early Years

Key Decisions

6 Financial Monitoring Report (Pages 59 - 74)

To receive an update on the year-end forecast for the 2019/20 County 
Council’s Revenue and Capital Budgets. 

Finance and 
Change

7 Producing the Council Strategy and Medium Term Financial 
Strategy 2020-21 (Pages 75 - 80)

To set out the context and outline the process and timetable for 
producing the Council Strategy and Medium Term Financial Strategy for 
the period 2021/22.

Leader of  the 
Council

Finance and 
Change 

8 Public Health Nursing Service (Pages 81 - 90)

To seek approval to extend the current Section 76 Agreement with 
Gloucestershire Care Services to continue providing the integrated 
Public Health Nursing Service for a further two years, plus a 
discretionary two years (April 2020 to March 2024).

Public Health & 
Communities



9 October 2019

9 South West Sub-Regional Residential Dynamic Purchasing 
System (Pages 91 - 100)

To seek approval for Gloucestershire County Council to participate in a 
competitive tendering process conducted by South Gloucestershire 
Council (as the lead authority) for the award of a four year (plus) South 
West Sub-Regional Dynamic Purchasing System (DPS) commencing 1st 
April 2020 for the provision of independent residential care for looked 
after children.

Children's 
Safeguarding and 
Early Years

10 Adoption of a Waste Tipping Away Policy (Pages 101 - 124)

To approve the adoption of a tipping away policy for waste collections by 
Gloucestershire Waste Collection Authorities.

Cllr Nigel Moor, Cabinet Member for Environment and Planning, to give 
a verbal update on comments made by the Gloucestershire Joint Waste 
Committee at a meeting held on 8 October 2019.  

Environment and 
Planning

11 Establishment and construction of a new 75 place special 
school for children and young people (aged 11-16) with 
Social, Emotional and Mental Health (SEMH) needs (Pages 125 
- 134)

To seek approval to establish a new 75 place Special School for 
Children and Young People with Social, Emotional and Mental Health 
(SEMH) needs together with approval for commissioning, funding, land 
acquisition and construction of the new school. 

Economy, 
Education and Skills

12 Children & Families Capital Programme Update (Pages 135 - 
144)

To agree changes to the approved Children & Families Capital 
Programme.  

Economy, 
Education and Skills

Part Exempt Decisions

13 Schedule of Proposed Disposals (Pages 145 - 150)

To consider the disposal of properties and sites deemed surplus to 
requirement in line with the council’s Policy for the Disposal of Property. 

Please note: this report contains both exempt and non-exempt 
information. 

To discuss the exempt information detailed in the appendices to the 
published report, consideration must first be given to whether the public 
and press should be excluded from the meeting by passing the following 
resolution: - 

Finance and 
Change



9 October 2019

In accordance with Regulation 4(2)(b) of the Local Authorities (Executive 
Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) 
Regulations 2012, consideration must be given to confirm whether 
members of the public and press should be excluded from the meeting 
for this item of business because it is likely that, if present there would be 
disclosure to them of exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3 of 
Part 1 of Schedule 12 A to the Act, and the public interest in withholding 
the information outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information 
to the public.

CABINET
Cllr Mark Hawthorne MBE, Cllr Richard Boyles, Cllr Tim Harman, Cllr Patrick Molyneux, 
Cllr Nigel Moor, Cllr David Norman MBE, Cllr Vernon Smith, Cllr Lynden Stowe, Cllr Kathy Williams 
and Cllr Roger Wilson

NOTES
1. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification about whether to 

make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the Monitoring Officer (Rob Ayliffe  01452 
328506 e-mail: rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk) prior to the start of the meeting.

2. INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect minutes or reports 
relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the meeting, please 
contact: Jo Moore, Senior Democratic Services Adviser :01452 324196/fax: 425240/e-mail: 
jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk

3. DEFINITION OF A KEY DECISION - A ‘Key Decision’ is one that is, if implemented, is likely to
 Result in significant additional expenditure or savings to the value of £500,000 or more, or
 Be significant in terms of its effect on communities in two or more electoral divisions.

4.

5. 

GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS - Members are required to sign the attendance list.

PHOTOGRAPHY, FILMING AND AUDIO RECORDING OF COUNCIL MEETINGS is permitted 
subject to the Local Government Access to Information provisions. Please contact Democratic 
Services (01452 324202) to make the necessary arrangements ahead of the meeting. If you are 
a member of the public and do not wish to be photographed or filmed please inform the 
Democratic Services Officer on duty at the meeting.  

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the meeting please 
leave as directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the assembly point located outside the 
main entrance to Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  Please remain there and await further 
instructions.

mailto:rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk


MINUTES of meeting of the Cabinet

Held on WEDNESDAY 24 JULY 2019

PETER BUNGARD
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 1 -

CABINET MEETING  

24 July 2019

Gloucestershire
County
Council

Present:
Cllr Mark Hawthorne MBE Leader of Council 
Cllr Richard Boyles Deputy Leader/Children’s Safeguarding and Early Years 
Cllr Tim Harman Public Health 
Cllr Patrick Molyneux Economy, Education and Skills
Cllr Nigel Moor Environment and Planning 
Cllr Dave Norman Public Protection, Parking and Libraries 
Cllr Vernon Smith Highways and Flood
Cllr Roger Wilson Adult Social Care Commissioning

1. Apologies 

Apologies were received from Cllr Lynden Stowe (Cabinet Member for Finance and 
Change) and from Cllr Kathy Williams (Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care: 
Delivery). 

2. Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting held on 19 June 2019 were confirmed and signed as a 
true record of that meeting. 

3. Declarations of Interest 

No declarations of interest were made at the meeting.

4. Questions at Cabinet Meetings 

A total of 16 public questions and 30 member questions were submitted for 
consideration in advance of the meeting.
 
Please refer to the link below to view the responses to the questions: -

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/b15994/Questions%20and%20An
swers%20Wednesday%2024-Jul-2019%2010.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=9

Page 2

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/b15994/Questions%20and%20Answers%20Wednesday%2024-Jul-2019%2010.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=9
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/b15994/Questions%20and%20Answers%20Wednesday%2024-Jul-2019%2010.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=9


Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

If unable to access the document at the link above, please go to the link below and 
select the ‘Cabinet Questions and Answers’ PDF document at the top of the web 
page: - 

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?MId=9229&x=1 

The following supplementary questions were asked at the meeting.
 
Public Questions:
 
Question 1: Linda Phillips
 
Agenda Item 6: Future Provision of Care Homes in Gloucestershire and the 
Relevant Consultation
 
Reiterating concerns about the national crisis affecting Care in the Community and 
the NHS, Ms Phillips asked the cabinet member to oppose the proposed closure of 
two ‘unique and special care homes’ in the Stroud District and provide support to 
The Orders of the St John Trust by investing in the two establishments.
 
Response by: Cllr Roger Wilson (Cabinet Member: Adult Social Care: 
Commissioning) 
 
Cllr Wilson informed Ms Phillips that the impact of these issues would be 
considered later in the meeting. Cllr Wilson confirmed that a number of issues 
raised today had ‘been picked up’. 
 
Question 2: Sally Powell
 
Agenda Item 6: Future Provision of Care Homes in Gloucestershire and the 
Relevant Consultation
 
Ms Powell asked how could Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) guarantee 
sufficient suitable provision in the Stroud area to meet the needs of both GCC 
funded and self funded residents given the lack of assessment information 
regarding each resident's care needs?
 
Response by: Cllr Roger Wilson (Cabinet Member: Adult Social Care: 
Commissioning) 
 
Cllr Wilson confirmed that GCC officers had invested a huge amount of work into 
providing alternative places for the affected residents. 
Question 4: Sally Powell
 
Agenda Item 6: Future Provision of Care Homes in Gloucestershire and the 
Relevant Consultation
 
Given the provision of respite and new NHS placements provided by Wyatt House, 
Ms Powell enquired whether the County Council had engaged with carers and care 

Page 3

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?MId=9229&x=1


Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

providers to assess the impact of the proposed closures and to discuss what 
alternative provisions could be made?
 
Response by: Cllr Roger Wilson (Cabinet Member: Adult Social Care: 
Commissioning) 
 
Cllr Wilson confirmed that part of the consultation process, (pending the decision 
from today’s meeting), would be for officers to consider the number of places 
available to residents. He confirmed there would be places available after the 
decision was made.
 
Question 8: Sally Powell
 
Agenda Item 6: Future Provision of Care Homes in Gloucestershire and the 
Relevant Consultation
 
Ms Powell requested details of the budgeted works proposed for Wyatt House and 
asked, ‘on what basis had it been deemed necessary for the proposed works to the 
care homes be carried out and on the recommendation of which clinical body’?
 
Response by: Cllr Roger Wilson (Cabinet Member: Adult Social Care: 
Commissioning) 
 
Referring to details included in the detailed cabinet report, Cllr Wilson informed Ms 
Powell that various assessments, including assessments by the Care Quality 
Commission (CQC) had been undertaken, in addition to assessments undertaken 
by the management team at The Order of the St John Care Trust themselves.
 
Question 9: Sally Powell
 
Agenda Item 6: Future Provision of Care Homes in Gloucestershire and the 
Relevant Consultation
 
Ms Powell asked, (if unable to provide the exact number of available nursing care 
beds), how would the County Council guarantee there would be sufficient dementia 
nursing care beds in the Stroud locality to meet the needs of both GCC funded, self 
funded and Continuing Health Care funded individuals?”
 
Response by: Cllr Roger Wilson (Cabinet Member: Adult Social Care: 
Commissioning) 
 
Cllr Wilson stated the number of dementia care beds varied on a day to day basis 
but officers were confident there was sufficient provision in the Stroud locality at the 
moment.
 
Member Questions:
 
Question 2: Cllr Stephen Robinson
 

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

Agenda Item 6: Future Provision of Care Homes in Gloucestershire and the 
Relevant Consultation
 
Cllr Robinson asked whether there were any homes where GCC had failed to place 
people on the grounds of cost?
 
Response by: Cllr Roger Wilson (Cabinet Member: Adult Social Care: 
Commissioning) 
 
Cllr Wilson was not aware of any but agreed to find out.
 
Question 3: Cllr Stephen Robinson
 
Agenda Item 6: Future Provision of Care Homes in Gloucestershire and the 
Relevant Consultation
 
Cllr Robinson questioned why the decision to replace care homes had not been 
taken forward in 2007, (in accordance with the Joint Commissioning Strategy for 
Services for Older People)?
 
Response by: Cllr Roger Wilson (Cabinet Member: Adult Social Care: 
Commissioning) 
 
Cllr Wilson explained that the decision at today’s meeting did not take into 
consideration ancient history. He clarified his task was now to look to the future.
 
Question 4: Cllr Lesley Williams
 
Agenda Item 6: Future Provision of Care Homes in Gloucestershire and the 
Relevant Consultation
 
Cllr Williams questioned why the process for reviewing care homes, (referred to by 
the 2007 Joint Commissioning Strategy for Services for Older People), had been 
started but not followed in relation to the proposed changes to Southfield House 
and Wyatt House Care Homes?
 
Response by: Cllr Roger Wilson (Cabinet Member: Adult Social Care: 
Commissioning) 
 
Cllr Wilson reinforced the view of not taking into consideration ancient history but 
offered to meet with Cllr Williams to discuss past decisions in relation to proposed 
changes to Southfield House and Wyatt House Care Homes.
 
Question 5: Cllr Lesley Williams
 
Agenda Item 6: Future Provision of Care Homes in Gloucestershire and the 
Relevant Consultation
 

Page 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

Cllr Williams asked why the Joint Commissioning Strategy for Services for Older 
People had not been reviewed during the past 12 years?
 
Response by: Cllr Roger Wilson (Cabinet Member: Adult Social Care: 
Commissioning) 
 
Stating that there was no obligation to undertake a review, Cllr Wilson reiterated 
that the decision at the meeting today was to focus on the future.
 
Question 6: Cllr Lesley Williams
 
Agenda Item 6: Future Provision of Care Homes in Gloucestershire and the 
Relevant Consultation
 
Cllr Williams asked why the proposed building works included in the council’s 
strategy had not been carried out?
 
Response by: Cllr Roger Wilson (Cabinet Member: Adult Social Care: 
Commissioning) 
 
Cllr Wilson clarified that he would discuss this with Cllr Williams at a later date.
 
Question 7: Cllr Lesley Williams
 
Agenda Item 6: Future Provision of Care Homes in Gloucestershire and the 
Relevant Consultation
 
Cllr Williams questioned why the issue had not been addressed before now?
 
Response by: Cllr Roger Wilson (Cabinet Member: Adult Social Care: 
Commissioning) 
 
Cllr Wilson offered to meet with Cllr Williams after the meeting to discuss historic 
matters.
 
Question 9: Cllr Lesley Williams
 
Agenda Item 6: Future Provision of Care Homes in Gloucestershire and the 
Relevant Consultation
 
Cllr Williams asked what steps would be taken to ensure residents were supported 
and relocated in the right homes. 
 
Response by: Cllr Roger Wilson (Cabinet Member: Adult Social Care: 
Commissioning) 
 
Cllr Wilson confirmed that every effort would be made to support the residents and 
families affected by the decision. Each resident would have access to a dedicated 
social worker, (plus an advocate, if this was required).

Page 6



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

 
Question 10: Cllr Lesley Williams
 
Agenda Item 6: Future Provision of Care Homes in Gloucestershire and the 
Relevant Consultation
 
Expressing concern about the limitations placed on the choice of care home from 
the amount of funding afforded by the County Council, Cllr Williams asked how 
many places had been ruled out?. 
 
Response by: Cllr Roger Wilson (Cabinet Member: Adult Social Care: 
Commissioning) 
 
Cllr Wilson clarified that there would be individual negotiations with care homes. 
 
Question 16: Cllr Lesley Williams
 
Agenda Item 6: Future Provision of Care Homes in Gloucestershire and the 
Relevant Consultation
 
Cllr Williams asked if there was an opportunity to re-purpose the homes, working 
with Stroud District Council to redevelop into accommodation for homeless people?
 
Response by: Cllr Roger Wilson (Cabinet Member: Adult Social Care: 
Commissioning) 
 
Cllr Wilson assured members any proposal would be considered if it was 
appropriate. 
 
Question 17: Cllr Paul Hodgkinson
 
Agenda Item 6: Future Provision of Care Homes in Gloucestershire and the 
Relevant Consultation
 
Referring to the timescales and start date of the consultation, Cllr Hodgkinson 
questioned whether the cabinet member considered 24 hours notice for the resident 
and family meetings held in each care home sufficient?
 
Response by: Cllr Roger Wilson (Cabinet Member: Adult Social Care: 
Commissioning) 
 
Cllr Wilson explained that the advice had been to take action as quickly as possible 
after the announcement was made to avoid increased anxiety levels amongst those 
affected by the decision. The decision to consider the future of care homes in 
Gloucestershire originated last year and was supported by the cabinet. The aim of 
the meetings had been to ensure everyone had an opportunity to attend one of the 
presentations as quickly as possible. Cllr Wilson was sorry if some people had not 
been able to attend.
 

Page 7



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 7 -

Question 18: Cllr Paul Hodgkinson
 
Agenda Item 6: Future Provision of Care Homes in Gloucestershire and the 
Relevant Consultation
 
Questioning that, given the decision on the proposed closure of the care homes 
had already been made, Cllr Hodgkinson asked what the potential changes from 
consulting on the impact of the closures might be?
 
Response by: Cllr Roger Wilson (Cabinet Member: Adult Social Care: 
Commissioning) 
 
Cllr Wilson clarified that the consultation aimed to minimise the impact of the 
decisions by considering individual circumstances and consulting with each 
resident.
 
Question 19: Cllr Paul Hodgkinson
 
Agenda Item 6: Future Provision of Care Homes in Gloucestershire and the 
Relevant Consultation
 
Questioning how the care homes had been informed of the proposed closures, Cllr 
Hodgkinson asked if the depth of feeling that had arisen from the proposals had 
been evident in previous consultations and if the cabinet member thought this had 
been the right process?
 
Response by: Cllr Roger Wilson (Cabinet Member: Adult Social Care: 
Commissioning) 
 
Referring to the petition he had received at Shire Hall earlier that morning, Cllr 
Wilson said he understood the depth of feeling the proposals had created. The 
Council was following due process: Cllr Wilson believed the decision was the right 
decision for the council to make. 

Question 20: Cllr Paul Hodgkinson
 
Agenda Item 6: Future Provision of Care Homes in Gloucestershire and the 
Relevant Consultation
 
Cllr Hodgkinson stressed the importance of friendship networks and the impact of 
the decision on friends and families. Questioning the detriment to the health of 
those affected by the decision, Cllr Hodgkinson asked if the decision had any 
bearing on the cabinet member’s conscience?
 
Response by: Cllr Roger Wilson (Cabinet Member: Adult Social Care: 
Commissioning) 

Cllr Wilson believed the matter had nothing to do with conscience. He said the 
decision was the right decision in relation to delivering Adult Social Care in the 

Page 8



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 8 -

County. Acknowledging the importance of the friendship networks that existed at 
the care homes, Cllr Wilson confirmed that individual conversations would form part 
of the consultation and, wherever possible, friends would stay together.

Question 21: Cllr Paul Hodgkinson
 
Agenda Item 6: Future Provision of Care Homes in Gloucestershire and the 
Relevant Consultation

Cllr Hodgkinson referred to the ‘good’ performance ratings accredited to the care 
homes by the Care Quality Commission (CQC). Questioning the impact of the 
decision on the staff at the care homes, Cllr Hodgkinson asked if more investment 
in marketing the quality of care provided at the homes might achieve better 
occupancy levels?
 
Response by: Cllr Roger Wilson (Cabinet Member: Adult Social Care: 
Commissioning) 

Cllr Wilson clarified that marketing the care homes was the role of the Order of the 
St John Trust, not GCC. Acknowledging the impact of the decision on staff at the 
care homes, Cllr Wilson accepted it was inevitable some staff members would seek 
employment elsewhere and need to be replaced by agency staff. 

Question 22: Cllr Paul Hodgkinson
 
Agenda Item 6: Future Provision of Care Homes in Gloucestershire and the 
Relevant Consultation

Noting the response to his original question, stating ‘no council-funded resident 
would be worse off as a result of the changes’, Cllr Hodgkinson asked if there were 
any guarantees no self-funding resident would be worse off?
 
Response by: Cllr Roger Wilson (Cabinet Member: Adult Social Care: 
Commissioning) 

Cllr Wilson stated he could not give guarantees about self-funding residents. The 
choice of care home was the decision of individual residents. If they chose a more 
expensive care home, that would be their decision. 

Question 23: Cllr Paul Hodgkinson
 
Agenda Item 6: Future Provision of Care Homes in Gloucestershire and the 
Relevant Consultation

Cllr Hodgkinson asked if the cabinet member would commit to visiting the care 
homes again as part of the consultation?
 
Response by: Cllr Roger Wilson (Cabinet Member: Adult Social Care: 
Commissioning) 

Page 9



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 9 -

Cllr Wilson confirmed he and cabinet colleague, Cllr Kathy Williams, Cabinet 
Member for Adult Social Care Delivery, had visited the care homes already and 
would be happy to hear the views of the residents and their families. 

Question 26: Cllr Eva Ward 
 
Agenda Item 6: Future Provision of Care Homes in Gloucestershire and the 
Relevant Consultation
Cllr Ward reported that she had recently met with the Chief Executive Officer of The 
Order of the St John Trust and had enquired about the outcomes measurement to 
be used for the residents of the two care homes. Cllr Ward asked if an outcomes 
report would be published for members to scrutinise in 3 to 6 months time?
 
Response by: Cllr Roger Wilson (Cabinet Member: Adult Social Care: 
Commissioning) 

Referring to recent changes to the council’s scrutiny process, including the creation 
of an Adult Social Care and Communities Committee, Cllr Wilson confirmed that the 
proposed closure of the care homes was entirely the sort of issue the committee 
could agree to scrutinise. Cllr Wilson said he would be pleased to report on this 
issue to the committee.

Question 28: Cllr Eva Ward 
 
Agenda Item 6: Future Provision of Care Homes in Gloucestershire and the 
Relevant Consultation

Cllr Ward asked if capital receipts from the disposal of the two properties would be 
ring-fenced for Stroud?

Response by: Cllr Roger Wilson (Cabinet Member: Adult Social Care: 
Commissioning) 

Cllr Wilson said this was unusual; but that he would commend to cabinet to 
consider ring-fencing money to use in Adult Social Care.

Question 29: Cllr Paul Hodgkinson
 
Agenda Item 10: Future Provision of Care Homes in Gloucestershire and the 
Relevant Consultation

Referring to a motion at passed at the council meeting on 15 May 2019, committing 
the council to “consider its contracts going forward to oblige all contractors to report 
their carbon emissions and to place a ‘carbon/environmental cost’ on competing 
bids”, Cllr Hodgkinson noted that no decision had been made on the suggestion 
that the Dynamic Purchasing System oblige all providers to report their carbon 
emissions, and questioned why the proposal had not formed part of the council’s 
policies from the start?

Page 10



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 10 -

 
Response by: Cllr Nigel Moor (Cabinet Member: Environment and Planning) 

Cllr Moor confirmed that the timeline for the council’s carbon and climate strategy 
would be considered later in the year, at the November cabinet meeting. The 
procurement policy to form part of the strategy.

5. Financial Monitoring Report 2019/20 

In the absence of Cllr Lynden Stowe (Cabinet Member: Finance and Change), 
Leader of the Council, Cllr Mark Hawthorne, gave an update on the year-end 
forecast for the 2019/20 County Council’s Revenue and Capital Budgets. The 
update to reflect the financial position for the 2018/19 year end, showing a forecast 
revenue year end position of a £2.956 million overspend, (on a net budget of 
£429.661 million), representing 0.69% of the budget.

The Leader confirmed that the most significant change within the report was the net 
position forecast overspend in the Children and Families Budget, reported at £7.427 
million. The Leader said the overspend reflected ongoing pressures attributed to the 
high cost of external placements and safeguarding staff budgets. An efficiency plan 
had been put in place to reduce the forecast overspend to below £5.0 million by the 
end of the year. The Leader advised that the council’s investment aimed to address 
some of the issues experienced in delivering Children’s and Families Services, 
issues not unique to Gloucestershire.  
 
The Communities & Infrastructure Budget forecast reported an overspend of £0.310 
million. This was largely due to an overspend of £0.357 million in the council’s 
waste budgets, for which it was proposed should be offset by areas forecast to be 
on (or very close) to budget. The council continued to address a number of minor 
overspends in other budgets.  

The Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service reported a forecast overspend of 
£0.213 million. This was mainly attributed to significant increases in employer 
superannuation costs for fire service pension schemes. Although a grant had been 
received to alleviate the increase, this had only represented 90 per cent of the 
costs. It was proposed that the overall overspend be off set by a number of 
underspends identified in corporate budgets.

The Leader advised that the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) was forecast to 
overspend by £4.842 million. This included a deficit carry forward of £2.884 million, 
primarily a consequence of cost pressures in the High Needs Block. Although there 
had been a temporary fix from government, without the necessary additional 
funding, it was unlikely the DSG grant would be brought back into balance in the 
near future, creating a potential financial risk to the Council.  To reduce the risk, a 5 
year recovery plan was underway. The Local Government Association (LGA) would 
also work with councils to highlight the impact of the cost pressures to the 
Government.  
 

Page 11



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 11 -

In terms of capital, the Leader reported a forecast year end position of £122.684 
million. This included an in year overspend of £1.147 million against the current 
budget. It was proposed that an increase of £1.147 million be added to the capital 
programme. Further other changes to be put forward during the next 6 to 8 months. 

The Leader referred to Appendix A of the report, detailing financial support for 
subsidised admission and travel for school children to attend Skillzone from 
September 2019. The information was noted. 

Cllr Richard Boyles, (Cabinet Member for Safeguarding Children and Early Years) 
promoted some of the good work being provided at Skillzone. Cllr Dave Norman, 
(Cabinet Member for Public Protection, Libraries and Parking), expressed 
disappointment at the number of members who had not yet visited Skillzone and 
urged everyone to take up the opportunity.  

It was suggested any questions on the financial monitoring report be directed to Cllr 
Lynden Stowe. 

Having considered all of the information, including known proposals, alternative 
options and reasons for recommendations, Cabinet noted the report and, 

RESOLVED to: 

1. Note the forecast revenue year end position as at the end of May 2019 for 
the 2019/20 financial year as showing a net £2.956 million overspend 
against the revenue budget of £429.661 million.

2. Note the one off transfer of £0.028 million to GFRS from the Transformation 
Reserve to subsidise travel on a targeted basis for key stage 2 and 3 
children across Gloucestershire.

3. Note the forecast capital year end position as at the end of May 2019 of 
£1.147million overspend against the current budget of £121.537 million

4. Approve the addition of £1.147 million to the Highways capital budget funded 
from a variety of sources as outlined in the body of the report.

5. Note the allocation of £1.209 million from the approved carriageway 
resurfacing budget to specific schemes as outlined in the body of the report.

6. To Consider the Future Provision of Care Homes in Gloucestershire and the 
Relevant Consultation 

Cllr Roger Wilson, Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care, (Commissioning), gave a 
detailed account of the background and proposals relating to the proposed closures 
of Southfield House Care Home, Stroud, and Wyatt House Care Home, Stroud. In 
presenting the report, Cllr Wilson sought approval to undertake consultation on the 
impact of the closures.  

Page 12



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 12 -

Cllr Wilson expressed the difficultly in making this decision, particularly in relation to 
the impact the decision would have on residents, families and staff at the two care 
homes. Noting the exceptional care and competency provided by the staff at the 
care homes, Cllr Wilson acknowledged the care homes not only provided care to 
the residents, but also represented their homes. 

Cllr Wilson reported that, sadly, on the advice of The Orders of St John Care Trust, 
(the charity organisation running the care homes), both properties had been 
identified as unfit for purpose for the future. As a result of changing demands for 
care, the two properties were unable to attract sufficient  self-funding residents and 
were therefore struggling to maintain full occupancy. 

Furthermore, the cost of making improvements to upgrade the properties was 
considered too expensive, and even then, would not reach the high standard of 
care deemed appropriate for Gloucestershire in 2019. 

Cllr Wilson confirmed he had visited both care homes and had spoken to staff and 
to residents. He was also aware of several other members, (from a range of political 
parties), who had visited the properties and expressed his appreciation for the 
diligence that was being attributed to this sensitive issue. 

Reporting on some of the features of the properties that had identified the care 
homes as being unsuitable for future use, (single double-glazing/poor 1970’s 
insulation),  Cllr Wilson also referred to the out-dated design of the properties, 
expressing concern about the absence of en-suite facilities; the inappropriate size 
of bedrooms and corridors; and the inaccessible gardens, (although beautiful and 
well maintained), but without access for wheel chair users or residents with limited 
mobility. 

Cllr Wilson recalled the cabinet decision taken on 19 June 2019, seeking approval 
of the Strategy for the Commissioning of Residential and Nursing Care Provision, 
where, under the requirements of the Care Act 2014, and in conjunction with the 
NHS, the Council was made accountable of the duty to provide the best and most 
suitable accommodation for elderly and vulnerable residents. In Gloucestershire, 
this decision had been against a backdrop of falling demand for residential care 
placements as more people remain in their homes for longer , rather than being 
admitted to care. 

Responding to the question of why the decision to close the care homes needed to 
be taken at this time, and why it was not possible to allow the homes to remain 
open for existing residents, it was explained that the issue of retaining staff and 
providing quality care when the future of a care home is under question becomes 
much more challenging. 
Acknowledging the impact on staff at the care homes and the inevitability of staff 
leaving to seek stable employment, Cllr Wilson referred to the difficulties of 
maintaining good quality care at the care homes during periods of instability, 
followed by the high cost of employing agency staff, and stated that keeping the 
care homes open was not an option he was able to support. 

Page 13



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 13 -

Responding to questions on lessons learnt from the closures of care homes the 
previous year, Cllr Wilson informed members that, providing dedicated social 
worker support to support residents and their families had worked well. Combined 
with senior officer advice and leadership, the same level of support would be 
provided. Cllr Wilson assured members it was his primary intention to safeguard the 
welfare of the residents, their families and the staff at the care homes. 

Having read the many representations of those affected by the decision and 
reporting that cabinet colleagues had been made aware of the comments and 
concerns, Cllr Wilson confirmed full consultation, (over a three month period prior to 
closure), would be undertaken involving all residents, families and staff, with each 
resident being offered the individual services of a social worker. The role of the 
social worker would be to minimise the potential disruption to the lives of those 
affected by the decision and to ensure the most suitable alternative accommodation 
was offered to the resident. 

Cllr Wilson gave his assurance no council funded resident would lose out financially 
from the closures. Reinforcing his earlier statement that the welfare of residents, 
families and staff was his primary concern, he reported that, over the course of the 
past few months, time had been spent with each of the affected groups, and that he 
had engaged in discussions with local elected members and with The Orders of the 
St John Care Trust on making the transfer to new homes as smooth as possible. 
Clarifying that he and fellow Adult Social Care Cabinet Member, Cllr Kathy 
Williams, were committed to ensuring a successful transfer process, Cllr Wilson 
said he would do everything possible to maximise the wellbeing of residents. 

Responding to questions, Cllr Wilson, gave detailed explanations on why the 
decision had been taken now, (rather than in the winter months), and how staff 
would be given assistance to seek alternative employment and in considering 
redundancy options.

Cllr Wilson agreed it was unusual to ring fence financial receipts from disposal of 
the care homes but  would be open to all suggestions, including those from local 
members and MP’s. Discussions with Stroud District Council had been held, where 
a range of options on how the financial credits could be used had been considered. 

Explaining why the outdated properties were no longer suitable for providing high 
quality care to residents, Cllr Wilson elaborated on the amenities offered by 4 new 
care homes invested in by The Orders of the St John Care Trust. He also explained 
some of the fundamentals in seeking a balance in funding from self funding and 
council funded residents and why it was important to maximise occupancy levels of 
self funding residents to achieve the balance. 

Leader of the Council, Cllr Mark Hawthorne, acknowledged that the Adult Joint 
Commissioning Strategy for Services for Older People published in 2007 was now 
12 years old and that the demands on care homes had significantly changed since 
this time. The Leader confirmed consultation would be undertaken to ensure each 
person received the same level of care. 

Page 14



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 14 -

Cllr Wilson reflected on the huge amount of work that had been undertaken in 
reaching this decision and thanked all those involved, including residents and staff. 

Having considered all of the information, including the due regard statement, 
representations, known proposals, alternative options and the reasons for the 
recommendations, Cabinet noted the report and, 

RESOLVED to: 

1. Approve the closure of Southfield House Care Home, Stroud.

2. Agree that any capital receipts arising from the disposal of Southfield House 
Care Home will be ring-fenced for future developments for older people in 
the County.

3. Delegate authority to the Director of Integration, in consultation with the 
Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care Commissioning, to:   

                  
i) Consult with residents and families of Southfield House Care Home 

on the impact of and arrangements for the closure of the care home.

ii) Facilitate moving the residents to an alternative care home that will 
meets their needs.

4. Approve the closure of Wyatt House Care Home.

5. Agree that any capital receipts arising from the disposal of the properties will 
be ring-fenced for future developments for older people in the County.

6. Delegate authority to the Director of Integration, in consultation with the 
Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care Commissioning to:   

                  
i) Consult with residents and their families of Wyatt House on the impact 

of and arrangements for the closure of the care home.

ii) Facilitate moving the residents to an alternative care home that will 
meet their needs.

7. Delivery of Structural Maintenance Works 2020-2022 

Cllr Vernon Smith, Cabinet Member for Highways and Flood, sought approval for 
the procurement and award of the council’s contract for the delivery of structural 
maintenance works in April 2020.  

In September 2017, a new delivery model was developed in consultation with 
Cabinet and a cross-party Cabinet Panel to take forward the way in which the 
council procured and delivered its highway contracts post April 2019. Building on 
the success of the previous year, Cllr Smith explained that the contract for delivery 

Page 15



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 15 -

of the council’s structural maintenance works with effect from 1 April 2020 would 
help in delivering the council’s £150 million investment in the county’s highways. 

Outlining a variety of projects (both completed and underway), Cllr Smith stressed 
the importance of considering the county’s carbon footprint as part of the council’s 
commitment to reducing its carbon emissions. He also stressed the value of the 
proposed contract in enabling the council to bid for the best evaluations. 

Commending the smooth delivery of the council’s resurfacing works during the past 
two years, Cllr Smith thanked the Highways Team for their hard work. Noting Cllr 
Smith’s expression of appreciation to the public for its understanding of any 
disruptions that may have occurred during the delivery of major project works, 
Leader of the Council, Cllr Mark Hawthorne, requested that consideration be given 
to the planning of any future schemes in conjunction with related works and 
schemes overseen by utility companies. The Leader stressed the importance of 
ensuring the county’s roads avoided becoming gridlock. 

Other cabinet members commended the work being undertaken.  

Having considered all of the information, including known proposals, alternative 
options and reasons for recommendations, Cabinet noted the report and, 

RESOLVED to: 

Authorise the Lead Commissioner, Highways Authority, to:

1. Carry out a public procurement law compliant competitive tender process for 
the delivery of a two year single provider contract for the delivery of structural 
maintenance works commencing 1st April 2020, and 

2. Award such contract (following the conclusion of the said competitive tender 
process) in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Highways and Flood, to 
the preferred provider(s) evaluated as offering the Council best value for 
money for delivery of the required works.

In the event that the preferred provider is either unable or unwilling to enter 
into that contract with the Council then the Lead Commissioner, Highways 
Authority shall be authorised to award such contract to the next willing 
highest scoring suitably qualified provider.

8. Children and Families Capital Programme Update 

Cllr Patrick Molyneux, (Cabinet Member for Economy, Education and Skills), sought 
to approve changes to the approved Children and Families Capital Programme. 

Cllr Molyneux recalled that at the council meeting on 14 February 2018, the 
2018/19 Children’s & Families Capital Programme had been approved. The 
following year, on 13 February 2019, the 2019/20 Children’s & Families Capital 
Programme had been approved. Cllr Molyneux confirmed that, since this time, 

Page 16



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 16 -

schemes had been developed for a number of schools, for which the decision 
report gave an update on subsequent changes. The schemes represent part of the 
council’s ongoing commitment to investing £100 million into new schools, improving 
school buildings and expanding facilities at schools across Gloucestershire.

Cllr Molyneux informed members that the council had worked collaboratively with 
the Diocese of Gloucester to ensure proposed works to provide additional school 
places and other improvements at the Prestbury St Mary’s C of E Primary School 
were delivered in a coordinated way to i) deliver an efficient scheme and ii) 
minimise any disruption to the day to day running of the school.  

It was noted that additional Section 106 Developer Contributions had been received 
for Cleeve Secondary Academy to help deliver improvements at the school, and to 
enable the school to cater for additional pupils arising from local housing.  

Cllr Tim Harman, (Cabinet Member for Public Health), commended the council’s 
investment in schools. Having attended an Air Quality Panel meeting the previous 
day, Cllr Harman referred to the good work that was being undertaken by officers to 
address this controversial issue? Cllr Molyneux confirmed Air Quality issues in 
Gloucestershire schools was a key priority.  

Having considered all of the information, including known proposals, alternative 
options and reasons for recommendations, Cabinet noted the report and, 

RESOLVED to: 

Approve changes to the Children & Families Capital Programme as set out in the 
published decision report, to approve: 

1. A new scheme for the provision of additional places at Prestbury St Mary’s C 
of E Primary School, funded by the transfer of £0.270 million from the 
approved basic need provision, and 

2. An additional £0.206 million developer s106 contributions for Cleeve 
Secondary Academy.

9. Targeted Family Support in Children and Family Centre Contract Extension 

Cllr Richard Boyles, (Cabinet Member for Children’s Safeguarding and Early 
Years), explained that the purpose of the report was to seek approval to exercise 
the contractual option to extend the existing contracts for the provision of targeted 
family support services in Children and Families Centres located in Gloucester City, 
Forest of Dean and Stroud and in the Cheltenham and Tewkesbury localities from 1 
April 2020 to 31 March 2022. Current contracts had the option to extend for a 
further period for up to two years. The contracts support the ‘payment by results’ 
work of the Troubled Families Programme. 

Cllr Boyles informed members that the Children and Family Centres had exceeded 
targets for the last 2 years and in doing so had supported many more children and 

Page 17



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 17 -

families than anticipated and had made a larger contribution to the payment by 
results service of Families First that helped make up the current Early Help Service.

Broad consultation had been undertaken during the contract periods, with families 
encouraged to give their views on the services they received. The results of the 
consultations demonstrated how families felt services were accessible; that they felt 
engaged and that they had been listened to and valued. The overall partner and 
user feedback would be used to help shape the services going forward beyond the 
contract extension recommendation. T The contracts would be robustly monitored 
and were currently performing well, sustaining positive outcomes for the children 
and families they supported. 
 
Cllr Boyles informed members that in enabling the 2 year extension of the council’s 
contracts would help sustain the continuity of care for some of the county’s most 
vulnerable children and families. In the meantime, commissioners would work on 
the development of the council’s longer term strategy for future provision, in line 
with the new Sufficiency Strategy, and with any national decision in relation to the 
future funding of the Troubled Families Programme.
  
It was noted that there was a resource implication in the extension of the contracts, 
with a shortfall of £252,000 from a budget of £7,250,964  To address this, Cllr 
Boyles advised that, built into the commissioning budget over the next 12 months 
would be measures to make savings from ensuring a more effective management 
of the contracts. This would neither affect the contract nor the budget. 
 
Cllr Boyles proposed Cabinet adopt Option 2 of the options; to secure the 2 year 
extension whilst continuing to deliver continuity of care to the families needing 
support.

Having considered all of the information, including known proposals, alternative 
options and reasons for recommendations, Cabinet noted the report and, 

RESOLVED to: 

Delegate authority to the Director of Children’s Services to exercise the option to 
extend the current contracts for the provision of targeted support services in  the 16 
Children and Family Centres located in Gloucester City, Forest of Dean, and 
Stroud, Cheltenham and Tewkesbury localities from 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2022.

10. Establishing a Dynamic Purchasing System for the Procurement of Transport 
Contracts 

Presenting the first of two ‘related’ reports, Cllr Nigel Moor, (Cabinet Member for 
Environment and Planning), sought approval to conclude the process of 
establishing a Dynamic Purchasing System (DPS) for Transport Services.

The initial Transport DPS had been agreed by Cabinet in 2016. (This allowed the 
Integrated Transport Unit to use a web portal for the procurement of transport 
contracts for Home to School, Public Transport and Social Care). 

Page 18



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 18 -

Cllr Moor explained that the decision concluded the next iteration of the DPS. The 
system was the same as before, with the exception of the online marketplace now 
being split into lots (i.e. lot 1 for small taxis, lot 2 for larger taxis, lot 3 for school 
buses). This would allow the procurement of transport to meet different 
requirements.

The length of the proposed DPS had been extended to 10 years, (this would be 
flexible). Notice could be given without incurring financial penalty at any point during 
the 10 year period should the system no longer meet requirements. The ability to 
open new lots to meet legislation changes had been retained. 

Cllr Moor drew members attention to the due regard statement that accompanied 
the decision and reported no concerns of those with protected characteristics. He 
confirmed all vehicles to be procured in this way would be fully compliant with all 
national accessibility regulations.

Having considered all of the information, including known proposals, alternative 
options and reasons for recommendations, Cabinet noted the report and, 

RESOLVED to: 

Delegate authority to the Lead Commissioner - Community Infrastructure to:

1) Conduct a public procurement law compliant procurement process 
for  the establishment of a ten year Dynamic Purchasing System 
(“DPS”) for the provision of passenger transport services 
commencing February 2020; 

2) Admit or remove suppliers from the DPS during its ten year term in 
accordance with the selection criteria or any revised selection 
criteria set out in the DPS;

3) Procure transport services, using the DPS, from providers of 
Passenger Transport Services (including Home to School 
Transport Services and Social Care Transport Services) and 
award contracts for such services up to the value of £499,999 in 
aggregate in respect of any single contract award PROVIDED that 
the Lead Commissioner - Community Infrastructure reports back to 
Cabinet on an annual basis throughout the term of the DPS with  
details of the aggregate value of all contracts that were awarded 
using the DPS in the previous year and, 

4) Procure contracts for the supply of transport services during 
financial year 2019/2020 (whose estimated aggregate values shall 
equal £18m) from operators admitted to the existing DPS and the 
proposed new DPS; contracts for transport services required by 
the council in subsequent financial years shall be the subject of 
separate Cabinet decisions.

Page 19



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 19 -

11. Tender and Award of Transport Contracts under the Dynamic Purchasing 
System for Transport 

Cllr Nigel Moor, (Cabinet Member for Environment and Planning), sought 
approval to use the council’s Dynamic Purchasing System (DPS) to procure 
and award the passenger transport contracts referred to at Table 1 of the 
decision report and to provide feedback on the council’s progress in 
implementing transport related decisions agreed in July 2018, (Table 2). 

Having considered all of the information, including known proposals, alternative 
options and reasons for recommendations, Cabinet noted the report and, 

RESOLVED to: 

Authorise the Lead Commissioner: Community Infrastructure to:

1) Use the TDPS in accordance with its terms to undertake in each case a 
legally compliant procurement process to procure contracts between July 
2019 and July 2021 for the provision of each of the local bus services set 
out in Table 1 of the published decision report; 

2) Upon the conclusion of each of the procurement processes described in 
Recommendation 1 above, to award a contract to the highest scoring 
preferred provider in each case evaluated as offering the Council best 
value for money for delivery of the services in accordance with the TDPS 
requirements. 

In the event that a preferred provider for a contract is either unable or 
unwilling to enter into a contract with the Council then the Lead 
Commissioner: Community Infrastructure is authorised to enter into such 
contract with the next willing, highest scoring, suitably qualified provider. 

12. Commissioning of a Positive Behaviour Support Service for Children and 
Young People with a Learning Disability/Autism 

Cllr Richard Boyles, (Cabinet Member for Children’s Safeguarding and Early 
Years), sought approval to tender for the provision of an intensive Positive 
Behaviour Support Service (PBS) for children and young people with learning 
disabilities and/or with autism, and at risk of going into care.
 
Cllr Boyles informed members that the behaviour support service was an intensive 
programme of support, designed to help children and young people with 
challenging behaviour stay at home with their families. 

The service to introduce a person-centred approach to ensure any actions taken 
would be directed at the unique needs of each individual child or young person. 
Such methods had been successfully implemented in other parts of the country and 
had been found to decrease the frequency and severity of challenging behaviour, 

Page 20



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 20 -

improve the quality of life for young people and their families and reduce the need 
for residential care.
 
Cllr Boyles believed a Positive Behaviour Support Service for Gloucestershire 
would improve the quality of life for young people with learning disabilities and/or 
with Autism. It would also avoid the cost to the council of expensive residential 
placements which, currently, were reported at around £220,000 per year per 
child. On average, 6 young people per year enter placements.  
 
If approved, the Gloucestershire Positive Behaviour Support Service to commence 
in April 2020, supporting up to 14 children or young people with learning disabilities 
and/or with autism, displaying challenging behavior and at risk of entering full time 
residential care within 6 months. The PBS service to work intensively with 4-5 
children at any one time for a period of up to 2 years. Young people would be 
referred to the service by a multi-agency panel.
 
Cllr Boyles explained that if the council was to use this Social Impact Bond model, 
there would be no need to provide up front investment for the project. GCC would 
be eligible to access £360,000 from the Life Chances Fund, (government funding 
used to encourage the development of Social Impact Bonds). 
 
The contract between the council and the provider would be an outcomes based 
contract with payments made on the successful outcome of the providers work with 
the young person. 
 
Savings of £4,320,000 were forecast, (covering the term of the programme).
 
Having considered all of the information, including known proposals, alternative 
options and reasons for recommendations, Cabinet noted the report and, 

RESOLVED to: 

a) Approve the commissioning of an intensive positive behaviour support service 
for children and young people, to be facilitated by the Provider using a Social 
Impact Bond.   

b) Delegate authority to the Director of Children’s Services to carry out an OJEU 
compliant competitive tender process and award a contract, in consultation 
with the Cabinet Member for Children’s Safeguarding and Early Years, for a 
positive behaviour support service for children and young people

c) Delegate authority to the Director of Children’s Services to develop a 
commissioning implementation plan, in consultation with the Cabinet Member 
for Children’s Safeguarding and Early Years.

13. A38/A419 Whitminster Roundabout Bridges and Canal Improvements 
(Contract Procurement and Ancillary Orders) 

Page 21



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 21 -

Cllr Vernon Smith, (Cabinet Member for Highways and Flood), sought authorisation 
for the Lead Commissioner, Highway Authority to receive funding from Highways 
England (via the Cotswold Canal Trust) for the proposes of procuring a contract for 
works in respect of the proposed A38/A419 Whitminster Roundabout Bridges and 
Canal Improvements Scheme. 

Cllr Smith confirmed that the Cotswold Canal Trust had received two grants to 
support work on the Cotswold Canal Restoration Project. The grants comprised 
Heritage Lottery Funding and Highways England Funding. Total funding for the 
scheme was estimated at £4.5 million. 

Outlining the options outlined in the cabinet decision report, Cllr Smith sought to 
authorise the Lead Commissioner: Highways Authority to progress the works, as 
described above. 

Having considered all of the information, including known proposals, alternative 
options and reasons for recommendations, Cabinet noted the report and, 

RESOLVED to: 

Authorise the Lead Commissioner; Highway Authority to:

(1) Receive £4.0m by way of funding from Highways England (via Cotswold 
Canal Trust) for the purpose of funding a contract for works in respect of the 
proposed A38/A419 Whitminster Roundabout Bridges and Canal 
Improvements described in this report (the “Contract for Improvement 
Works”);

(2) Permit the council to become the “Client” for the purposes of procuring the 
proposed Contract for Improvement Works;

(3) Conduct, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Environment and 
Planning, a public procurement law compliant tender process for the purpose 
of awarding the proposed Contract for Improvement Works;

(4) Award and enter into the proposed Contract for Improvement Works with the 
preferred tenderer evaluated as offering the Council best value for money for 
delivery of the required works or, in the event that the preferred tenderer for 
the contract is either unable or unwilling to enter into that contract with the 
Council, to award and enter into such contract with the next willing highest 
scoring suitably qualified tenderer.

14. Responding to the Climate Emergency: Draft Climate Change Strategy 
2019/20 to 2024/25 

Cllr Nigel Moor, Cabinet Member for Environment and Planning, presented a 
detailed information report on how Gloucestershire County Council intends to 
respond to the Climate Change Emergency declared at the Full Council meeting on 

Page 22



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 22 -

15 May 2019 and the steps being taken to revise and strengthen the 
Gloucestershire Climate Change Strategy over the next 5 years. 

Cllr Moor set out the key dates for the proposals, including the intention to submit a 
revised Climate Change Strategy to Cabinet for approval on 13 November 2019. 

Working in conjunction with the Corporate Management Team, members to 
consider the anticipated resource implications for the work and feedback from the 
public engagement consultation undertaken during August and September 2019. 
To seek the views of young people, it is proposed a Youth Climate Panel be 
established and for the council to engage with schools during September 2019. 

Thanking officers for their commitment in enabling the pace of work to accelerate, 
Cllr Moor confirmed briefings had been made to the Environment Scrutiny 
Committee on 17 July 2019 and to the Corporate Management Team on 18 July 
2019. 

Further updates to be provided to the Environment Scrutiny Committee, prior to 
approval of the Climate Change Strategy by Cabinet on 13 November 2019 and 
adoption by Leadership Gloucestershire on 19 December 2019. 

The information report was noted. 
 

Leader of Council

Meeting concluded at 11.35am

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



YOUTH JUSTICE PLAN 2019/20

Cabinet Date 9 October 2019

Children’s 
Safeguarding and 
Early Years

Councillor Richard Boyles
   

Key Decision No  

Background 
Documents

Youth Justice Board ‘Standards for Children in the Youth Justice System’ 
(April 2019)

Location/Contact 
for inspection of 
Background 
Documents

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/
attachment_data/file/780504/Standards_for_children_in_youth_justice_servic
es_2019.doc.pdf

Main Consultees In developing the local Youth Justice Plan, the YOS is required to consult 
with the statutory partners defined in the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 – 
local authority (children’s social care and education) police, probation and 
health.   Consultation with the statutory partners was undertaken via the 
Youth Justice Partnership Board which approved the plan at its meeting on 
10 July.  The plan was also considered by the Children and Families 
overview and Scrutiny Committee at its meeting on 18 July, which agreed to 
note the report. 

Planned Dates

Divisional 
Councillor

All

Officer Andy Dempsey, Director of Partnerships and Strategy
andy.dempsey@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Purpose of Report To seek Cabinet’s recommendation that Council approve Gloucestershire’s 
Youth Justice Plan 2019/20.

Recommendations
To recommend the Youth Justice Plan 2019/20, attached at Appendix 1, to 
Council for approval.

Reasons for 
recommendations

The Council, working with partner agencies, has a duty to publish a Youth 
Justice Plan outlining the funding and activities of its Youth Offending 
Service/Team.  The Youth Justice Plan forms part of the Council’s Policy 
Framework and shall be approved by full Council following consideration by 
Cabinet.

Resource 
Implications

None at this stage.

Page 25

Agenda Item 5

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/780504/Standards_for_children_in_youth_justice_services_2019.doc.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/780504/Standards_for_children_in_youth_justice_services_2019.doc.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/780504/Standards_for_children_in_youth_justice_services_2019.doc.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/780504/Standards_for_children_in_youth_justice_services_2019.doc.pdf
mailto:andy.dempsey@gloucestershire.gov.uk


MAIN REPORT CONTENTS

1.0     Background 

1.1     Section 39 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 introduced the statutory requirement for 
local authorities to establish one or more Youth Offending teams (YOTs) in their area, 
with each requiring the involvement of the local authority, police, NHS and probation 
services. In Gloucestershire this responsibility rests with Gloucestershire County 
Council (GCC).

1.2     The responsible local authority is also required, after consultation with partner agencies, 
to publish a Youth Justice Plan each year outlining the composition of, and funding for, 
their YOT and the functions it is to carry out.  This includes the steps taken to 
encourage children not to commit criminal offences.  In Gloucestershire the Youth 
Offending Service (YOS/T) is delivered by Prospects on a commissioned basis as part 
of the Youth Support Team.

1.3   Local governance for the YOS/T is provided by the Gloucestershire Youth Justice 
Partnership Board (YJPB) comprising of representatives from the statutory partners 
(above) and relevant local agencies.   The Youth Justice Plan 2019/20 will be approved 
by Youth Justice Partnership Board prior to its submission to the National Youth Justice 
Board (YJB) as part of its conditions for the YOS/T/T Grant.

1.4 Following its consideration by the Statutory Partners, the Youth Justice Plan will be 
considered by Cabinet prior to approval by Council, as required by the constitution.  A 
copy of the Youth Justice Plan is attached at Appendix 1.  It should be noted that the 
completion of this year’s plan has been delayed by the late notification of the YOS/T 
grant which was only confirmed in June.

1.5 In April 2019, the Youth Justice Board published its revised ‘Standards for children in 
the youth justice system (2019)’. The revised standards provide the operational 
framework for YOS/T/s, with standards for:

 Out of court disposals
 Court work
 Community work (court disposals)
 Work in secure settings
 Transition and resettlement work

A key element within Gloucestershire Youth Justice Plan (2019- 20) will be to ensure 
Gloucestershire YOS/T can deliver the revised standards.

1.6    The performance of YOS/T is determined by reference to a range of national and local 
performance metrics. At a national level, there are three key determinants: - 

 The number and rate of first time entrants (FTE) to the criminal justice system – 
those young people receiving a substantial, sanction based outcome.

Page 26



 The re offending rate of a tracked cohort – this includes the number of young 
people committing further offences and the number of offences on average each 
has committed.

 The use of custody as a rate per 10,000 young people aged 10 – 17 years old.

1.7 Gloucestershire YOS/T is generally performing well against these metrics when 
compared to South West and National comparators.  As set out in the Youth Justice 
Plan, it is rated 2/152 YOS/T nationally for FTE and 11/152 based on combined FTE 
and reoffending data. The YOS/T also utilises local data such as the percentage of 
young people in education, employment or training, the number of young people open 
to social care or with an Education Health and Care Plan (EHCP) to provide a broader 
sense of service effectiveness. 

1.8 Although Gloucestershire YOS/T is generally performing well, considerable challenges 
remain in seeking to improve outcomes for children and young people and the wider 
community. These are reflected in the YOS/T priorities for 2019/20:

 Undertake a Baseline assessment against the National Standards for children in 
the Youth Justice system (April 2019).

 Reduce disproportionality in order to ensure that outcomes and the experience of 
BAME children who come into contact with youth justice system in Gloucestershire 
are proportionate and fair.

 Ensure children and young people in Gloucestershire who come in to contact with 
the youth justice system are supported to achieve their full potential and given the 
opportunity to engage in good quality education, training and employment. 

 Ensure the prevention and safeguarding of children at risk of criminal exploitation in 
Gloucestershire.

 Develop a trauma informed approach to the complex cohort of young people who 
are responsible for high number of re-offences and who have experienced trauma 
and Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACE’s).

 Develop greater insight into violent offending by children and young people and the 
underlying causes in order to inform prevention activity.

 Develop and implement a countywide strategy towards Harmful Sexual Behaviour 
displayed by children and young people in Gloucestershire.

 Ensure families are supported at the earliest opportunity to remain together and 
provide appropriate care and supervision.

 Gather feedback from children and young people, parents/carers, victims and 
partners and use it to further develop services and improve outcomes for these 
groups.

1.9 Following its consideration by Gloucestershire’s Youth Justice Partnership Board in 
July, the Youth Justice Plan 2019/2020 was required to be submitted to the Youth 

Page 27



Justice Board by 5 August 2019 for their approval.  Submitted plans are subject to a 
quality assurance process with plans graded as follows:

• Does NOT meet minimum YJB expectations 
• Meets minimum YJB expectations
• Good – Above minimum expectations
• Comprehensive

The Youth Justice Board have assessed Gloucestershire’s Youth Justice Plan 2019/20 
as Comprehensive, describing it as ‘a well written and balanced approach to dealing 
with children in the Youth Justice System in Gloucestershire’.

2.0 Options

2.1 There is a statutory requirement for Gloucestershire County Council, working with local 
partner agencies, to publish an annual Youth Justice Plan.  The local Youth Justice 
Plan is also required to be submitted to the Youth Justice Board for their approval as a 
condition of their grant funding.

3.0 Risk Assessment

3.1 There are a number of risks identified:

1. Risk: The Youth Justice Plan is not effective in tackling key issues including new 
entrants to the justice system and re-offending.  Mitigation: The Youth Offending 
Service is currently performing well against key performance metrics and the current 
plan set out further measures to improve effectiveness

2. Risk:  There is a risk that the outcomes and experience of BAME children is 
disproportionate and unfair. Mitigation: A programme of training on 
disproportionality is a key element within the Youth Justice Plan.

3. Risk: Partners are insufficiently engaged in the administration and effectiveness of 
Youth Justice in Gloucestershire.   Mitigation: The Youth Partnership Board 
provides oversight of partner agency support for the YOS/T and delivery of the 
Youth Justice Board.

4.0     Officer Advice

4.1 Gloucestershire County Council, working with local partner agencies, have taken the 
lead in developing the local Youth Justice Plan.  The plan proposes an early 
intervention approach and the progressive replacement of criminalising sanctions with 
restorative approaches that address offending behaviour and meet the needs of 
victims.

4.2 The Youth Justice Plan 2019/20 has been subject to quality assurance procedures by 
the YJB and graded as ‘comprehensive’.  It is considered that the Youth Justice Plan 
2019/20 provides an effective mechanism through which GCC and its partners can 
meet their statutory obligations under the Crime and Disorder Act (1998).

Page 28



5.0 Equalities Consideration

5.1 A key aspect of the Youth Justice Plan and work of Gloucestershire’s Youth Offending 
Service is to ensure that the administration of Youth Justice is fair and non-
discriminatory.  Data for the year 2018/19 evidences that children and young people 
from Mixed and BAME ethnic groups were over represented In Gloucestershire’s 
YOS/T population.  The Youth Justice Plan sets out a range of actions to address this 
with performance reported on a regular basis to the Youth Justice Board.

5.2 A further focus within the Youth Justice Plan will be the extent to which other vulnerable 
groups, such as looked after children and children with behavioural, emotional or 
mental health needs become involved in the Youth Justice System.  The Children First 
programme which takes a restorative, trauma informed approach is key to ensuring that 
young people, who are vulnerable, and/or disadvantaged, do not become labelled by 
the system with all that implies for their longer term prospects.

6.0 Consultation Feedback

6.1 In developing the Youth Justice Plan, GCC has undertaken extensive consultation with 
local partners and stakeholders working through Gloucestershire’s Youth Justice 
Partnership Board.  Feedback has been positive and the plan was approved by the 
Youth Justice Partnership Board at its meeting on 10 July prior to submission to the 
Youth Justice Board.

6.2 The Youth Justice Board approved the plan in August have judged it to be 
‘comprehensive’ which is the highest grading available and requiring no significant 
changes as part of their quality assurance process.

7.0 Performance Management/Follow Up

7.1 There is a comprehensive range of performance indicators in place to evidence the 
impact, or otherwise, of the YOS/T and Youth Justice Plan.  These include the rate of 
first time entrants, re-offending and the use of custody.

7.2 At a local level performance is scrutinised by the Youth Justice Partnership Board and, 
at a national level, by the Youth Justice Board.  Gloucestershire YOS/T is generally 
performing well against key performance metrics when compared to South West and 
National comparators.

Page 29



Report Title Youth Justice Plan 2019/20

Statutory Authority Crime and Disorder Act 1998

Relevant County Council 
policy

Looking to the Future 2019-2020

Resource Implications None at this stage.

Sustainability checklist:

Partnerships The Youth Justice Plan outlines how local partners will work 
together to ensure the Youth Justice System in Gloucestershire 
is effective.

Decision Making and 
Involvement

Key partners and stakeholders are represented on the Youth 
Justice Partnership Board, which will oversee delivery.

Economy and Employment The engagement of young people in employment, education 
and training is a key part of the plan.

Caring for people The proposals accord with the Council’s strategic priorities 
relating to caring for people.

Social Value Children and Young People who are who come into contact 
with the Youth Justice System and often are the most 
vulnerable and disadvantaged.

Built Environment No impact.

Natural Environment’ 
including Ecology 
(Biodiversity)

No impact.

Education and Information Ensuring that the educational needs of young people who 
come into contact with the Youth Justice System are 
appropriately met is a key part of the plan.

Tackling Climate Change Carbon Emissions Implications?  Neutral
Vulnerable to climate change? Maybe

Due Regard Statement Has a Due Regard Statement been completed?     No
Alternatively a hard copy is available for inspection from Jo 
Moore, Democratic Services Unit, e-mail: 

Page 30



jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk.

Human rights Implications None.

Consultation 
Arrangements

As detailed in report.

Page 31

mailto:jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Page 33



Page 34



Page 35



Page 36



Page 37



Page 38



Page 39



Page 40



Page 41



Page 42



Page 43



Page 44



Page 45



Page 46



Page 47



Page 48



Page 49



Page 50



Page 51



Page 52



Page 53



Page 54



Page 55



Page 56



Page 57



Page 58



1

FINANCIAL MONITORING REPORT: 2019/20

Cabinet Date 9 October 2019

Finance and 
Change Cllr Lynden Stowe 

Key Decision Yes

Other Documents MTFS Report to 13th February 2019 County Council and Financial Monitoring 
Reports to Cabinet 24th July 2019

Main Consultees Corporate Management Team, Senior Officers, Cabinet Members.

Planned Dates Not applicable

Divisional 
Councillor

County Wide

Officers Paul Blacker, Director of Finance (01452) 328999 
paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Jayne Fuller, Corporate Finance Manager (01452) 328926
jayne.fuller@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Purpose of Report To provide an update on the year-end forecast for the 2019/20 County 
Council’s Revenue and Capital Budgets

Key 
Recommendations

That the Cabinet:

1. Notes the forecast revenue year end position as at the end of August 
2019 for the 2019/20 financial year of a net £4.490 million overspend 
against the revenue budget of £429.661 million.

2. Notes the forecast capital year end position as at the end of August 2019 
of £112.620 million against the budget of £126.048 million.

3. Approves the addition of £0.043 million to the Highways capital budget 
funded from a variety of sources as outlined in the body of the report.

4. Approves the allocation of £3.887 million from the approved carriageway 
resurfacing budget to schemes as outlined in the body of the report.

5. Approves the reduction of £0.191million to the Flood Alleviation capital 
budget as outlined in the body of the report.

Resource 
Implications These are detailed within the report

Page 59

Agenda Item 6

mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jayne.fuller@gloucestershire.gov.uk


2

Revenue Expenditure 2019/20

A. Revenue Forecast  Outturn Position 2019/20

1. The current forecast of the year end revenue position against the revenue budget of 
£429.661 million, based on actual expenditure at the end of August 2019 and 
forecasts made in September 2019 is a £4.490 million overspend, 1.05% of the 
budget.

2. If this overspend remains at the end of the financial year it will need to be funded 
from reserves. Currently General Reserves are £18.520 million or 4.3% of the net 
revenue budget. The financial impact of these unfunded financial pressures will be 
built into the MTFS process and the 2020/21 revenue budget.

3. Details of the forecast year end position, analysed by service area is provided in the 
table below and the narrative that follows.

Directorate Breakdown for Cabinet Report - Position as at the end of August 2019

Variance

%

£000 £000 £000 % £000 £000

Adults 148,940 148,940 0 0.0% 0 0 

Prevention & Wellbeing 32,606 32,595 -11 0.0% 6 -17 

Children & Families 113,765 123,545 9,780 8.6% 7,427 2,353 

Communities & 
Infrastructure

70,673 71,244 571 0.8% 310 261 

GFRS and Regulatory 
Services

19,856 19,976 120 0.6% 213 -93 

Corporate Resources 32,875 32,875 0 0.0% 0 0 

Corporate Resources 
Recharges

-32,875 -32,875 0 0.0% 0 0 

Total for Services 385,840 396,300 10,460 2.7% 7,956 2,504 

Technical & Corporate 43,821 37,851 -5,970 -13.62% -5,000 -970 

Total 429,661 434,151 4,490 1.05% 2,956 1,534 

Forecast 
Variance 

Previously 
reported 

Service Area
2019/20 
Budget

Forecast 
Outturn 
Position

Change in 
variance 

Forecast 
Outturn 

Variance

Page 60



3

Adult Social Care

4. Adult Social Care is reporting an underlying overspend of £2.048 million. This 
forecast position includes £2.530 million Additional Social Care - Winter 
Pressures funding allocation and £2.049 million of Additional Social Care Grant. 
There is no formal request being made to Cabinet to use any of the Adults 
reserves, this will be done if and when there is greater certainty about the 
amount of reserve required to support the 2019/20 budget.

5. Adult Social Care reserves currently stand at £6.416 million in total which 
includes the Vulnerable Adults Reserve now at £2.654 million and the balance is 
specifically set aside for the backdated element of new Ordinary Residence 
cases and additional commitments relating to the National Living Wage and the 
Care Act.

6. There are a number of significant risks that are ongoing which mainly relate to 
negotiations with a major residential care provider and the Adult Single 
Programme for the MTFS savings targets of £10.498 million.   

7. MTFS savings targets for all client groups are integrated under the Adults Single 
Programme (ASP) and for OP, PD and LD External Care budgets the impact on 
operational budgets and performance is managed by the Head of Social Care, 
working with Commissioning and Support Service colleagues.  For this forecast 
the savings are treated as being almost fully achieved. 

8. LD External Care is projecting a £0.302 million overspend. The LD overspend 
assumes delivery of the majority (92%) of the 2019/20 savings targets, although 
there are risks around a number of these. The overspend relates to increased 
demand and increased complexity of some cases.

9. OP and PD External Care is projecting a £1.630 million overspend.  The 
overspend is split across individual service budgets with OP showing as £1.031 
million and PD £0.599 million. The OP/PD overspend assumes full delivery of 
2019/20 savings targets (£4.669 million is included within the forecast) although 
there is risk of not achieving these savings in full. The overspend mainly relates 
to increased care needs for existing cases and voids / other additional costs 
relating to homes run by a major provide.

10.The Mental Health forecast position is a £1.752 million overspend net of 
unallocated MTFS growth and savings held by the Lead Commissioner.  

11.The Community Equipment Service (CES) / Telecare budgets are reported as 
online.     

Page 61



4

12.Other Services comprise of all staffing budgets for Adult Social Care, as well as 
a number of specific commissioned contracts.  The forecast position for these 
services nets to a £1.627 million underspend including:

a. £0.959 million significant overspends: £0.160 million Community 
Meals and £0.799 million in Prevention due to the reablement saving 
allocation not yet confirmed (but offset by £0.745 million underspend 
in Reablement Service reported below).

b. £2.574 million significant underspends: £0.174 million under Hospital 
Care Navigators due to vacancies; £0.117 million Integrated 
Brokerage due to vacancies; £0.081 million Administration Finance 
due to a vacancies £0.095 million for the Advocacy contract due to 
current year lower than anticipated usage of the contract; £0.833 
million OP/PD Integrated Social Care Management (ISCM) due 
largely to vacancies; £0.149 million Contact Centre due to vacancies; 
£0.745 million for the OP/PD Reablement Service managed by 
Gloucestershire Care Services due to vacancies (see above 
comments); £0.026 million Safeguarding; £0.091 million Deputy 
Director ASC due to vacancies and £0.264 million LD Assessment, 
Support Planning & Management mainly due to vacancies. 

c. a number of smaller variances netting to a £0.013 million 
underspend. 

13.Other Services (Unallocated) are reported as £0.009 million underspend. 

Prevention and Wellbeing 

14.Services within this area include Public Health, Supporting People and a number 
of smaller budgets covering the prevention hub team and grants.

15.The current forecast of the year end revenue position is an under-spend of 
£0.011 million against prevention projects.

16.Public Health is reporting a balanced position. Services are funded by a ring-
fenced grant, which if unspent is required to be carried forward in a specific 
reserve. The in-year forecast for Public Health is an under-spend of £0.153 
million due to lower commitments against the healthy lifestyles contract, lower 
dispensing costs for smoking cessation and health checks activity and a staff 
vacancies.

Page 62



5

Children & Families

17. The current forecast of the year end revenue position as at September 2019 for 
non-DSG funded services is an over-spend of £9.78 million (8.6% of budget). 
The over-spend is due to higher than expected number of external placements 
and the cost of agency social work staff covering vacancies. The increase of 
£2.353 million on the previous Cabinet report related to these cost pressures. 
 

18. At the end of August 2019 children in care numbers were 723 compared to 669 
at the end of May 2018. This activity continues to cause significant budgetary 
pressures on children’s services and in particular against the external 
placement and safeguarding staff budgets resulting in the over-spend. An 
efficiency plan is in place to reduce the forecast over-spend but the target of 
below £5 million by the year end is very challenging due to the latest external 
placement forecast. Cost pressures and proposals to achieve reductions in the 
over-spend are set out below. Further scrutiny of the budget position by 
external challenge is planned in September from the LGA and Peopletoo.

19. The current forecast over-spend against the external placement budget is 
£5.498 million (25.3% above budget), an increase of £1.324 million between 
the July and September forecast.  This includes a contingency of £1.49 million 
for new cases in-year allowing for additional placements to replace existing 
care commitments or allowing for higher number of placements. The over-
spend is due to a higher number of external placements than anticipated with a 
current forecast average unit cost of £95,800 per annum, (residential/supported 
living average unit cost of £152,400). There are currently 321 external 
placements, of which 86 are residential and 66 supported living placements. 

20. The review of all high cost placements is continuing on a regular basis as part 
of the wider improvement work ensuring decisions around placement change 
and permanence are executed in timely child centred manner. This will 
continue to reduce the cost of external placements where appropriate including 
reducing unit costs.  Improving social care practice to divert children from care 
at an earlier point and achieve permanence at the earliest opportunity will 
reduce numbers of children in care costs in the longer term. 

21. Against safeguarding staffing budgets there is a forecast overspend of £2.794 
million. The significant over-spend is due to the use of agency staff covering for 
staff vacancies or where caseloads remain high. Changes have been made to 
improve processes for recruitment, put in place more effective advertising as 
well as the launch of the social work academy to support the training and 
development of social workers and to improve retention. Turnover of staff has 
stayed between 15 to 17% over the last few months and at the end of August 
there were 129 agency workers in post compared to over 180 at times in 
2018/19. As newly qualified staff start over the next few months and gain 

Page 63



6

experience the number of agency staff is expected to reduce by the end of 
March.  

22. A higher level of activity is also causing an over-spend of £0.757 million in 
section 17 and discretionary payments for foster carers. A resource panel is 
now in place to review and agree all significant payments and ensure 
consistency across teams and signpost to other services.

23. In addition to this young peoples support are forecasting a £0.719 million over-
spend due to a number of complex cases and the additional cost of agency 
staff covering vacancies where the cost will reduce as permanent staff are 
recruited. 

Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) position

24. Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) funded services are forecast to be over-spent 
by £7.201 million in 2019/20 which includes the deficit carry forward of £2.884 
million in the high needs block. As reported last year the cost pressures are in 
the High Needs block with a forecast in-year over-spend for the block in 
2019/20 of £4.638 million. The over-spends are against Independent Special 
Schools (£1.365 million), top ups to support Education, Health and Care plans 
(EHCP) (£2.082 million) with significant overspends against colleges and 
special schools as well as a deficit in-year budget of £1.192 million; these are 
all caused by increases to activity, many of which have been unanticipated and 
above forecast trends but reflects the national picture. 

25. The High Needs Strategy approved by Cabinet in January 2019 includes eight 
core activities to address the continuing cost pressures. Working with schools 
and the School Forum, these activities will include focusing on a new approach 
to exclusions and improvement of the graduated pathway and EHCP process. 
Forecast models of expenditure and activity trends are in place and the 
assumptions used are challenged on a monthly basis to ensure robust 
forecasting. The specialist commissioning team are also continuing to work to 
reduce the cost of placements in independent schools where appropriate. 

26. The budget pressures that Gloucestershire is facing reflects the national picture 
with significant deficits in DSG high needs being held in many Local 
Authorities. The recent funding announcements identified nationally £700 
million additional funding for special needs in 2020/21. It is unclear at present 
how this will be allocated and what proportion will come into the High Needs 
block so the implementation of the High Needs Strategy will be essential to 
ensure the budget is balanced in future years.   

Page 64



7

Communities & Infrastructure 

27.Communities and Infrastructure are currently reporting a forecast of £0.571 
million overspend (0.81% of total budget). 

28.Waste are forecasting a net overspend of £0.658 million in total which is made 
up from £0.367 million overspend against recycling credit payments,  £0.113 
million HRC overspend, £0.268 million reduction in HRC income for metals, 
textiles and cardboard and £0.090 million underspend against wood.  HRC 
materials income fluctuates throughout the year, therefore, this is our best 
forecast at this point in time. Material prices may improve or decline further as a 
result of global trading conditions 

29.Highways Commissioning are reporting an overspend of £0.128 million caused 
by a number of small cost pressure areas within the contract and meeting 
service requirements. Parking is currently reporting a balanced position and 
income is being closely monitored to manage the risk of a year end variance.

30.There is an overspend recognised in the Highways Development Control team 
due to staff vacancy and consultancy cover required to meet establishment 
levels. This will be offset by additional drawdown of Developer fees at year end, 
therefore allowing a breakeven position to be reported overall.

31.Strategic Infrastructure is reporting a £0.196 million underspend. This is allowing 
for the agreed underspend of the Flood revenue budget of £0.275 million and an 
overspend of £0.100 million against the Planning Development Management 
team due to insufficient income achieved to fund the required staffing. 

32.There is a small underspend of £0.020 million reported on the Place and Place 
support staffing budgets due to staff vacancy

33.All other areas – Libraries, Registrars, Adult Education, and Integrated Transport 
Unit are reporting a break even position however it should be noted that ITU 
continues to monitor new contract prices in order to manage the risk of an 
overspend..

Gloucestershire Fire & Rescue Service & Regulatory Services

34.The Fire and Rescue Service is currently forecasting a year end overspend of 
£0.121 million. The overspend is due to the additional cost of employers' 
superannuation contributions for fire pension schemes. The total additional cost 
was calculated at £1.214milliona per annum. A grant of £1.093 million covering 
90% of the increase was provided by the Home Office leaving a shortfall of 
£0.121million. 

35.Trading Standards and the Coroner’s Service are anticipating an on target 
position.

Page 65



8

Corporate Resources

36.The forecast year end position for Corporate Resources is a balanced position, 
however this includes a £0.098 million forecast overspend against the Asset 
Management & Property Services car parking budget.  The variance includes 
overspend on both existing car parking arrangements, and the cost of the 
alternative provision following the changes to the Quays carpark. This overspend 
is being covered by vacancies elsewhere within Corporate Resources.

Technical and Cross Cutting

37.The forecast outturn position for Technical and Corporate budgets is a £5.970 
million underspend (13.62% of budget). The main areas of variance relate to:-

38.Positive interest rate credits on cash balances totalling £2.88 million, reflecting 
better diversification of investments and longer term deposits.

39.When the 2019/20 Budget was agreed in February 2019 a number of 
government funding streams had not been finalised due to the timings of 
announcements.  These funding streams have now been confirmed and have 
resulted in slightly more central funding than originally estimated.  In total, £2.78 
million more will be received from s31 grants as a result of changes that central 
government have made to business rates, known as Business Rates Autumn 
Statement Grant for 2019/20.  These changes to funding are managed within the 
Technical and Corporate budgets for the Council.

40.A number of smaller variances on Corporate budgets netting to a £0.31 million 
underspend.

B. Delivery of Meeting the Challenge  Savings Programme

41.At the end of Quarter 1 of the 2019/20 savings programme, we are reporting 
£5.739 million delivered against a 2019/20 target of £19.051 million. This 
represents 30.1% of the annual target achieved.

42.A total of £16.557 million is forecast to be delivered by the end of 2019/20 
budget year, which would represent 86.9% of the annual target. 

43.Additionally, there was an outstanding saving of £2.363 million yet to be 
achieved from previous years’ targets, of which £0.065 million has been 
achieved to date. The most significant element of the shortfall relates to the 
reduction in Public Health grant funding. In 2018/2019 this shortfall was offset by 
the Public Health reserve (the ‘carry-forward’ of the ring-fenced grant). Options 
for the longer term are being developed as part of this year’s MTFS process.

Page 66



9

Programme/Project
19/20 

savings 
target

Achieved 
to date

Forecast 
19/20 (incl 
achieved)

At Risk 
in 19/20 Notes

Rollovers (from MTC2 and 18/19)  £,000 £,000 £,000  
Children & Families (MTC2) 150 0 0 150 Now expected to be delivered in 20/21.
Children & Families & Public 
Health (MTC2) 1,437 0 92 1,345 Now expected to be delivered in 20/21.
Adults Mental Health (previously 
under Supporting People MTC2) 435 0 0 435

Savings have been transferred to the 
Adult Single Programme

Education (18/19) 46 46 46 0  

Supporting People (18/19) 218 19 19 199

Flagged as at risk, but in-year position 
will be balanced with underspends 
elsewhere, until savings can be 
delivered in 20/21

Waste (18/19) 77 0 77 0  

      
Total Rollovers 2,363 65 234 2,129  

Current programme year (19/20)      

Education 550 291 500 50

One element delayed by 
unpredictability of delivery, but plans in 
place to cover in-year budget position.

Adults Single Programme 10,498 1,406 10,498 0

Currently treated as being achievable 
although there are risks around a 
number of the proposals.

Public Health 641 0 641 0  
Supporting People 399 59 399 0  
Parking 487 0 487 0  
Libraries 50 50 50 0  

Waste 293 0 49 244
At risk, and plans are under revision, 
likely to recover in 20/21

Support services 397 397 397 0  
Commercial approach 1,000 1,000 1,000 0  
Strategy & Challenge 70 70 70 0  
Corporate & Technical 2,466 2,466 2,466 0  

Staff Travel 500 0 0 500

Plans are still being formed, but the 
saving has yet to be attached to 
identified budgets.

Children & Families 1,700 0 0 1,700
Part of the ongoing plans to contain the 
budget overspend to £5M

Total Current Year 19,051 5,739 16,557 2,494
Total Rollovers + Current 21,414 5,804 16,791 4,623

C.  Capital Expenditure

Current Spend 2019/20

44.The capital budget for 2019/20 is £126.048 million, an increase of £4.511 million 
since last reported to Cabinet due to additional approval granted at July Cabinet 
and the re-profiling of the Fire & Rescue capital programme.  Actual spend 
against the capital programme as at the end of August 2019 is £24.938 million. 

Budget and Capital Forecast Outturn Position 2019/20

45.The forecast outturn position for 2019/20 is £112.620 million, against the budget 
of £126.048 million giving forecast slippage of £13.428 million.

46.Details of the budgets and forecast year end position, analysed by service area, 
are provided in the table below and the narrative that follows. 

 

Page 67



10

 

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE 2019/20

Service Area

Reprofiled 
Budget 
2019/20

Current 
Year 

Spend 
2019/20

% Current 
Year 

Spend 
against 

Reprofiled 
Budget

Forecast 
Outturn 
2019/20

Forecast 
Year-end 
Variance

£000 £000 % £000 £000
Capital Receipts Works Before Sale 0 0 0 0

Adults 7,109 3,084 43 6,791 -319

Children & Families 28,015 7,213 26 21,339 -6,676

Communities
Highways 57,422 12,109 21 57,422 0
Strategic Infrastructure 2,125 60 3 2,045 -80
Waste Disposal 1,228 401 33 1,228 0
Libraries 909 9 1 909 0
Fire & Rescue 1,285 9 1 1,285 0
Corporate Resources
AMPS 17,570 948 5 11,188 -6,381
ICT projects 8,380 542 6 8,409 29
Business Service Centre 631 0 0 631 0
Archives & Information Management 739 547 74 739 0
Customer 634 16 3 634 0

Total 126,048 24,938 20 112,620 -13,428

Adults Programme

47.Adults’ schemes are forecast to spend £6.791 million in 2019/20 against a 
budget of £7.109 million, giving a forecast slippage of £0.319 million. This is due 
to delays on the ERIC system replacement.

Children & Families Programme 

48.Children & Families schemes are forecast to spend £21.339 million in 2019/20 
against a budget of £28.015 million, giving a forecast slippage of £6.676 million. 
This is mainly due to planning issues and design delays to ensure best value for 
money solutions on the following school expansion projects:

 Warden Hill Primary
 The Cotswold Academy 
 Winchcombe Abbey Primary
 Leckhampton Primary
 St. David’s Primary
 Ashchurch Primary
 Bishops Cleeve area primary places 

Page 68



11

Strategic Infrastructure Programme

49.Flood Alleviation schemes are forecast to spend £0.338 million in 2019/20 
against a budget of £0.418 million, giving a forecast in-year underspend £0.080 
million. This relates to works in Churchdown and Brockworth, where access for 
the originally proposed scheme could not be negotiated with the landowner so an 
approach of individual property flood resilience measures was adopted. 

AMPS Programme

50.AMPS schemes are forecast to spend £11.188 million in 2019/20 against a 
budget of £17.570 million, giving a forecast slippage of £6.381 million. This is 
mainly due to delays on the following projects:

 Quayside new build – £2.500 million slippage, due for completion in 2021. 
 Quayside car park - £2.000 million slippage due for completion in 2021/ 

22. 
 Lewis Lane – £0.500 million slippage, awaiting decision from service.
 Shire Hall Block 1 & 2 – £0.500 million slippage due to revised timeline for 

completion.

ICT Programme

51. ICT schemes are forecast to spend £8.409 million in 2019/20 against a budget of 
£8.380 million, giving a forecast in-year minor overspend £0.029 million. 

All other Capital Programmes

52.All other programmes are forecast to spend in line with the current budget for the 
year.

Changes to the Capital Programme in 2019/20 and future years

Highways

53. It is proposed that Cabinet support an increase of £0.043 million in the Highways 
capital budget, funded by the following additional resources: 

 £0.010 million Parish Council contribution towards St. Briavels speed 
reduction. 

 £0.005 million Town Council contribution towards Cirencester market Place 
community offer scheme.

 £0.002 million Parish Council contribution towards Bourton-on-the-Water 
TRO.

 £0.011 million developer contribution towards Greet Road, Winchcombe, 
bus shelter. 

Page 69



12

 £0.011 million developer contribution towards Gretton Road, Winchcombe, 
bus shelter. 

 £0.004 million developer contribution towards A48 Tutshill pedestrian guard 
rail.  

54.  It is proposed that Cabinet support the allocations below from the approved 
budget for carriageway resurfacing. Further allocations will be made in due 
course.

 £1.855 million towards A roads.
 £0.388 million towards B roads.
 £0.900 million towards Class 3 roads.
 £0.244 million towards Unclassified roads.
 £0.500 million towards Bulk lining.

Strategic infrastructure – Flood Alleviation

55. It is requested that Cabinet approve a decrease of £0.191 million in the Flood 
Alleviation capital budget. The reduction in the funding relates to two flood 
scheme where we have been unable to negotiate access with the landowner to 
carryout the works. As a result the amount of grant funding that is available to us 
through the Flood Defence Grant in Aid (FDGiA) will reduce.

Overall

56.As a result of the above changes, the overall capital programme will decrease by 
£0.148 million.

Page 70



13

Risk Assessment  

Officer Advice

Equalities considerations

Summary of the outcomes from due regard to the equality duty to be entered here.

 
If a Due Regard Statement has been completed the following statement should also be 
included in this section: 
Cabinet Members should read and consider the Due Regard Statement in order to satisfy 
themselves as decision makers that due regard has been given.

Consultation feedback

Performance Management/Follow-up 

Page 71



14

Report Title Financial Monitoring Report

Statutory Authority Gloucestershire County Council

Relevant County Council 
policy

Sustainability checklist:

Partnerships

Decision Making and 
Involvement

Economy and 
Employment

Caring for people

Social Value Social value seeks to maximise the additional social, economic and environmental 
benefits to the local area by procuring goods and services above and beyond the 
benefits of merely the goods and services themselves.

Built Environment

Natural Environment’ 
including Ecology 
(Biodiversity)

Education and Information

Tackling Climate Change Carbon Emissions Implications? No
Vulnerable to climate change? No

Due Regard Statement Has a Due Regard Statement been completed?     Yes/No
Yes  - considerations included in main body of report

A copy of the full Due Regard Statement  can be accessed on 
GLOSTEXT via 
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/uuCoverPage.aspx?bcr=1

Alternatively a hard copy is available for inspection from Jo 
Moore, Democratic Services Unit, e-mail: 
jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk.

Page 72

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/uuCoverPage.aspx?bcr=1
mailto:jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk


15

Human rights 
Implications

This Service area is unlikely to have Human Rights 
implications

Consultation 
Arrangements

A formal budget consultation takes place annually with key 
stakeholders

Page 73



This page is intentionally left blank



1

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 

(2020/21 to 2022/23)

Cabinet Date 9th October 2019

Leader of Council 

Finance and 
Change 

Cllr Mark Hawthorne

Cllr Lynden Stowe

Key Decision Yes

Background 
Documents

Current Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS), the detailed budget for 
2019/20 and the Council Strategy 2019/22.

Main Consultees Consultees included in MTFS / budget setting process will include the 
public, partners, scrutiny, schools and staff

Planned Dates September  2019 to February 2020

Divisional 
Councillor

Countywide

Officer (s) Paul Blacker, Director of Finance (01452) 328999 
paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Jayne Fuller, Corporate Finance Manager (01452) 328926
jayne.fuller@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Steve Mawson, Director of Corporate Resources (01452) 425557
Steve.mawson@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

Purpose of Report To set out the overall context and outline the process / timetable for 
producing the Medium Term Financial Strategy for the period 2020/21 to 
2022/23.

Key 
Recommendation

That Cabinet agree the proposed process for developing the Council’s 
three-year Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) covering the period 
2020/21 to 2022/23.

Reasons for 
Recommendation

To ensure that the Council has a robust process for formulating the 
MTFS covering the period 2020/21 to 2022/23.

Resource 
Implications This report deals with the financial budget from 2020/21 onwards.

Page 75

Agenda Item 7

mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jayne.fuller@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:Steve.mawson@gloucestershire.gov.uk


2

Background

1. The Council Strategy 2019/22 and Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS), including 
the detailed budget for 2019/20, were agreed by Council in February 2019. The Council 
Strategy sets out the Council’s vision, ambition and priorities, and provides the main 
framework against which we monitor our future progress and performance.  

2. The revised MTFS and the detailed budget for 2020/21 will be developed in the context 
of the Council Strategy and the 2019 Spending Review announced by the government 
on 4th September 2019.

A.          Council Strategy 2019/22

3. The Council Strategy for 2019/22 - ‘Gloucestershire: Looking to the Future’ - was 
approved by Council in February 2019 and is designed to address future challenges 
and make the most of new opportunities. The Council Strategy reflects the Council’s 
ambitions for enhanced place-base leadership and the organisational by five values that 
will inform and underpin the way we work. 

 Accountability:  We do what we say we will
 Integrity:  We are honest, fair and speak up
 Empowerment:  We enable communities and colleagues to be the best they can
 Respect:  We value and listen to each other
 Excellence: We continually improve through listening, learning and innovation

B. Funding Forecasts – 2020/21 to 2022/23

4. The Spending Review 2019 (SR19) took place on Wednesday 4th September 2019.  It 
was a one year settlement. It was confirmed that the additional grants from 2019/20 
(Winter Pressures Grant and Social Care Grant) would roll into the baseline and the 
additional Improved Better Care Fund monies would continue at a cash flat level.  In 
addition a new £1 billion Social Care Grant was announced – how this money will be 
distributed has yet to be agreed but it is anticipated that this Council’s share will be in 
the region of £10 million.  

5. The Adult Social Care Precept that was due to finish in 2019/20 has been extended for 
an additional year at a maximum of 2% - this would generate in excess of £6 million if 
implemented fully in Gloucestershire. In additional the general Council Tax cap was 
confirmed at 2% meaning that the maximum Council Tax increase in 2020/21would be 
3.99%.

6. Uncertainty still remains for the longer term because this is only a one year settlement 
and it has been confirmed that the Fair Funding Review, Business Rates Reset and 
move to the new Business Rates System are all delayed for a further year.

7. Table 1 below uses this updated Spending Review information to forecast 2020/21 
funding - for comparative purposes the revised 2019/20 position and the pre Spending 
Review position are included.  Given the funding uncertainty beyond 2020/21 no 
attempt has been made at this stage to forecast funding beyond next financial year.

Page 76



3

Table 1:

8. SR 2019 confirmed that Revenue Support Grant and the Public Health Grant will 
increase in line with inflation.  

9. Table 1 shows that the Council is expecting to generate 68% of its funding from Council 
Tax payers. If the Council does not make use of the additional Adult Social Care 
Precept of 2% and the general Council Tax limit of 2% for 2020/21 then additional 
savings of approximately £3.18 million for every 1% reduction in Council Tax level 
would need to be identified.

10. Taking all these funding assumptions into account it is currently forecast that the total 
funding available in 2020/21 will facilitate an estimated budget of £469.06 million.  This 
is an improved position of nearly £29 million on the 2019/20 position - this is a 6.6% 
increase which is in line with the Spending Review announcement. The draft Finance 
Settlement detailing allocations for individual Councils is expected in October 2019.  

Page 77



4

11. As well as the impact on the core funding of the Council, a number of other 
announcements were made at SR 2019 that will impact on the financing of the Council.  
These include, 

• Continued funding for the Troubled Families programme was confirmed.
• Fire and Rescue budgets to be protected in real terms and the Fire Pensions 

grant to continue.
• Funding will be made available to transform bus services - it is unclear if this will 

impact on upper or lower tier councils at this stage.
• Money to be made available for bio diversity and clean air initiatives, again it is 

unclear whether this will be an upper or lower tier funding stream.
• Announcements have yet to be made for capital funding streams; however a 

commitment to improved transport and infrastructure was made during the 
announcement, which suggests that further funding will be received in this area.

Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) and National Funding Formulas (NFF)

12. For 2018/19 and 2019/20 the schools NFF was not used to allocate funding direct to 
schools, but was used to allocate funding to local authorities who then continued to 
determine individual schools’ budgets in consultation with the Schools Forum. The DfE 
have confirmed that this process will be the same in 2020/21.

13. Gloucestershire’s DSG was overspent at the end of 2018/19 and is forecast to be 
overspent at the end of 2019/20 due to pressures on the high needs block of the DSG. 

14. On the 30th August 2019 the DfE announced that they will invest over £14 billion in primary 
and secondary education between now and 2022/23. The funding package for 5-16 schools 
includes £2.6 billion for 2020/21, £4.8 billion for 2021/22, and £7.1 billion for 2022/23 
compared to 2019/20.

15. The announcement also outlined a number of commitments:

 To increase the minimum funding level for primary school pupils £3,750 per pupil in 
2020/21, to rise to £4,000 per pupil by 2021/22

 To increase the minimum funding levels for secondary school pupils to £5,000 per 
pupil in 2020/21

 In addition to this package, schools will receive £4.4billion over three years to cover 
rising pension costs and ensure they can focus their resources on the front line

 The investment of an extra £700 million nationally for children with SEND in 2020/21
 Salaries for new teachers to rise to £30,000 by 2022-23
 An additional £400 million of funding for 16-19 education providers such as further 

education and sixth form colleges
 £66m for early years, targeted at increasing the hourly rate paid in nurseries.

16. Provisional NFF allocations will be published in October 2019. Final NFF and DSG 
allocations will be published in December 2019.

Page 78



5

C. Spending Pressures

17. There are number of significant funding pressures and unavoidable that needed to be 
addressed in 2020/21. These include:

 Service improvements and demand pressures in Adults and Children Social Care
 Special Educational Needs demand
 Contractual inflation
 Pay inflation and National Living Wage
 Demographic changes

18. Currently these pressures are estimated at £36 million. The financial impact of these 
pressures is currently being worked on with detailed proposals due to be presented to 
Cabinet on 17th December 2019.  

D. Savings Proposals

19. In order to fund existing services as well as the unavoidable pressures listed above it 
will be necessary to identify in the region of £11 million worth of efficiencies. These 
proposals are currently being worked on and the detail will be presented to Cabinet on 
17th December 2019.

E. Overall 2020/21 Budget Position

20. In summary the current budget position for 2020/21 is expected to be balanced. 

21. The Spending Review was better than initially expected however there are significant 
unavoidable pressures associated with demand pressures in Adults and Children Social 
Care, demographic trends and inflationary pressures. In order to achieve the balanced 
position it will be necessary to identify £11 million worth of savings.  

F. Timeline

31. The proposed timetable for developing the 2020/21 budget is as follows: 

Stage 1 – May to September 2019 – Review of funding, spending pressures and 
savings proposals.

Process to include:

 technical review/challenge to be undertaken by finance and performance;
 review of progress in delivering existing Council Strategy commitments;
 review of the delivery of the Meeting the Challenge 3 Savings Programme ;
 formulation of detailed proposals across the council for consideration as part of a 

priorities/policy and performance review;
 review of possible capital investment priorities
 review of use of Dedicated Schools Grant and all other major revenue grants.

Page 79



6

Stage 2 – October 2019 – Preparation of detailed budget proposals for 2020/21 and 
overview proposals for future years.

Stage 3 – November 2019 – Confirmation of draft financial settlement and finalisation of 
detailed 2020/21 budget proposal for submission to Cabinet on 17th December 2019.

Stage 4 –December 2019 – January 2020 - Formal consultation with the public and 
stakeholders on the detailed 2020/21 budget proposal.  

Stage 5 – January 2020 - Group Leaders, Spokespersons and Scrutiny discussions on 
detailed budget proposals.

Stage 6 – 12th February 2020 – MTFS and 2020/21 budget approved by Council.

Risk Assessment

33. There are a number of key risks relating to the MTFS. These include:

 Increased demand in Adult and Children’s Social Care
 The cost of improvement particularly in Children & Families post Ofsted.
 Uncertainty over the longer term funding - Fair Funding Review, Business Rates 

Reset, and move to the new Business Rates System are all delayed for a further 
year.

 On-going impact of the National Living Wage. 
 Higher than forecast inflationary pressures 
 Deliverability of the saving proposals.
 Spending against High Needs Block in Education

Equalities considerations

34. A detailed Due Regard Statement will accompany the final MFTS in February 2020.

Performance Management / Follow-up 

35. Monitoring of adherence to the Council Strategy and MTFS will be undertaken under 
normal performance and finance monitoring procedures during 2020/21.

Page 80



PUBLIC HEALTH NURSING SERVICE APRIL 2020 TO MARCH 2024

Cabinet Date 9th October 2019

Public Health and 
Communities Cllr Tim Harman

Key Decision Yes

Background 
Documents

1. NHS Long Term Plan, January 2019
2. Gloucestershire County Council Targeted Family Support in Children 

and Family Centre Contract Extension Report, July 2019 
(http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=117
&MId=9229&Ver=4) 

3. Healthy Child Programme – Pregnancy and the First 5 Years of Life: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/healthy-child-programme-
pregnancy-and-the-first-5-years-of-life 

4. Healthy Child Programme – from 5 – 19 years old.
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/healthy-child-programme-
5-to-19-years-old 

Location/Contact 
for inspection of 
Background 
Documents

See hyperlinks above 

Main Consultees This proposal builds on the extensive consultation undertaken in 2017 
following the decision to remodel the Public Health Nursing Service made in 
December 2016 
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=117&MId=
8222&Ver=4. 

Pre report: Engagement with Gloucestershire Health and Care NHS 
Foundation Trust and partner agencies that commission and deliver health 
and social care services to children, young people and their families.

Post report: A review the implementation of the three year remodelling of 
the Public Health Nursing Service (April 2017-March 2020) is planned for 
spring 2020.  This will seek to obtain the views of professionals and service 
users.

Planned Dates 9th October 2019 – Cabinet approval sought to continue with current Public 
Health Nursing Service model.

Divisional 
Councillor

All

Officer Sarah Scott, Director of Public Health
01452 328497
Sarah.L.Scott@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Page 81

Agenda Item 8

https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=117&MId=9229&Ver=4
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=117&MId=9229&Ver=4
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=117&MId=9229&Ver=4
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=117&MId=9229&Ver=4
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=117&MId=9229&Ver=4
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/healthy-child-programme-pregnancy-and-the-first-5-years-of-life
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/healthy-child-programme-pregnancy-and-the-first-5-years-of-life
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/healthy-child-programme-5-to-19-years-old
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/healthy-child-programme-5-to-19-years-old
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=117&MId=8222&Ver=4
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=117&MId=8222&Ver=4
mailto:Sarah.L.Scott@gloucestershire.gov.uk


Purpose of Report To seek Cabinet approval to continue with the current Public Health Nursing 
Service model described in a Memorandum of Agreement dated 05/10/17, 
under which the council agreed to transfer monies to the Gloucestershire 
Clinical Commissioning Group (the CCG), pursuant to Section 76 of the 
National Health Service Act 2006, in order to assist in the performance by it 
of prescribed functions.

Recommendations

That Cabinet authorises the Director of Public Health, in consultation with the 
Cabinet Member for Public Health and Communities, to extend the term of 
the current Public Health Nursing Service model arrangements for a further 
period of two years (to expire March 2022) with the option to extend such 
period for an additional period of two years (to expire March 2024).

Reasons for 
recommendations

The above-mentioned recommendation would:

 Allow sufficient time to embed the remodelled PHNS (described in the 
Section 76 Memorandum of Agreement October 2017) into 
Gloucestershire’s health and care system 

 Enable alignment with the council’s Children and Family Centre 
contracts which would aid improved integration of children and family 
services across the health and care system

 Meet the objectives of the NHS Long Term Plan through a continued 
focus on the PHNS universal preventative role.

 Provide consistency and quality of Public Health Nursing services to 
Gloucestershire families   during a period of financial uncertainty caused 
by national policy.

Resource 
Implications

The Public Health Nursing Service will be funded through the Public Health 
Grant. 

The proposed annual expenditure in connection with the provision of a Public 
Health Nursing Service is £6.699 million.  This figure matches the 2019/20 
value (following the service remodelling) and includes the additional 
£200,000 invested in the PHNS in 2019/20 (see 1.11 for more information).  

Accordingly, the projected sum to be transferred by the council to the CCG in 
the period April 2020 to March 2024 (assuming that the option to extend the 
term of Public Health Nursing Service model on the basis described above is 
exercised) shall be £26.795 million.

Page 82



MAIN REPORT CONTENTS

1. Background 

The Current Service

1.1 Gloucestershire County Council (the council) has a duty under the Health and Social Care 
Act (2012) to take the steps it considers appropriate to improve and protect the health of 
the people in its area. The council is responsible for commissioning Public Health Nursing 
Services and is required, as a condition of the Public Health grant, to offer five mandated 
visits in early years and to deliver the Healthy Child Programme for families and children 
aged 0 to 5 years1, and 5 – 19 years2. 

1.2 The Public Health Nursing Service (PHNS) includes what are commonly referred to as the 
Health Visiting and School Nursing services and cover the age ranges of pre-birth to 19 
years.

1.3 Responsibility for commissioning a Public Health Nursing service for School Aged children 
(School Nursing) has been the remit of Gloucestershire County Council since the transfer 
of the Public Health function in April 2013. Responsibility for commissioning Health Visiting 
services transferred from NHS England to Gloucestershire County Council in October 
2015 following the implementation of A Call to Action - a national programme to increase 
the number of qualified Health Visitors.

1.4 In December 2016 Cabinet received a paper recommending that the existing Health 
Visiting and School Nursing services were remodelled into one integrated Public Health 
Nursing Service for children, young people and their families from pre-birth to aged 19 
years.  This option was approved and a period of remodelling commenced in April 2017 
which is due to conclude in March 2020.

1.5 Public Health Nursing services are currently provided by Gloucestershire Health and Care 
NHS Foundation Trust (GHCNHSFT) under the arrangements of the Collaborative 
Commissioning Agreement with NHS Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group 
(CCG). As a result it forms part of the contract between the CCG and GHCNHSFT. It is 
funded from the Public Health Grant with an S76 transfer of funding between the council 
and the CCG.  The contract between the CCG and GHCNHSFT is agreed annually.

1.6 The Public Health Nursing service forms part of a wider programme of council funded 
activity to support babies, children, young people and their families to have a healthy start 
to life and supporting school aged children to be in the best state of health to enable them 
to learn and benefit from their education. The wider programme of activity includes nursery 
education for 2, 3 and 4 year olds, targeted family support services delivered through 
Children and Family Centres, and specialist support for Children in Care, children and 
young people with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) and safeguarding. 
In addition, the wider NHS funds and provides maternity, primary care and other services 
that support babies, parents and children and young people. As a result, the service is part 

1 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/healthy-child-programme-pregnancy-and-the-first-5-years-of-life
2 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/healthy-child-programme-5-to-19-years-old

Page 83

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=117&MId=8222&Ver=4


of a wide multi-agency and multi-professional network of services and support for children 
and families.

1.7 Public Health Nursing provides universal Health Visiting and School Nursing services to all 
families and children in Gloucestershire and offers levels of additional targeted support to 
families with greater needs.  Families and children access advice and support around a 
range of public health needs including support for families during transition to parenthood, 
maternal mental health assessment and support for breastfeeding, parenting, prevention 
of accidents, development and school readiness in early years. The Health Visiting service 
is key to the early identification and support of children and young people at risk of poor 
outcomes including those with SEND. School age children are able to access support for 
developing resilience and improving emotional wellbeing, support to achieve and maintain 
a healthy weight, interventions to protect health in relation to risky behaviours including 
alcohol, drugs, relationships and sexual health and support for children and families with 
additional health and wellbeing needs. The PHNS are an essential part of the 
safeguarding system providing a key universal preventative role within the overall 
children’s workforce, and are in contact with and accessible to all children and young 
people and their families particularly in the early years.

Overview of the Remodelling Process

1.8 Remodelling the existing PHNS into an integrated 0-19 service has been phased in over a 
three year period which concludes in March 2020.  During this time Public Health have 
worked collaboratively with the provider to implement a number of changes such as:

 Reduce the budget by 17% in line with the reduction in funding
 Made more effective use of staff skill mix, including increased administrative 

support to release qualified nursing capacity
 Decommission the hearing screening service and implement an improved 

referral pathway for earlier detection and support
 Established staff led ‘task and finish groups’ to improve the service offer 

including the visibility of the service (for example improving the website), staff 
training and support, creating Baby Hubs and School Nurse Hubs which 
provide group sessions for parents, and involvement in system-wide strategies 
such as Adverse Childhood Experiences (https://www.actionaces.org/). 

1.9 Over the remodelling period, the service performance for post birth/early years mandatory 
visits has improved, and is now consistently above 80% for all indicators:

Quarter 4 
2016/17

Quarter 4 
2017/18

Quarter 4 
2018/19

New birth visits within 14 days 88.7% 86.9% 89.4%
6 - 8 week reviews 93.9% 97.1% 94.5%
12 mth reviews by 12 mths of age 22.7% 87.8% 82.4%
12 mth reviews by 15 mths of age 60.3% 92.3% 92.1%
2.5 yr reviews by 2.5 yrs of age 54.1% 91.7% 83.5%
2.5 yr reviews using ASQ 3 100.0% 100.0% 98.3%

(Annual figures for 2018/19 have not yet been released therefore Q4 data has been 
used to demonstrate performance over time)

Page 84

https://www.actionaces.org/


1.10 In April 2019 the council invested an additional £200,000 into the service recurrently to 
support them to meet the increase in demand for input into children’s safeguarding that 
has occurred since 2016.

Service Inter-Dependencies and Future Considerations

1.11 In July 2019 Cabinet approved the contractual option to extend the existing contracts 
for the provision of targeted family support services in children and family centres in 
Gloucester City, Forest of Dean and Stroud and Cheltenham and Tewkesbury localities 
from 1st April 2020 to 31st March 20223.  

1.12 In January 2019 the NHS published the Long Term Plan4 which has a clear priority 
around ensuring every child has the best start in life through focussing on prevention.  The 
Plan calls on CCGs and Local Authorities to collaborate more closely with NHS providers 
and work as a system to achieve these goals.

1.13 There is currently uncertainty around longer term public sector funding and the Public 
Health Grant allocation. The recent Government Spending Round has confirmed funding 
for one further year only (2020/21).

2. Options
Option 1 – Continue with the current service model under which the council will continue to 
provide funding for GHCNHSFT (via the council’s Section 76 Agreement with the CCG) in 
order to provide Public Health Nursing Services (recommended option)

2.1 The recommended option is to continue with the current service model from April 2020 to 
March 2022, with an optional two year extension to March 2024.  The benefits of this 
option are:

 Allowing sufficient time to embed the remodelled PHNS (described in the Section 
76 Memorandum of Agreement October 2017) into Gloucestershire’s health 
and care system 

 Enabling alignment with the council’s Children and Family Centre contracts 
which would aid improved integration of children and family services across the 
health and care system

 Meeting the objectives of the NHS Long Term Plan through a continued focus on 
the PHNS universal preventative role.

 Providing consistency and quality of Public Health Nursing services to 
Gloucestershire families   during a period of financial uncertainty caused by 
national policy.

 The contract between the CCG and GHCNHSFT is reviewed annually which 
provides greater flexibility to re-commission the service if the financial envelope 
changed.

2.2 There is no legal requirement to tender this service given that funding for the required 
Public Health Nursing Services will be paid to the current provider (that is, the 

3 http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=117&MId=9229&Ver=4 
4 https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/publication/nhs-long-term-plan/ 

Page 85

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=117&MId=9229&Ver=4
https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/publication/nhs-long-term-plan/


GHCNHSFT) pursuant to section 76 of the National Health Service Act 2006 via the CCG 
and is, therefore, exempt from EU competition law.

Option 2 – The council itself procures Public Health Nursing Services by means of an open 
market procurement process

2.3 This option would allow alternative providers to bid for the service and is likely to require 
the council to enter a longer term contractual arrangement in order to make the contract 
commercially attractive and viable (the current contract between the CCG and 
GHCNHSFT is reviewed annually).

2.4 This option is not recommended because:

 It conflicts with the objectives in the NHS Long Term Plan
 It would be a challenging time to transfer the Public Health Nursing Service to a new 

contract and provider due to the current financial uncertainty caused by national 
policy.

3. Risk Assessment  

3.1 There is a risk that the Council’s statutory duties cannot be met.

The Childcare Act 2006 places a duty on local authorities to secure early childhood services to 
improve the well-being of young children in their area and reduce inequalities between them. 
Continuing with the current service model will continue to deliver the Healthy Child 
Programme to the current standard. 

3.2 There is a risk that there is an adverse impact on the wider health and care system or 
another unintended/unidentified impact results from the proposed option.

As the proposed option recommends continuing with the current provider there are less likely 
to be unintended or unidentified impacts. 

3.3 There is a risk that Government funding allocation is reduced.

Any reductions in national funding are likely to be easier to meet through the current service 
as there are existing collaborative and constructive relationships and partnerships in place.  
The contract between the CCG and GHCNHSFT is reviewed annually which provides greater 
flexibility to re-commission the service if the financial envelope changed.

4. Officer Advice

4.1 Officer advice is to follow option 1, to continue with the current service model to align 
children and family services’ commissioning arrangements and maintain consistency 
during a period of financial uncertainty.

5. Equalities considerations

5.1 A Due Regard Statement was completed for the December 2016 Cabinet Decision Paper 
to identify the needs of those groups with protected characteristics and how they may be 
particularly affected by the delivery and procurement of the revised service. This was 

Page 86



updated in September 2019 following the public consultation period and in light of the 
current proposal to extend the term of the current Public Health Nursing Service model 
arrangements for a further period of two years. There is no indication that any groups with 
protected characteristics will be adversely impacted by this proposal.

5.2 Partnership and Provider engagement in conducting equality impact assessments further 
assures that the needs of all children and their families is assessed and the identified 
support is provided based on these needs taking into account protected characteristics.

5.3 Cabinet Members should read and consider the Due Regard Statement in order to satisfy 
themselves as decision makers that due regard has been given.

6. Consultation feedback

6.1 This proposal builds on the extensive consultation undertaken as part of the decision to 
remodel the Public Health Nursing Service made in December 2016 
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=117&MId=8222&Ver=4  

6.2 This options appraisal has been informed by key partners that commission and deliver 
health and social care services to families and children.

6.3 A review of the implementation of the three year remodelling of the Public Health Service 
(April 2017-March 2020) is planned for spring 2020.  This will seek to obtain the views of 
professionals and service users and will be used to inform future service development.

7. Performance Management/Follow-up 

7.1 Assuming that the option to extend the term of Public Health Nursing Service model on the 
basis described above is exercised, the current contract monitoring process with 
GHCNHSFT and the CCG will be continued. Robust performance monitoring information 
relevant to these services will continue to be reported through the usual council reporting 
mechanisms and the joint commissioning arrangements.

Page 87

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=117&MId=8222&Ver=4


Report Title Public Health Nursing Service April 2020 to March 2024

Statutory 
Authority

Health and Social Care Act (2012)

Relevant 
County 
Council 
policy

Gloucestershire Looking to the Future, 2019-2022

Children and Young Peoples Plan 2015-2018

Sustainability 
checklist:

Partnerships Key partners have been consulted in the development of this report.

Decision 
Making and 
Involvement

Cabinet

Economy and 
Employment

There would be no change if the proposed recommendation was approved. 

Caring for 
people

Commissioning a Public Health Nursing Service is a mandated function of the 
council as part of its requirement to care for children and families.

Social Value There would be no change if the proposed recommendation was approved. 

Built 
Environment

There would be no change if the proposed recommendation was approved.

Natural 
Environment’ 
including 
Ecology 
(Biodiversity)

There would be no change if the proposed recommendation was approved.

Education and 
Information

Commissioning a Public Health Nursing Service is a mandated function of the 
council as part of its requirement to educate and inform children and families.

Tackling 
Climate 
Change

Carbon Emissions Implications? Neutral
Vulnerable to climate change? No

Due Regard 
Statement

Has a Due Regard Statement been completed?     Yes
Yes  - considerations included in main body of report

Page 88



Human rights 
Implications

It is not envisaged that any of the proposals in this cabinet report would have 
any significant human rights implications

Consultation 
Arrangements

This proposal builds on the extensive consultation undertaken in 2017 
following the decision to remodel the Public Health Nursing Service made in 
December 2016.

Pre report: Engagement with Gloucestershire Health and Care NHS 
Foundation Trust and partner agencies that commission and deliver health 
and social care services to families.

Post report: A review of the implementation of the three year remodelling of 
the Public Health Nursing Service (April 2017-March 2020) is planned for 
spring 2020.  This will seek to obtain the views of professionals and service 
users.

Page 89



This page is intentionally left blank



PROPOSED AWARD OF A SOUTH WEST SUB-REGIONAL DYNAMIC PURCHASING SYSTEM 
(DPS) AGREEMENT FOR THE PROVISION OF RESIDENTIAL CARE FOR CHILDREN AND 

YOUNG PEOPLE LOOKED AFTER.

Cabinet Date 9 October 2019

Children’s 
Safeguarding and 
Early Years

Cllr Richard Boyles

Key Decision Yes

Background 
Documents

Gloucestershire County Council Sufficiency Strategy- Right Placement First 
Time 2018-2021
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/health-and-social-care/children-young-
people-and-families/ sufficiency-strategy-2018-2021/ 

Narey, Sir Martin (2016) Residential Care in England: Report of Sir Martin 
Narey’s independent review of children’s residential care. London. HM 
Government.
https://www.childrenssociety.org.uk/what-we-do/resources-and-
publications/sir-martin-nareys-independent-review-into-childrens 

Children Act 1989 (https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/41/contents)

The Public Contracts Regulations 2015
(http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/102/pdfs/uksi_20150102_en.pdf) 

Location/Contact 
for inspection of 
Background 
Documents

 See above.

Main Consultees Residential Care Providers
South West Consortium Local Authority Commissioners
A group of 48 Gloucestershire children and young people in care or care 
leavers.

Planned Dates 06.11.19 Market Engagement Event
03.02.20 – 26.02.20 Panel evaluation and award
16.03.20 Formal contract award
01.04.20 Target start date

Divisional 
Councillor All 

Officer Chris Spencer, Director of Children’s Services (DCS)
Email:  chris.spencer@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

Page 91

Agenda Item 9

https://www.childrenssociety.org.uk/what-we-do/resources-and-publications/sir-martin-nareys-independent-review-into-childrens
https://www.childrenssociety.org.uk/what-we-do/resources-and-publications/sir-martin-nareys-independent-review-into-childrens
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/41/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/41/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/102/pdfs/uksi_20150102_en.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/102/pdfs/uksi_20150102_en.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/102/pdfs/uksi_20150102_en.pdf
mailto:chris.spencer@gloucestershire.gov.uk


Purpose of Report To seek Cabinet approval for Gloucestershire County Council (the “Council”) 
to participate in a competitive tendering process conducted by South 
Gloucestershire Council (as the lead authority) to establish a four year 
dynamic purchasing system, with the option to extend for a further two years, 
(to be known as the “South West Sub-Regional Dynamic Purchasing System” 
(the “DPS”) commencing on the 1st April 2020 for the provision of 
independent residential care for looked after children.

Recommendations

That Cabinet authorises the Assistant Director for Integrated Children and 
Families Commissioning to:

1 participate in a public procurement law compliant procurement process 
conducted by South Gloucestershire Council (as the lead authority) to 
establish a four year (with the option to extend for a further two years)  
Dynamic Purchasing System (to be known as the “South West sub-
regional Dynamic Purchasing System” (the “DPS”) commencing on the 
1st April 2020 for the provision of independent residential care for looked 
after children using a light-touch approach. 

2 enter into a Participation Agreement with South Gloucestershire Council 
to give effect to recommendation 1. above and make a one off  payment 
to South Gloucestershire Council of £5,000 as a contribution towards 
their costs in acting as lead authority for the procurement of the DPS;

3 to procure such number of call-off contracts (placements) under the DPS 
as are required to meet the Council’s responsibility to provide residential 
care services for children and young people who become or are looked 
after Provided that the value of any single call-off contract will not exceed 
£499,999.99.  Any single contract under the DPS with a value that 
exceeds this sum must be the subject of a separate cabinet decision;

4 report back to Cabinet on an annual basis throughout the continuance of 
the DPS with details of the aggregate value of all call-off contracts  that 
have been awarded by the Council under the DPS in the preceding year.

Reasons for 
recommendations

The benefit of a collaborative DPS agreement will be that the local authorities 
using the DPS will work together to improve services, manage the market 
and pool information. There will also be greater oversight, quality assurance 
and contract management as all local authorities will participate in this 
process and share intelligence.

The participating authorities for the DPS will be: South Gloucestershire 
Council, Bath and North East Somerset Council (BANES), North Somerset 
Council, Swindon Borough Council, Wiltshire Council and Gloucestershire 
County Council. 

Resource 
Implications

The Council will not incur costs under the DPS unless or until it awards call-
off contracts thereunder. 

Page 92



Spend on residential placements for financial year 2018/19 was:
External Budget- £11,787,307
Dedicated Schools Grant- £6,933,907
Health- £467,108

The social care cost of all externally commissioned Placements and 
connected Support Packages are currently and will continue to be funded 
though the Children’s Social Care external placement budget.

The current market for residential placements is saturated and it is 
acknowledged by all Local Authorities within the south west consortium that 
we currently have little influence over the market as the demand far 
outweighs provision. Gloucestershire and other local authorities are working 
to address this by improving front end services to stem the number of 
children and young people coming in to care. This work will be ongoing and 
will take several years to embed and have a significant impact. 
Gloucestershire’s Sufficiency Strategy sets out how Gloucestershire is going 
to manage the market and improve provision.  The DPS forms part of this 
strategy as it enables providers to apply through only one process and does 
not discourage them as it would if they were to have to join a number of 
agreements.

Page 93



MAIN REPORT CONTENTS

1. Background 

1.1 The Council has a duty to provide sufficient, appropriate accommodation for children 
and young people who have been assessed to need residential care (Children Act 
1989).  This report seeks to outline how the Council can discharge this duty through 
participating in a collaborative sub regional DPS arrangement.

1.2 Central government is proposing to place additional duties on local authorities with 
regard to Children in Care / Leaving Care; the strategy set out in Keep on Caring: 
Supporting Young People from Care to Independence will enable young people leaving 
residential care to stay close to and be supported by their residential provision until they 
are 21 years. 

1.3 There is an ongoing need for this service provision particularly as Gloucestershire 
County Council do not have their own residential provision. There are currently 39 
children and young people in independent residential provision (as at 06.09.19) and the 
Council will need to secure residential accommodation services for children and young 
people once the current arrangements expire. 

1.4 The Council currently meets its obligations through a framework agreement which was 
awarded on 1st April 2016 and is due to expire on the 31st March 2020.  

1.5 The proposed DPS will allow the Council to buy residential placements for children and 
young people from a range of pre-approved providers.  

1.6 The participating authorities for the DPS will be: Bath and North East Somerset, North 
Somerset, South Gloucestershire, Swindon, Wiltshire and Gloucestershire. 

1.7 Evaluation of current arrangements has identified the following benefits that the Council 
wishes to retain and to build on within the sub-regional arrangements:

a) Provision of quality services with improved quality monitoring that leads to improved 
provision

b) Improved outcomes for children and young people who are enabled to settle into a 
stable environment

c) Improved, clearer pricing structures leading to transparent cost and spend
d) Improved working relationships with providers of residential accommodation and 

support providers for children and young people
e) Satisfying the requirements in the Children & Young People’s Act 2008 regarding Local 

Authorities obligation to meet the sufficiency duty 

1.8 The benefit of a collaborative arrangement is that the local authorities using the DPS 
will work together to improve services, manage the market and pool information. 

1.9 Through the regional DPS the council seeks to continue to provide accommodation 
through a process that minimises bureaucracy and duplication and secures quality and 
timely placements for vulnerable children and young people. This option would also 
allow the Council to have increased influence over the market and shape services to 

Page 94



meet the Council’s requirements.  The collective influence of a sub-regional group on 
price and uplift negotiations would help to ensure value for money. 

2. Options

Two alternative options have been considered

2.1. Option 1:  For the Council to allow the current arrangements to expire and move to 
‘spot’ purchasing future placements.  Whilst this option would give access to the whole 
market, there would be a requirement for additional resources to support the 
procurement and contracting processes and quality monitoring responsibilities, making 
the whole process slow, un-wieldy and resource intensive.  The Aggregation Rules 
under PCR 2015 would require that EU compliant tender processes are run for each 
individual award once the relevant threshold figure has been reached. In addition it is 
likely that placement costs would be at enhanced rates with the Council likely to 
experience a reduction in the level of influence it has within the marketplace. 

2.2. Option 2:  For the Council to tender a Gloucestershire DPS agreement.  This option 
would emulate the current arrangements and enable the Council to tailor its 
requirements.  However the Council would not be able to achieve the benefits of the 
economies of scale that a sub-regional approach brings including maximisation of sub-
regional cost and volume arrangements, sharing of contract monitoring and quality 
assurance, sharing of good practice.  The ability to influence service provision would 
also not be realised.   

3. Risk Assessment  

Risks/Issues (potential future 
impact): 

Mitigating actions: 

1.  Key suppliers could fail to engage. Evidence to date would suggest this is 
unlikely. Feedback from providers indicates 
that DPS and framework agreements offer 
them significant benefits and those 
relationships with participating local authorities 
are improved. There is an effective 
communication and market engagement 
strategy in place.

2.  Challenge from providers in 
respect of procurement process.

The lead authority (South Gloucestershire) to 
follow “light touch” procurement process under 
PCR 2015.  

3.  Pursuing a joint DPS can incur 
risks that relate to the full participation 
of all the participating councils. This 
can result in failure to achieve the 
maximum cost and volume benefits. 

The lead authority will seek to mitigate this by 
active management and information sharing 
across the Local Authorities. 

Unit rates are fixed offering greater cost and 
volume benefits, making it attractive to 
Councils to use the proposed DPS 
arrangements. 

Page 95



4. Officer Advice

4.1 The preferred option would be for the Council to participate in a collaborative, 
structured and public procurement law compliant procurement process with South 
Gloucestershire acting as the lead authority for the selection of pre-qualified providers 
and the award of a DPS contract for the provision of residential care for children and 
looked after young people.  This option enables the Council to discharge its duty to 
provide good quality sufficient accommodation for Children in Care and Care leavers. 
Collaborating with other local authorities enables the Council to achieve better value for 
money in this sector and be more efficient in streamlining procurement processes.  The 
DPS will also have the option for the Council to undertake ‘mini tenders’ which will allow 
us the freedom to tender for bespoke services such as block purchasing. 

5. Equalities Considerations
 

5.1 An assessment has been undertaken of the potential impact of this decision on people 
or groups with a protected characteristic, the details of which can be found within the 
Due Regard Statement. Current and ongoing arrangements have and will continue to 
have a positive equalities impact.  Bespoke packages to meet individual needs 
(including the protected characteristics) drive the type of provisions that are awarded.  
Diversity of provision enables the Council to promote equality of opportunity for this 
group. Cabinet Members should read and consider the Due Regard Statement in order 
to satisfy themselves as decision makers that due regard has been given. 

6. Consultation Feedback

6.1 Consultation with young people took place in March 2018 and lasted for several 
months.  The feedback was collated and is contained throughout the Sufficiency 
Strategy and is summarised on pages 99-103.

6.2 A provider consultation and engagement event will be held on 6th November 2019.  

6.3 Current feedback from internal stakeholders has identified that there is a keenness to 
continue to work with the South West Regional authorities. 

7. Performance Management/Follow-up 

7.1 Monitoring of the sub-regional DPS agreement will be undertaken through regular, not less 
than quarterly, meetings with all participating authorities. 

7.2 Ongoing monitoring of the quality of the services called-off under the DPS will be 
undertaken through regular contact between the child/young person’s social workers and 
other professional contacts as well as collation and analysis of quality monitoring 
information on a scheduled basis.

7.3 All providers will receive formal annual quality assurance visits and will be supported with 
the development of appropriate action plans to improve service provision where concerns 
are identified. In addition to this there will be formal contract monitoring meetings to support 
the inspection visits. 

Page 96



7.4 There will be discernible outcomes prescribed by the individual’s care plan, with the 
activities and methods employed to attain these outcomes directly tailored to that plan. 
Additional Services which have no demonstrable link to achieving key outcomes in the 
individual’s care plan shall not be included in the package of care for that child.  The overall 
goal is to commission high quality residential care for looked after children that meets their 
individual needs and enables them to be happy, healthy, safe and confident in their future, 
through the achievement of the following positive outcomes:

1. Safety 
2. Physical and Mental Health 
3. Resilience 
4. Self-Esteem 
5. Emotional Intelligence 
6. Control 
7. Relationships 
8. Achievement 
9. Identity and Social Presentation 
10. Preparation for Adulthood 

Service Outcomes

The following Service Outcomes describe expectations regarding the approach providers 
will take in achieving these outcomes with children.  The contract will not oversubscribe 
how providers will work, but commissioners will expect providers to work in a way which 
meets the following outcomes: 

11. Co-production between Gloucestershire County Council and Providers
12. Value for money 
13. Work experience 
14. Connecting with the local community 
15. Promoting inclusion 
16. Working in partnership with other services 
17. Collaborating with other providers 
18. Contributing social value 
19. Ensuring Financial Responsibility 

Page 97



Report Title
Proposal to establish a South West sub-regional dynamic 
purchasing system for the provision of residential care for 
children and looked after young people.
.

Statutory Authority
Children’s Act 1989
Children Act 2004 (Guidance and Regulations)
Children and Young People Act 2008

Relevant County Council policy Gloucestershire County Council Sufficiency Strategy- Right 
Placement First Time 2018-2021

Sustainability checklist

Partnerships South West Sub Regional Consortium

Decision Making and 
Involvement

N/A

Economy and Employment N/A

Caring for people Provision of this service, supports the Council in meeting its 
statutory obligations under the Children Act 1989.

Social Value Participating local authorities will seek to ensure that the 
services provided under the DPS will have a significant impact 
on social value by providing benefits to local communities 
where children and young people shall be safely and 
appropriately housed and supported.  The said services shall 
further promote social value by placing children and young 
people in their local areas and supporting and nurturing them to 
respect their community, appreciate facilities and contribute to 
their community. 

Built Environment N/A

Natural Environment’ including 
Ecology (Biodiversity)

The participating local authorities will, during the continuance of 
the DPS, endeavour to unsure that service providers will use 
methods, equipment, materials and consumables that minimise 
environmental damage.

Education and Information Priority will be given to education, training and skills to enable 
Children in Care and Care Leavers to achieve their full 
potential and develop the necessary skills that will enable them 
to participate in their community. 

Due Regard Statement Yes, a due regard statement has been completed - 
considerations also included in main body of report

A copy of the full Due Regard Statement  can be accessed on 
GLOSTEXT via 
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/uuCoverPage.aspx?bcr=1

Alternatively a hard copy is available for inspection from Jo 
Moore, Democratic Services Unit, e-mail: 

Page 98

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/uuCoverPage.aspx?bcr=1


jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk.

Human rights Implications DPS providers will be required to abide by the principles of the 
Human Rights Act and will be required to have clear policies in 
relation to the human rights of children and young people.

Children Act

UN Convention on the Rights of Children (Article 12)

National Standards for the Provision of Advocacy Services 
2003

The National Minimum Standards
Consultation Arrangements As previously detailed

Page 99

mailto:jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1

ADOPTION OF A WASTE TIPPING AWAY POLICY

Cabinet Date 9 October 2019

Environment and 
Planning Cllr Nigel Moor

Key Decision Yes

Background 
Documents

Consultation on the Development of a Tipping Away Policy – Cabinet report 
10th October 2018

Location/Contact 
for inspection of 
Background 
Documents

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s49124/181001%20Cabine
t%20Report%20Waste%20Tipping%20Away%20Policy.pdf

Main Consultees Waste Collection Authorities (WCAs) – the District, Borough and City 
Councils within Gloucestershire.

Planned Dates Autumn 2019 adoption of Tipping Away Policy

Divisional 
Councillor

All

Officer Wayne Lewis – Head of Gloucestershire Joint Waste Team
wayne.lewis@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Purpose of Report To propose the adoption of a Waste Tipping Away Policy to be used in the 
calculation of Waste Tipping Away payments made by the Council.  

Recommendations That Cabinet approves the adoption of a Waste Tipping Away Policy set out 
in section 4 of this report.

Reasons for 
recommendations

The new Waste Tipping Away Policy reflects the requirements of section 
52(10) of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 (EPA 1990) and the 
feedback from consultation with Waste Collection Authorities (WCAs) in 
Gloucestershire.

Resource 
Implications

There are no direct resource implications associated with this decision. The 
adoption of a tipping away policy will provide a framework within which to 
inform future service options. It provides clarity on our approach to 
compliance with the statutory duty to compensate WCAs when they are 
directed to deliver waste for treatment or disposal to a location that is an 
unreasonable distance beyond their district boundary.

Page 101

Agenda Item 10

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s49124/181001%20Cabinet%20Report%20Waste%20Tipping%20Away%20Policy.pdf
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s49124/181001%20Cabinet%20Report%20Waste%20Tipping%20Away%20Policy.pdf
mailto:wayne.lewis@gloucestershire.gov.uk


2 

ADOPTION OF A WASTE TIPPING AWAY POLICY

1. Background 

1.1 The transportation of waste collected by Waste Collection Authorities 
(WCAs) to a point of disposal is a key component of the waste services 
operated by the Council as a Waste Disposal Authority (WDA). Under the 
Environmental Protection Act (EPA) s52(10) a WDA can direct a WCA to 
deliver waste collected by the WCA to a point of disposal outside of its 
administrative area. In so doing, the WDA becomes liable to make a 
reasonable financial contribution to the WCA in respect of costs it 
reasonably incurs in complying with that direction, where the disposal point 
is unreasonably far from the administrative area of the WCA; sometimes 
known as a “Tipping Away” payment. A tipping away payment has, in the 
past, been made to Stroud District Council, but this was agreed without 
utilising any form of adopted policy model, and payments have now 
ceased as a result of changes in tipping location.

1.2 A WCA may take responsibility for, and make its own arrangements for 
disposal of collected waste, such as is the case for materials collected for 
recycling. Further, liability to make a Tipping Away payment does not 
apply to trade (commercial and industrial) waste collected by a WCA. In 
the case of trade waste, the EPA makes a further provision that a Tipping 
Away payment may be made at the discretion of the Council, but this is not 
a statutory requirement.

1.3 In some areas of Gloucestershire, WCAs deliver waste to either a final 
point of disposal within their areas of operation or to a local waste transfer 
station where it is bulked and hauled to a final destination elsewhere. 
Access to waste transfer stations is provided to WCAs by the Council 
under contracts it has in place with private sector service providers.

1.4 Where no local disposal point or transfer station exists within a district, 
WCAs are required to deliver waste directly to a location outside their area 
of operation for treatment or disposal. The Council has no policy in place 
with which to formally calculate and apply Tipping Away payments where it 
is liable to make them under the EPA. In many two-tier Local Authority 
areas, policies have been adopted that define both the circumstances in 
which payments will be made and the method for calculating the 
payments. Such policies apply a formula which calculates a reasonable 
compensation to the WCA based upon the additional travel time and 

Page 102



3 

associated operating costs. These policies only apply when a WCA is 
directed by the WDA to tip waste outside its operating area.

1.5 The adoption of such a policy within Gloucestershire would provide 
transparency and an improved level of operational certainty to all parties in 
the case where changes are made to waste delivery points.

1.6 Any Tipping Away Policy must reflect the requirements of the EPA in 
providing a mechanism that can be used to calculate a reasonable 
contribution towards expenditure reasonably incurred by the WCA in 
delivering waste to a place which is unreasonably far from the WCAs area. 
The EPA does not define what is reasonable or unreasonable in terms of 
both the level of contribution and the distances involved. In response to 
this, the National Association of Waste Disposal Officers (NAWDO) has 
developed a formula which aims to provide consistency in the calculation 
and application of Tipping Away payments. This formula is well 
established and is used by several Local Authorities across England either 
in its entirety or with amendments. Whilst this formula has no statutory 
basis, its application would provide the county council and the WCAs with 
a clear basis for making and receiving payments.

1.7 The adoption of a Waste Tipping Away Policy was discussed at Cabinet 
10th October 2018, with the resulting decision being that Cabinet:

1.7.1 Authorised the Head of the Joint Waste Management to conduct a 
consultation exercise with the District, Borough and City Councils 
within Gloucestershire as to the:

(a) adoption of the NAWDO model as the financial mechanism 
for the calculation of Tipping Away payments under s52(10) 
Environmental Protection Act 1990 (EPA);

(b) operational issues and any other relevant considerations 
which should be taken into account in the development of a 
Tipping Away Policy.

1.7.2 Required the Head of the Joint Waste Management to report back 
to Cabinet with the results of and recommendations arising from 
the consultation authorised under paragraph 1.7.1 above.

1.8 The NAWDO formula for calculating reasonable contributions towards the 
cost of tipping away is outlined in annex 1 of this report. A Tipping Away 
Policy based on this model should be applied on a case by case basis 
and should take into account local circumstances. Where a WCA is 

Page 103



4 

directed to deliver waste to a location outside its operating area, the 
model should be adapted according to local circumstance, for example by 
defining a disregarded return journey time of up to 30 minutes within the 
policy and adjusting average vehicle speeds depending upon the route 
used. Once the model has been applied for each case, the payment 
should continue unless and until the disposal location is changed. The 
model allows payment to be adjusted for annual inflation in line with CPI.

2. Consultation approach and feedback

2.1 Consultation on the adoption of a Waste Tipping Away Policy based upon 
the NAWDO model was undertaken with each Gloucestershire WCA 
between 22nd November 2018 and 16th January 2019. The consultation 
was published on the ‘Gloucestershire Consult’ portal, enabling 
respondents to provide their feedback online.

2.2 The consultation considered all aspects of the NAWDO model in relation 
to its local applicability. Eight questions were asked, as detailed in Annex 
2 of this report. Responses were received from four of the six WCAs, 
these being Cheltenham Borough Council, Cotswold District Council, 
Forest of Dean District Council and Tewkesbury Borough Council. No 
responses were received from either Gloucester City or Stroud District 
Councils.

2.3 The points raised by consultees are presented in annex 2 of this report. 
These have been subsequently considered by GCC, and a response to 
each point is also provided in annex 2.

2.4 In addition, the consultation responses were discussed at the meeting of 
the Joint Waste Committee on 12th February 2019 at which all WCAs 
were represented with the exception of Stroud. Each WCA raised similar 
points, which in general can be considered collectively. A summary of 
feedback was presented to committee members and officers, and the 
following key issues were reiterated by the WCAs during this meeting;

2.4.1 The model should allow full cost recovery;

2.4.2 It should be flexible to take account of different routes and vehicle 
types etc.

2.4.3 It should also take account of external factors such as traffic 
congestion; and

Page 104



5 

2.4.4 All WCA respondents requested an opportunity to be involved in 
agreeing the data used when arriving at a payment level.

2.5 Subsequent consideration to this consultation feedback has been given by 
GCC officers, as detailed in annex 2. The following points address each of 
the four key concerns highlighted in 2.4 above;

2.5.1 Full cost recovery is not a requirement under s52(10) of the EPA 
1990: which only requires that a ‘reasonable contribution towards 
expenditure reasonably incurred’ in travelling the additional 
distance shall be made. The NAWDO model, as detailed within 
this report, utilises hourly operating costs and a disregarded 
mileage (beyond which it is unreasonable to travel) in the 
calculation of a ‘reasonable contribution’ to WCA operating costs. 
GCC will work with WCAs on a case by case basis to ensure that 
all reasonable costs are included within the payment calculation.

2.5.2 The NAWDO model takes account of different routes, as 
distances and journey times are included within the calculation. It 
can also account for different vehicle types within the “average 
hourly operating costs” part of the equation. The model can be 
applied on a case by case basis for each agreed route and 
vehicle type. GCC agrees that model should provide flexibility to 
account for specific routes and vehicle types.

2.5.3 External factors such as traffic congestion are directly linked to 
journey times and are therefore included within the NAWDO 
model. However, it is impractical to calculate and validate this for 
each individual journey, and it is proposed that an agreed average 
journey time is used in all cases. In response to the point raised in 
2.4.3 above, variations to such average could, for a limited 
duration, be applied in extreme individual circumstances where, 
for example, significant delays are experienced due to road 
closures or higher than normal traffic volumes affecting the 
agreed routes.

2.5.4 GCC agrees that it is necessary for all parties to have an input 
into the base data used in the NAWDO model for each route and 
vehicle type, however GCC will need to agree the reasonableness 
of data to be applied for each individual case when determining a 
reasonable level of contribution to costs. 

Page 105



6 

2.6 With regard to all the above points, the NAWDO model can be applied in 
order to satisfy both the requirements of the EPA s52(10) and most of the 
concerns of the WCAs. Taking account of all these factors, section 4 of 
this report contains a draft policy to be applied when determining the 
‘Waste Tipping Away’ payments to be made by GCC to WCAs. 

3. Options

3.1 Do nothing.

3.1.1 The Council could choose to maintain the current position;  
continuing with no formally adopted policy being in place. There is no 
statutory requirement to have such a policy in place as long as the 
requirements of the EPA are met in other ways. Tipping Away 
payments can be made under the EPA by agreement but in the 
absence of agreement or in the case of a dispute, the issue would be 
referred to arbitration under the Act. This approach would not 
provide any clarity to either party when making operational or budget 
decisions associated with waste service developments and could 
lead to differences in approach, as arbitration is determined on a 
case by case basis.

3.2 Adopt and utilise a Waste Tipping Away Policy based upon the NAWDO 
model detailed in section 4 below.

3.2.1 This approach would provide a framework within which to plan future 
service developments and will inform decisions relating to waste 
movements where options to either transfer waste or tip away are to 
be considered. This model is used by several authorities and takes 
into account the provisions of the EPA, with adaptability to 
incorporate specific local circumstances.

3.3 Develop and adopt an alternative payment methodology as the basis of 
developing a Waste Tipping Away Policy.

3.3.1 This approach could be taken, as a specific policy model is not 
prescribed in law. An alternative payment methodology to that 
produced by NAWDO may be desirable if the Council wishes to 
consider making additional payments based upon anything other 
than reasonable operating costs. It is not clear at this time how such 
a payment methodology should differ in practice from the NAWDO 
model, and further work would be required in order to determine a 

Page 106



7 

suitable alternative on which to consult with the Districts. Such an 
approach is likely to be more expensive for GCC.

4. Draft Waste Tipping Away Policy for Gloucestershire County Council

4.1 This policy [if adopted] defines the approach taken by Gloucestershire 
County Council in fulfilling the requirements set out in section 52(10) of 
the Environmental Protection Act (EPA) in respect of the payment of 
waste ‘tipping away’ contributions to Waste Collection Authorities. This will 
apply where Gloucestershire County Council directs a Waste Collection 
Authority to a point of tipping or disposal which is located unreasonably far 
from the administrative area of the Waste Collection Authority.

4.2 This policy presents Gloucestershire County Council’s methodology for 
determining the level of ‘reasonable contribution’ to be made on a case by 
case basis. It applies to Household Waste collected by each Waste 
Collection Authority only.

4.3 Gloucestershire County Council will provide a reasonable contribution 
towards expenditure reasonably incurred by the Waste Collection 
Authority in delivering waste to a place which is unreasonably far from the 
Waste Collection Authorities area. Such contribution will be calculated 
using the following formula;

 

Payment = No. of journeys 
by vehicles x 2(D-d) 

Average speed x Average hourly 
operating costs

where;

 Payment for a specific period is based upon the number of journeys 
made in that period.

 D = the distance travelled from the WCAs boundary to the disposal 
point (doubled to account for a return journey).

 d = the return mileage outside the district boundary beyond which it is 
considered unreasonable to travel (the model deducts this from the total 
distance travelled). Mileage regarded as “reasonable” therefore 
becomes disregarded mileage within the calculation. When deciding 
upon this disregarded mileage consideration shall be given to local 
circumstances such as the type of road and route used. 

Page 107



8 

 The average speed of vehicles shall depend upon the route and vehicle 
type.

 The average hourly rate of vehicle operating costs (including, if agreed, 
idle labour) shall be calculated per vehicle type.

Calculation of all variables and associated payments will be made per vehicle 
type. Gloucestershire County Council’s contribution to expenditure reasonably 
incurred will be the aggregate sum of each calculated payment per vehicle type.

4.4 Application of each variable within the calculation;

4.4.1 Number of journeys by vehicles

This shall be verified as actual journeys made during an agreed 
period in arrears. Unless agreed otherwise in each case, this shall 
be calculated quarterly and payment made accordingly.

4.4.2 “D”, the return distance travelled from the WCA boundary to the 
disposal point and Average Speed.

Actual data will be used where this can be supplied by a WCA in an 
agreed format. In the absence of such data this variable shall be 
calculated for each vehicle type using actual mileage and average 
speed data gathered from trial runs prior to deliveries being made. 
Trial runs will be conducted using the actual operational route of the 
waste collection vehicles, and be measured between the nearest 
WCA boundary point and the entrance gate of the disposal location. 
This measurement shall exclude the time spent tipping at the 
disposal location. Where it is not possible to measure actual 
distances and speeds, these shall be calculated using mapping or 
journey time software.

“D” and Average Speed shall be subject to periodic review on an 
annual basis and when any significant variation to such averages 
occurs as a consequence of occurrences such as long term road 
closures.

4.4.3 “d”, the return mileage outside the district boundary beyond which it 
is considered unreasonable to travel.

This shall be calculated as the return distance which can be travelled 
in 30 minutes using the actual route and average vehicle speeds. 

Page 108



9 

This shall be determined during the trial runs (see above) and shall 
be deducted from D in accordance with the formula set out herein.

Gloucestershire County Council may, at its discretion, reduce or 
eliminate “d” from the calculation. This would be considered in 
instances where the distance travelled by waste collection vehicles 
within the waste collection area prior to reaching the boundary is 
already significant. As a guide, this would be considered when this 
distance results in a one-way in-district journey time of 30 minutes or 
more.

“d” shall be subject to periodic review on an annual basis and when 
any significant variation to “d” occurs as a consequence of 
occurrences such as long term road closures.

4.4.4 The average hourly rate of vehicle operating costs.

This shall be the actual reasonable average hourly operating costs 
as presented by the Waste Collection Authority. This shall include all 
regular operating costs relating to vehicles, fuel and staff, but shall 
exclude capital expenditure and one-off costs. The figures used shall 
be generated using reliable actual costs (verifiable through open 
book accounting) in order to enable Gloucestershire County Council 
to make a reasonable contribution by way of Tipping Away 
payments. Where these costs cannot be obtained and verified, or 
where they vary significantly from industry averages, Gloucestershire 
County Council will apply an average operating cost based upon 
industry benchmarks. Gloucestershire County Council may at its 
discretion seek third party validation of costs presented.

Costs shall be subject to annual review and verification.

5. Officer Advice

5.1 That Cabinet approve the recommendation set out on page 2 of this 
report.

6. Equalities considerations

6.1 There are no equalities considerations associated with the 
recommendation.

Page 109



10 

7. Consultation feedback

7.1 Consultation with the WCAs is summarised in section 2 above and in 
annex 2 of this report.

8.      Performance Management/Follow-up 

8.1 The Waste Tipping Away policy would be applied in any case where GCC 
directs a WCA to tip household waste an unreasonable distance from the 
waste collection area. The policy will be applicable in line with the current 
requirements of the EPA 1990 and would be subject to review in the event 
of changes in this legislation. Periodic review of payment levels will take 
place as defined within the policy, with budget impacts being considered 
as part of the annual council budget setting process. 

Page 110



11 

Report Title Adoption of a Waste Tipping Away Policy

Statutory Authority Environmental Protection Act 1990; s48, s51 and s52

Relevant County Council 
policy Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy 2007-2020

Resource Implications There are no direct resource implications associated with 
this decision. The adoption of a tipping away policy will 
provide a framework within which to inform future service 
options. It provides clarity on our approach to compliance 
with the statutory duty to compensate WCAs when they are 
directed to deliver waste for treatment or disposal to a 
location that is an unreasonable distance beyond their 
district boundary.

Sustainability checklist:

Partnerships Gloucestershire Joint Waste Committee

Decision Making and 
Involvement

District, Borough and City Councils within Gloucestershire 

Economy and Employment N/A   

Caring for people N/A

Social Value N/A 

Built Environment N/A

Natural Environment’ 
including Ecology 
(Biodiversity)

N/A

Education and Information N/A

Page 111



12 

Tackling Climate Change Carbon Emissions Implications? Neutral

Vulnerable to climate change? No

Due Regard Statement Has a Due Regard Statement been completed?     No

The provisions do not apply to this matter

Human rights 
Implications

N/A

Consultation 
Arrangements

All WCAs have been consulted on this issue. See section 2 
and annex 2 of this report for more detail.

Page 112



13 

Annex 1; The NAWDO Tipping Away payment formula

The NAWDO model sets out a formula that incorporates the following variables in 
order to calculate a total annual Tipping Away payment:

 The number of journeys made in a year.
 The distance “(D)” travelled from the relevant WCA’s boundary to the disposal 

point (doubled to account for a return journey).
 The mileage “(d)” outside the district boundary beyond which it is considered 

unreasonable to travel (the model deducts this from the total distance travelled). 
Mileage regarded as “reasonable” therefore becomes disregarded mileage 
within the calculation. When deciding upon this disregarded mileage 
consideration should be given to local circumstances such as the type of road 
and route used. 

 The average speed of vehicles.
 The average hourly rate of vehicle operating costs (including, if agreed, idle 

labour).

These variables are applied within the following formula:

Payment = No. of journeys 
by vehicles x 2(D-d) 

Average speed x
Average hourly 
operating costs

Payment is made by the WDA to the WCA. No payments are made by the WCA to 
the WDA.

Most variables within this formula use actual data. The number of journeys made, 
the average speed and the hourly operating costs can all be determined from real 
operational data. Where different vehicle types are used, the formula can be applied 
separately to each type and the results added together to produce an annual budget 
figure. Thereby any errors or disagreement arising from the use of an overall 
average approach are eliminated.

Distance D (the distance from the district boundary to the disposal location) can be 
determined using maps, mapping software or by driving the route itself. For 
consistency, D should be determined prior to the use of the formula in each case. By 
dividing D by the average speed the total journey time will be derived. Multiplying this 
by the hourly operating cost will produce the level of payment for that journey. Time 
spent on depositing loads is excluded from this calculation, as this is not related to 
the location of the disposal location. 

Page 113



14 

Also of importance is the need to determine the distance (d) beyond which it is 
deemed unreasonable to travel. This is an important factor as it will have a significant 
bearing on the level of Tipping Away payment made. The NAWDO model provides 
some guidance in suggesting that the total return time to drive the disregarded 
mileage should be that distance for which it takes up to 30 minutes to travel. At 
average speeds of 25, 30, 40 and 50mph this equates to a maximum of 6.25 miles, 
7.5 miles, 10 miles and 12.5 miles respectively each way. This disregarded mileage 
can be deducted from the payment calculation in order to determine a ‘reasonable 
contribution’. Local conditions will influence how this is calculated. Faster motorway 
conditions may result in a higher disregarded mileage compared with a journey 
undertaken on busy suburban routes. The application of a disregarded mileage 
should also take account of other local circumstances. In the case where a district is 
large and significant distances are travelled within the district before the boundary is 
reached, it may be deemed unreasonable by GCC to apply a disregarded mileage to 
what might already be a lengthy journey.

Page 114



15 

Annex 2; Consultation feedback and GCC response

Q1) Does this model consider all appropriate variables? What additional variables, if 
any, would you want to see included, and why?  Do you have any further comments 
in relation to how the requirements of the EPA are captured within this model?

Waste Collection Authorities’ (each a 
“WCA”) Responses

Waste Disposal Authority's (the “WDA”) 
reply

The model either does not consider all the 
variables, or is not clear in what is included 
within each variable and how they are 
calculated. Until it is decided what is included 
in each variable it is difficult to comment 
further.

The NAWDO model, on which GCC could 
base Gloucestershire’s Tipping Away 
Calculation Mechanism (the “TAC 
Mechanism”), sets out the top level 
methodology to be used rather than a 
detailed costing of any particular scenario.  
You will not, therefore, see each variable at 
this level.

Each WCA will have their own operating 
costs which will vary, hence Gloucestershire 
County Council (“GCC”), in its capacity as 
the WDA, intends to agree reasonable 
operating costs in each case. Where these 
are not obtainable, or are excessively high, 
GCC may use an industry average rate 
where available. This would be in order to 
determine what constitutes a “reasonable 
contribution” by the WDA towards 
expenditure reasonably incurred by WCAs in 
delivering waste to places which are 
“unreasonably far” from their respective 
waste collection areas (in accordance with 
the WDA’s obligations under Section 52(10) 
of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 
(“EPA 1990”)).

For the avoidance of doubt, EPA 1990 does 
not provide WCAs with a right to receive full 
cost recovery from the WDA.

Are capital and other one-off costs of change 
included? Will the model include all real 
operating costs?

As stated above, GCC intends to agree 
reasonable operating costs in each case. 
Where these are not obtainable, or are 
excessively high, GCC may use an industry 
average rate where available.

GCC cannot contribute towards one-off 
costs.  The full extent of GCC’s obligations in 
respect of s52(10) EPA 1990 are restricted 

Page 115



16 

to contributing towards  expenditure 
reasonably incurred in respect of operating 
costs.

It is important to know how negotiations will 
be undertaken when arriving at the cost 
variable. This should be undertaken in 
partnership between both parties, using 
technical expertise when necessary.

As stated above, actual operating costs will 
be used to determine a reasonable 
contribution, and these could be subject to 
third party validation or cross reference to 
industry benchmarks if there is uncertainty 
over these. 

It would be preferable to use actual vehicle 
movement data rather than a tonnage based 
average.

GCC would be happy to use actual ongoing 
“real time” vehicle movement data where this 
can be provided by WCAs in an agreed 
format.  Where this is not available, GCC will 
work with the WCAs to agree average 
journey times that will be based on real 
vehicle movements recorded as part of a 
programme of planned route measurement 
exercises (eg using trial runs). These can be 
reviewed from time to time to accommodate 
any changes to routes or journey times.

If a multi-purpose vehicle is used, 
consideration should be given to the tipping 
point for other materials and the impact this 
has on total journey time and the length of 
the working day. Linked to this, it may be 
necessary to purchase one or more new 
vehicles (with subsequent crews) in order to 
complete the rounds, adding to the total real 
cost of change.

The TAC Mechanism will cover only waste 
material that GCC directs WCAs to deliver 
pursuant to s51(4) EPA 1990.  Accordingly, 
the TAC Mechanism would not make 
provision for any other materials that might 
be transported using WCA vehicles.

On this basis, the TAC Mechanism will not 
cover the purchase of additional vehicles.

There is a carbon impact of additional 
vehicles.

Agreed, there is a carbon impact of each 
vehicle movement, as there would be if bulk 
haulage and transfer were to be undertaken. 
The net carbon impact of service provision 
options is important, but the scope of this 
policy is restricted to defining the financial 
mechanism for making tipping away 
payments subsequent to service delivery 
decisions being made.

The cost of change should be the difference 
between the current costs at the current 
tipping point (or population midpoint) and the 
new costs of tipping away, not just a 
calculation made from the closest boundary 
point.

The EPA 1990 s52(10), upon which a tipping 
away policy would be based, is clear that a 
reasonable contribution should be made 
towards costs incurred when tipping waste 
an unreasonable distance from the waste 
collection area. The statutory requirements 
of the EPA 1990 do not extend to providing 
for the net costs of change.

Q2) The district boundary nearest to the disposal point is used as the starting point 
for calculations of when tipping waste outside the waste collection area (D).  Do you 

Page 116



17 

think there may be any circumstances where it might be justifiable to alter this 
approach? If so, what alternative starting point could be considered in each of those 
circumstances?

WCA Response GCC reply

It may be more reasonable to use a depot 
location where vehicles park and operate 
from. District boundaries can be a long way 
from the depot.

Section 52(10) EPA 1990, provides that a 
“reasonable contribution” should be made 
“towards” costs incurred when tipping waste 
at a place that is unreasonably far from the 
relevant WCA’s waste collection area. This is 
the statutory requirement beyond which any 
additional financial contribution is made at 
the WDA’s absolute discretion. 
However, GCC accepts that there may be an 
argument for applying an additional 
contribution where certain collection points 
(specific collection rounds) within the 
relevant WCAs area are some distance from 
the boundary nearest to the disposal point.  
GCC may incorporate an adjustment for this 
within the TAC Mechanism at its discretion 
on a case by case basis.

In large districts/boroughs, the boundary 
point will not reflect the full length of journeys 
made.

Please see previous reply above.

In order to reach a boundary, there are other 
factors to consider such as weight and height 
restrictions on some routes. The nearest 
boundary point may be on one of these 
unsuitable routes and would therefore not be 
a suitable point to use in calculations. If the 
boundary point was to be used, the 
reference point at which calculations 
commence should be mutually agreed with 
operational and technical input.

It should be born in mind that the issue of 
height and weight restrictions on vehicle 
routings could apply in certain specific 
circumstance, irrespective of whether WCAs 
are tipping inside or outside their respective 
waste collection area. However, where this 
occurs directly as a result of a direction given 
by the WDA, pursuant to s51(4) EPA 1990, 
to tip at a place that is unreasonably far from 
the waste collection area, GCC will take into 
account  such weight and height restrictions 
in the TAC Mechanism.

An annual review and indexation of costs 
would be needed.

GCC acknowledges this request and, subject 
to member approval, would support it. 

If new vehicles were needed, how would this 
be funded and what time frame would be 
given for implementation?

Funding of new vehicles will remain the 
responsibility of the WCA. GCC will provide 
as much notice as possible for planned 
changes to waste delivery points, but 
timescales in each case will depend upon 
project timelines. All impacted WCAs will 
have advance notice of upcoming projects 
which may result in changes to delivery 
points. Note that the scope of this 
consultation paper is to create a TAC 
Mechanism that will be applied subsequent 

Page 117



18 

to any directions given by the WDA, pursuant 
to s51(4) EPA 1990  regarding service 
delivery and treatment locations. 

Q3) The NAWDO model suggests a return journey of between 0 and 30 minutes (not 
including tipping time) beyond a WCA boundary could be considered to be a 
reasonable distance for a disposal point. This means that some flexibility is built into 
the NAWDO model, allowing for this distance to vary depending on the type of route 
used (e.g. motorway journeys would have a higher disregarded mileage compared to 
slower routes). Should any other considerations be applied in determining any 
disregarded mileage (d)?

WCA Response GCC reply

It is necessary to consider congestion on any 
route and what this will do to journey times, 
irrespective of mileage.

Agreed. The NAWDO model uses average 
speed to calculate journey times. This will 
include the impact of congestion upon the 
speed. However, as stated earlier, it may be 
impractical to calculate a payment based 
upon speed for every individual journey.  
Accordingly, GCC will work with WCAs to 
agree average journey times that will be 
based on real vehicle movements recorded 
as part of a programme of planned route 
measurement exercises. This average will be 
tested as part of an annual review process.

Higher mileage may have a detrimental 
impact on some vehicles.

Acknowledged. Maintenance costs would be 
expected to be included within the operating 
costs.

Consideration should be given to the whole 
journey time, and not just that part outside 
the boundary.

As stated above, section 52(10) EPA 1990, 
provides that a “reasonable contribution” 
should be made “towards” costs incurred 
when tipping waste at a place that is 
unreasonably far from the relevant WCA’s 
waste collection area. This is the statutory 
requirement beyond which any additional 
financial contribution is made at the WDA’s 
absolute discretion. 
However, GCC accepts that there may be an 
argument for applying an additional 
contribution where certain collection points 
(specific collection rounds) within the 
relevant WCAs area are some distance from 
the boundary nearest to the disposal point.  
GCC may at its discretion incorporate an 
adjustment for this within the TAC 
Mechanism.

How would the distance/speed/time 
calculation be applied when speeds may 
vary due to conditions? Will this use a 
midpoint calculation?

The NAWDO model uses average speed in 
its calculation of expenditure contribution. 
The mean average would account for 
variations within the range of conditions.

Page 118



19 

Disregarded mileage considered reasonable 
to travel will in some way be relative to the 
journeys the operator currently travels.

The EPA 1990 does not provide a definition 
for reasonable/unreasonable distance, hence 
it does not make provision for pre-existing 
operations.

It would be unreasonable to calculate a 
reasonable contribution to the WCA costs if 
the boundary point is used as a starting point 
for the calculation.

The basis for the said view  is unclear given 
that the NAWDO model has been produced 
independently to reflect the requirements of 
EPA 1990, that is, to determine whether a 
tipping away point is unreasonably far from 
the relevant WCA’s collection area.

Disregarded mileage is a major concern. 
This could result in a significant amount of 
disregarded mileage for which an additional 
vehicle may be required. This may also 
impact the collection of other materials, 
potentially requiring more than one additional 
vehicle.

Disregarded mileage exists in the NAWDO 
model as a way of determining a limit beyond 
which it would be unreasonable to direct a 
WCA to travel to without receiving a 
reasonable contribution from the WDA 
towards the WCA’s costs in respect thereof. 
It is considered, subject to agreement by 
GCC members, that this would be applied to 
a distance involving a return journey time of 
30 minutes. Without a “disregarded mileage” 
adjustment there would be no consideration 
of what is reasonable. GCC may at its 
discretion, reduce the disregarded mileage in 
instances where a high mileages are already 
driven within a WCA boundary. Such 
instances will be considered on a case by 
case basis.

There is a very real risk that GCC procure 
disposal contracts which are competitive and 
reduce disposal costs but increase the net 
burden on the tax payer by significantly 
increasing the costs for the collection 
authorities. There should be a contractual 
requirement on tipping locations to facilitate 
rapid tipping to reduce time.

GCC will consider waste bulking, haulage or 
direct delivery as part of a full system cost 
when procuring disposal contracts. Maximum 
turnaround times at tipping locations are a 
standard part of our terms and conditions 
within disposal contracts.

Q4) Different types of vehicle will operate at different costs and speeds. Therefore it 
would seem reasonable to calculate tipping away payments separately for each 
vehicle type rather than using a fleet average. Is this a sensible approach, and if not, 
what would be the alternative approach?

WCA Response GCC reply

All respondents agreed with this. Acknowledged that all respondents would 
like separate calculations for different vehicle 
types due to variations in their performance.

Q5) The average vehicle speed can be determined as an actual figure in one of two 
ways; i) using online mapping and known vehicle specs, ii) by using actuals 
determined from trial runs or vehicle tracker information. What would be your 
preferred approach and why?

Page 119



20 

WCA Response GCC reply

Actual data should be used, which should be 
variable depending upon the time of day the 
journey is made.

As highlighted in Q1 GCC is prepared to use 
real time data where this can be provided by 
WCAs in an agreed format.  Alternatively, 
real vehicle movements recorded as part of a 
programme of planned route measurement 
exercises will be used for the purposes of the 
TAC Mechanism to reflect that some days a 
WCA vehicles could take longer than 
average and other days it will take less time 
than average. 

Neither is ideal, average speed should be 
real and should depend on the routes used 
and these routes may be different from that 
used in the calculation. Online mapping may 
not reflect actual journeys, and trial runs 
would only show what is happening at the 
time. Rounds change, so routes may also 
change. As such it would make more sense 
to agree an average that could be used.

GCC would be willing to work with the WCA 
to come up with an average, however the 
final average speed applied would be at the 
WDA’s discretion. 

Q6) There is a requirement to include hourly vehicle operating costs within the 
model. We would envisage that these costs would be supplied by each WCA and 
verified prior to being applied within the model. Do you have any further comments 
in respect of how this process would work?

WCA Response GCC reply

Verification by a neutral party to ensure 
fairness and consistency would seem 
reasonable.

GCC agree that fairness and consistency is 
required and for this reason it intends to 
agree reasonable operating costs in each 
case. Where these are not obtainable, or are 
excessively high, GCC may use an industry 
average rate where available or seek the 
view of a third party, independent expert.  

To prevent any avoidable time consuming 
and costly disputes, agreement on what is 
included should be sought and appended to 
the policy for future changes and auditing.

Agreed, this would form part of TAC 
Mechanism.

Verification of costs should be in partnership. GCC would be willing to work with the WCA 
to agree an average hourly operating cost 
and if necessary compare it against an 
industry average (where available) to come 
up with a contribution rate the level of which 
it is set is at the WDA’s discretion. 

The average per vehicle type should be 
used, not the average of the whole fleet.

Acknowledged. 

If contracts or operations change the hourly 
rate could change – how will this work in 

This would form part of an annual review. 
However, noting that GCC responsibilities 

Page 120



21 

practice? are to provide a reasonable contribution 
rather than full real-time cost recovery, it is 
not envisaged that each change incurred by 
WCAs throughout the year would necessarily 
trigger a change to the payments made. This 
could present an unworkable volume of 
debate and verification. From the time at 
which a WCA is notified of a direction by the 
WDA, pursuant to s51(4) EPA 1990, to tip an 
unreasonable distance outside the collection 
area, this, together with the application of the 
TAC Mechanism, should be considered by 
the WCA when making subsequent 
decisions about operational change. The 
requirements of EPA 1990 in relation to 
tipping away payments do not extend to 
WCA responsibilities within the collection 
area.

Will the payment be flexible in order to adapt 
to change?

An annual review would take place in order 
to identify reasonable changes in operating 
costs and/or journey times.

There should be agreed costs which are 
included so that costs are transparent and 
equitable.

Agreed, however GCC will approach this in 
line with the EPA 1990 requirements to make 
a reasonable contribution towards these 
costs, which would include operating costs 
associated with vehicles, fuel and staff.

We note that depreciation is not included, 
however the increased wear and tear on 
vehicles will reduce the period over which 
vehicles are depreciated so this needs to be 
incorporated into the net service costs.

The NAWDO model neither includes nor 
excludes depreciation. Where depreciation 
forms part of the revenue cost arising from 
WCAs delivering waste to places which are 
“unreasonably far” from their respective 
waste collection areas, it is reasonable, 
subject to a suitable period of depreciation 
being applied, to include this within the 
average operating cost.  WCAs should be 
minded, however, that they will need to 
evidence the fact that such costs arise from 
such additional miles. 

Costs would have to come from the 
contractor, which could be time consuming 
for all parties.

Acknowledged. However, costs will need to 
be presented clearly and be verifiable, from 
whichever source is best placed to provide 
these. However, since contributions will be 
made to each WCA, it is expected that such 
WCAs would have ownership of presenting 
these costs to GCC as a basis for calculation 
of a tipping away payment.

Agreement is needed within the policy on 
what is included in the hourly rate.

Acknowledged.

Q7) The number of journeys undertaken in any period will determine the payment 
due for that period. What would be the preferred period upon which payments 

Page 121



22 

should be made (monthly, quarterly or annually)?

WCA Response GCC reply

Two authorities stated that monthly 
payments would be preferred, and two stated 
that quarterly is fine too. Some authorities 
stated in the narrative that either quarterly or 
annually would be fine but should be 
accurately forecasted for budgeting 
purposes.

GCC would be happy to mutually agree this 
with each WCA, but would look at making 
payments no more frequently than quarterly 
in order to minimise administrative costs and 
burdens, and would wish to apply the same 
approach to all WCAs for the same reasons.

Q8) Are there any other matters that you consider should be included in the 
development of a tipping away payment policy?

WCA Response GCC reply

Fairness and consistency to ensure that all 
costs are included.

The NAWDO model has been developed 
independently to assist WDAs and WCAs in 
calculating a reasonable contribution towards 
WCAs’ additional reasonable costs.  The 
model does not provide that all WCAs’ 
relevant costs shall be reimbursed by the 
WDA. 

GCC agrees that it is necessary to ensure 
that a fair and consistent approach is 
adopted in producing the TAC Mechanism.

How are the variables going to be agreed? 
Will it be equitable, will it be reviewed 
periodically and on a case by case basis? 
Can additional costs be reimbursed?

Please see previous response to the replies 
in respect of these questions.

Provide the WCA with sufficient time to 
prepare for change.

GCC will provide as much notice as possible 
for any planned directions it may give under 
s51(4) EPA 1990 which will result in changes 
to waste delivery points. However, 
timescales in each case will depend upon 
specific project timelines. All WCAs will have 
advance notice of upcoming projects which 
may result in changes to delivery points.
There may be instances where unplanned 
changes to delivery points are needed (due 
to the unavailability of the existing waste 
delivery points for unforeseen reasons). In 
such instances GCC will provide as much 
notice as possible and liaise with WCAs 
regarding these contingency sites and 
delivery arrangements.

Note that the scope of this consultation 

Page 122



23 

paper is to produce a TAC Mechanism that 
will be applied subsequent to any directions 
given by the WDA, pursuant to s51(4) EPA 
1990, regarding service delivery and 
treatment locations.

Number of vehicle journeys made should be 
based upon actual number of vehicle 
movements rather than back-calculating from 
tonnages hauled.

Acknowledged.

Clarity and consultation is requested when 
calculating distances used for payments.

GCC will work with the WCA and share the 
logic applied which will enable the TAC 
Mechanism to be implemented.

Full cost recovery is proposed, and 
agreement on how this is achieved should be 
sought, using either an independent 
consultant or open book accounting.

The NAWDO model does not  provide for full 
cost recovery by WCAs, but rather it has 
been developed to reflect the requirements 
of s52(10) EPA 1990 which requires that a 
reasonable contribution shall be made by the 
WDA towards expenditure reasonably 
incurred by WCAs in delivering waste to 
places which are “unreasonably far” from 
their respective waste collection areas.

Page 123



This page is intentionally left blank



ESTABLISHMENT AND CONSTRUCTION OF A NEW 75 PLACE SPECIAL SCHOOL
FOR CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE (AGED 11-16) WITH SOCIAL, EMOTIONAL

AND MENTAL HEALTH (SEMH) NEEDS

Cabinet date  9 October 2019 

Economy, 
Education and 
Skills

Cllr Patrick Molyneux

Key Decision Yes

Background 
Papers

 Gloucestershire County Council’s Special Educational Needs and 
Disabilities (SEND) Commissioning Strategy 2019-24

 Children and Families Capital Programme 2019-2020

 Gloucestershire’s Joint Strategy for Children and Young People with 
Additional Needs, including SEND 2018 – 2021

 High Needs Strategy 

Location/Contact 
for inspection of 
Background 
Documents

Clare Medland, Head of Commissioning for Learning 
01452 328686 clare.medland@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

Main Consultees  Headteachers and Governors of schools in Gloucestershire 

 Regional and national Multi Academy Trusts

 Residents living close to the proposed site, when confirmed 

 Relevant County Councillor 

 Relevant Parish and District Councils 

 Neighbour Local Authorities 

Planned Dates Free school presumption competition process to launch October 2019
Public engagement November 2019 
Planning submission  December 2019 
School to admit children during academic year 2021/22

Divisional 
Councillor

Cllr Vines, Brockworth 

Officer Tim Browne, Director of Education
Tel: 01452 328693
tim.browne@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Page 125

Agenda Item 11

mailto:clare.medland@gloucestershire.gov.uk


Purpose of Report 

To seek Cabinet approval to establish a new 75 place Special School for 
Children and Young People with Social, Emotional and Mental Health 
(SEMH) needs together with approval for commissioning, funding, land 
acquisition and construction of the new school. 

Recommendations That Cabinet approves the establishment of a new 75 place special school for 
children and young people aged 11-16 year with SEMH needs and delegates 
authority to the Director of Education , in consultation with the Cabinet 
Member for Economy, Education and Skills to:

1.  Hold a free school presumption competition in accordance with the 
Department for Education’s advice contained in, “The free school 
presumption” (May 2018) in order to identify a suitable Academy Trust to 
sponsor the school.

2.  Upon conclusion of the competition, recommend to the Secretary of State 
the findings of the Local Authority’s assessment to enable him to decide upon 
the most suitable proposer to take forward the new free school.

That Cabinet delegates authority to the Head of Property Services, in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Economy, Education and Skills, to:

3.  Acquire the land on which to establish and construct the new special 
school.

4.  Conduct a procurement process in accordance with rules of a public sector 
designed and managed framework agreement known as the “GCC 
procurement framework” for the purpose of awarding (a) a preconstruction 
design agreement and (b) subject to satisfactory planning permission, a 
contract for construction works relating to the establishment of a 75 place 
special school for children and young people aged 11-16 years with SEMH 
needs.

5.  Use a mini competition process through the GCC procurement framework 
to determine the Council’s preferred contractor(s).

6.  Upon conclusion of the mini competition to enter into the abovementioned 
pre construction design and, subject to satisfactory planning permission, a 
contract for the construction works with the preferred contractor(s) evaluated 
as offering the Council best value for money and quality for delivery of the 
new school.  In the event that the preferred contractor(s) is either unable or 
unwilling to enter into that contract(s) with the Council, the Head of Property is 
authorised to enter into such contract with the next willing highest places and 
suitably qualified contractor.

To authorise the Director of Education and the Head of Property Services to:

7.  Undertake all ancillary matters to enable the establishment of the 75 place 
special school for children and young people aged 11-16 years with SEMH 
needs

Page 126



Reasons for 
Recommendations Gloucestershire County Council’s SEND Commissioning Strategy 2019-24, 

identifies the need for additional special school places for children and young 
people with Social Emotional and Mental Health needs to enable the local 
authority to provide high quality school places for children and young people 
locally.  The High Needs Strategy approved by Cabinet in January 2019 sets 
out the aim of establishing new high quality SEMH provision locally for those 
who need it. 

This will reduce the Council’s reliance on the independent/non-maintained 
special school sector, saving an estimated £1.5m annually in placements 
costs and £360,000 in transport costs. 

Resource 
Implications

The total capital cost of the new school is estimated at £7.5m. It is proposed 
this will be funded from the Council’s approved Children and Families Capital 
programme and is being considered as a subsequent agenda item at this 
Cabinet meeting. On-going revenue costs, along with a one off lump sum of 
£75,000 for start up costs, will be met from the High Needs Block of the 
Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG).

The council currently has 98 SEMH pupils in these types of schools at a cost 
of £4.45m pa. Increasing local provision will reduce the Council’s reliance on 
the Independent/non-maintained special school sector, saving an estimated 
£1.5m annually in placements costs and £360,000 in transport costs.

Page 127



MAIN REPORT CONTENTS

1. Introduction

1.1 The County Council has a statutory duty to ensure that sufficient school places 
are available within its area for every child of school age whose parents/carers 
wish them to have one. It is a commissioner of places rather than being a direct 
provider; working in partnership with providers and stakeholders to meet current 
and future demand across the county1. 

2. Background 

2.1 Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) has completed an analysis of specialist 
provision across the county to inform the Special Educational Needs (SEND) 
Commissioning Strategy. SEMH needs are becoming more prevalent and, in 
Gloucestershire, were the most commonly identified need in both 2017 and 2018 
(31% and 28% in Gloucestershire respectively). There is a resultant shortfall in 
the level of appropriate, high quality day places for secondary aged children and 
young people with SEMH needs in Gloucestershire. The High Needs Strategy, 
approved by Cabinet in January 2019, confirms the need for increased specialist 
day provision for children of secondary age with SEMH needs and makes a 
commitment to enabling children to have their needs met locally.

2.2 Analysis also identifies that the need for school places of this type is 
predominantly in the locality of Gloucester and Cheltenham. 

2.3 The shortage of a local provision capable of meeting the increasing number of 
children and young people in this specific group means the local authority has to 
rely on commissioning places at independent and non maintained settings, often 
some distance from where the young person lives. The distances involved can 
result in these placements needing to be residential in nature. The council 
currently has 98 SEMH pupils in these types of schools at a cost of £4.45m pa. 
Increasing local provision will reduce the Council’s reliance on the 
Independent/non-maintained special school sector, saving an estimated £1.5m 
annually in placements costs and £360,000 in transport costs. 

2.4 The local authority’s ambition is to educate children closer to home and make 
better use of the independent schools budget. The provision of a dedicated 
SEMH 11-16 Special Free School will support this ambition through providing 
high quality places to meet the needs of children and young people closer to 
where they live. This is underpinned by Gloucestershire’s High Needs Strategy 
approved by Cabinet in January 2019 and the Joint Strategy for Children and 
Young People with Additional Needs, including SEND 2018 – 2021, which set 
out the county’s vision to develop and provide services that achieve positive 
outcomes for children and young people with additional needs

2.5 The local authority will need to run a free school presumption competition 
process under Section 6A (the academy and free school presumption) of the 

1 The Education and Inspections Act 2006, Academies Act 2010 & Education Act 2011

Page 128



Education and Inspections Act 2006 to establish the school.  This would involve 
inviting DfE approved Academy Trusts to apply to the local authority to run the 
new SEMH special free school.  While the local authority would be responsible 
for organising and running the selection process, it then makes a 
recommendation on a preferred sponsor to the Secretary of State who makes 
the final decision.

3. Options

Option 1: to commission additional places from existing providers

3.1 The one other state funded (maintained) special school in Gloucestershire 
catering for children and young people aged 11-16 years with SEMH needs 
(which is in the Stroud district), already has 60 places and there is insufficient 
capacity to further increase the commissioned number to meet demand. 
Furthermore, the additional need for school places has been identified nearer to 
Cheltenham and Gloucester, so expanding the existing setting will not create 
provision close to where the children live. The existing school is unable to meet 
the needs of children with complex SEMH needs, with seventeen of the eighteen 
children who were placed in independent SEMH provision during the academic 
year 2019/20 considered unsuitable for the existing state maintained SEMH 
secondary school and requiring a different type of learning environment.   

3.2 The average cost of a placement in the local state maintained SEMH School is 
£17,273 pa, compared to £47,889 in the independent/non-maintained sector. 
Given the increasing need and associated cost of independent specialist 
placements, the commissioning of additional places from the independent/non-
maintained schools is not a viable option. 

Option 2: to commission the delivery of a purpose built SEMH special free 
school in the Cheltenham/Gloucester area where the demand is.

3.3 This option will allow children and young people aged 11-16 who require 
specialist SEMH provision to be educated closer to where they live. A purpose 
built provision will draw on current understanding of the type of physical 
environment and learning space best suited to the needs of learners with 
complex SEMH needs.  It will also achieve savings of £1.5m annually on 
independent school placement costs and £360,000 in transport costs. 

4. Risk Assessment 

4.1 Risk 1
There is a risk that the council will not be able to secure the preferred site for the 
new school. 

Mitigation - This will be managed through ongoing discussions and negotiations 
between representatives of the Council lead by the Head of Property Services.  

Page 129



In the event it is considered that an acceptable agreement cannot be reached a 
further land search will take place.

4.2 Risk 2
There is a risk that revenue funding is insufficient to meet the running costs of 
the school. 

Mitigation - The school will receive revenue funding from the High Needs Block 
of the Dedicated Schools Grant, in accordance with the agreed special school 
funding formula – with a 75 place school being a viable size school.

4.3 Risk 3
There is a risk that planning approval will not be given. 

Mitigation - There will be early pre-application engagement with key 
stakeholders including statutory bodies (planning and highways) to help identify 
any potential issues and appropriate mitigation incorporated into the final 
proposal.  

5. Officer Advice

5.1 Officers recommend that Cabinet adopts option 2 and establishes a new 75 
place SEMH school for pupil aged 11 – 16.

5.2 This will enable the needs of children with complex SEMH needs to be met 
closer to home and aligns with our ambition to further develop local provision and 
reduce our reliance on schools in the independent sector. This ambition is 
underpinned by the High Needs Strategy, the Joint Strategy for Children and 
Young People with Additional Needs, including SEND, and the SEND Specialist 
Commissioning Strategy. 

5.3 The recommended option will save an estimated £1.5m annually in placements 
costs and £360,000 in transport costs.

5.4 Given the increasing need and high cost of independent specialist placements, 
commissioning additional places from this sector will not provide best value for 
money or provide places closer to where the children and young people live.

6. Funding 

6.1 The estimated cost of providing the new school including the site and external 
areas is £7.5 million.  Within the approved Children and Families capital 
programme there is an approved allocation of £5.0 million identified for specialist 
provision. It is proposed that this funding is combined with £2.5 million from the 
DfE grant for Specialist Provision, which is intended for improving the quality and 
range of provision for children and young people with SEND.

Page 130



6.2  On-going revenue costs, along with a one off lump sum of £75,000 for start up 
costs, will be met from the High Needs Block of the Dedicated Schools Grant 
(DSG).

7. Land Implications

7.1 A review of land in the area of demand has established that the council owns a 
site of sufficient size to accommodate the school off Mill Lane, Brockworth.  The 
land is currently leased to The Greenshaw Learning Trust which has an 
academy (Henley Bank High School) situated on part of the land.  Officers are 
currently negotiating the possible surrender of an appropriately sized area 
should the proposal be approved.  The site is located away from Henley Bank 
School and separated by Mill Lane (highlighted in red).

8.   Construction of the school building

8.1 It is proposed that the new school will be delivered using the Council’s approved 
contractor framework. Officers have researched similar provisions in the South 
West to help inform the design specification. It is expected that a planning 
application will be submitted upon completion of the initial public engagement 
phase. It is anticipated that the school will open to pupils during the 2021/22 
academic year. 

Page 131



9. Equalities considerations

9.1  A Due Regard statement has been produced.  Many of the children attending 
the school will likely fall within the definition of disabled as defined in the 
Equalities Act 2010. The proposal would represent a significant improvement for 
children and young people with Special Education Needs and Disabilities 
through having access to purpose built high quality facilities closer to where they 
live.  

10. Consultation 

10.1    Gloucestershire County Council consulted extensively on the development of 
its high needs strategy, with developing and expanding local specialist 
provision being a key element of the strategy. There was strong endorsement 
on our proposal that where children have very high levels of need, we should 
create support packages closer to home rather than rely on schools outside of 
Gloucestershire. 96% of those that responded agreed. 

10.2    Further consultation involving all stakeholders will be undertaken as part of the 
process of establishing the new school. 

11. Performance Management/Follow-up 

11.1  This project will be managed and kept under review by the Head of   
Commissioning for Learning. 

Page 132



Report Title Establishment and construction of a new 75 place special school 
for children and young people (aged 11-16) with Social, Emotional 
and Mental Health (SEMH) needs.

Statutory 
Authority

Education Act 2011

Relevant County 
Council policy

Gloucestershire County Council’s Special Educational Needs and 
Disabilities (SEND) Commissioning Strategy 2019-24

Children and Families Capital Programme 2019-2020

Gloucestershire’s Joint Strategy for Children and Young People with 
Additional Needs, including SEND 2018 – 2021

High Needs Strategy

Resource 
Implications

Gloucestershire County Council’s SEND Commissioning Strategy 
2019-24, identifies the need for additional special school places for 
children and young people with Social Emotional and Mental Health 
needs to enable the local authority to provide high quality school 
places for children and young people locally.  The High Needs 
Strategy approved by Cabinet in January 2019 sets out the aim of 
establishing new high quality SEMH provision locally for those who 
need it. 

This will reduce the Council’s reliance on the independent/non-
maintained special school sector, saving an estimated £1.5m annually 
in placements costs and £360,000 in transport costs. 

Sustainability 
checklist:

Partnerships We will work in partnership with our suppliers, other local authorities 
and key stakeholders

Decision Making 
and Involvement

Consultation will be undertaken with key stakeholders as required

Economy and 
Employment

The scheme will seek where appropriate to encourage the economy by 
providing improved access

Caring for people The ethos of the school is to provide nurture and care to some of the 
most vulnerable children in the county

Page 133



Social Value Opportunities to enhance community access to the facilities will be 
explored. 

Built Environment The enhanced materials policy will be employed where appropriate

Natural 
Environment’ 
including Ecology 
(Biodiversity)

Environmental assessments are undertaken as part of scheme 
development

Education and 
Information

We will keep stakeholders informed with progress on the individual 
schemes

Tackling Climate 
Change

Carbon Emissions Implications? Positive and Neutral
Vulnerable to climate change? No

Due Regard 
Statement

Has a Due Regard Statement been completed?     
Yes  - considerations included in main body of report

A copy of the full Due Regard Statement  can be accessed on 
GLOSTEXT

Alternatively a hard copy is available for inspection from Jo Moore, 
Democratic Services Unit, e-mail: jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk.

Human rights 
Implications

Articles 28 and 29 of the Convention on the Rights of the Child focus 
respectively on a child’s right to an education and on the quality and 
content of education.

Consultation
Arrangements 

Consultation involving all stakeholders will be undertaken as part of the 
process of establishing the new school. A webpage will be set up and 
there will be the opportunity to record electronic responses and 
FREEPOST address for written responses.  Drop in sessions will be 
held with the public/ interested parties.

 

Page 134

mailto:jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk


CHILDREN & FAMILIES CAPITAL PROGRAMME UPDATE

Cabinet Date 9th October 2019

Economy, 
Education and 
Skills

Cllr Patrick Molyneux

Key Decision Yes

Background 
Documents  Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) - Council Budget 2018/19 & 

2019/20

 Gloucestershire County Council’s SEND Commissioning Strategy 
2019-24

 High Needs Strategy 

Location/Contact 
for inspection of 
Background 
Documents

Gareth Vine
Tel: 01452 427547
Gareth.vine@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

Main Consultees Schools 

Planned Dates Cabinet meeting 9th October 2019

Updates to Cabinet on further changes to the programme as required.

Divisional 
Councillors

Councillor Christopher Coleman, Councillor Iain Dobie, Councillor Robert 
Vines 

Officer Clare Medland, Head of Commissioning for Learning 
Tel. 01452 328686, 
clare.medland@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

Purpose of Report To approve changes to the approved Children & Families Capital 
Programme.

Recommendations To approve the changes to the Children & Families Capital Programme as 
set out in the report: 

1. Subject to Cabinet approval to establish a new SEMH school, a new 
scheme for the provision of a 75 place SEMH  Special School, funded 
by the transfer of £5.0 million from the approved basic need provision 
for Specialist Provision and £2.5 million from the Department for 
Education Specialist Provision Grant.

Page 135

Agenda Item 12

mailto:Gareth.vine@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:clare.medland@gloucestershire.gov.uk


2. A new scheme for the provision of additional places at Belmont 
Special School, funded by the transfer of £0.215 million from the 
approved High Needs Specialist Provision budget.

3. A new scheme for improvements at the Cheltenham and Tewkesbury 
Alternative Provision School (CTAPS), funded by the transfer of 
£0.075 million funded from the approved SEND support in mainstream 
school budget. 

Reasons for 
recommendations

Full Council approved the Children & Families Capital Programme for 
2018/19 on 14th February 2018 and for 2019/20 on the 13th February 2019.  
This paper provides an update of individual schemes within these 
programmes.

Resource 
Implications

All proposed changes to the Children and Families Capital Programme are 
fully funded by capital grant, developer contributions and revenue 
contributions.

The proposed new SEMH school will reduce the Council’s reliance on the 
Independent/non-maintained special school sector, saving an estimated £1.5 
million annually in placement costs and £0.360 million in transport costs.

Page 136



MAIN REPORT CONTENTS

1. Background 

Full Council approved the 2018/19 Childrens & Families Capital programme at its meeting on 
14th February 2018 and the 2019/20 programme on 13th February 2019.  This report provides 
an update to various schemes.

2. Proposed changes to the approved capital programme

2.1 New Special School provision 

Gloucestershire County Council’s SEND Commissioning Strategy 2019-24, together with the 
Council’s High Needs Strategy identifies the need for additional special school places for 
children and young people with Social Emotional and Mental Health (SEMH) needs.  To 
enable the local authority to provide additional high quality school places for children and 
young people with SEMH needs locally it is proposed the most effective way to do this is to 
provide a new purpose built facility.  This will reduce the Council’s reliance on the 
Independent/non-maintained special school sector, saving an estimated £1.5 million annually 
in placements costs and £0.360 million in transport costs. 

The estimated cost of providing the new school including the site and external areas is £7.5 
million.  Within the approved Children and Families capital programme there is an approved 
allocation of £5.0 million identified for specialist provision.  It is proposed that this funding is 
combined with £2.5 million from the DfE grant of Specialist Provision Capital, which is 
intended for improving the quality and range of provision for children and young people with 
SEND, to enable delivery of this new SEMH Special School. 

2.2 Belmont Special School

Belmont Special School is a maintained school which caters for children and young people 
whose special needs have been identified as Communication and Interaction, Cognition and 
Learning as well as Sensory and/or Physical needs.  The Council has agreed with the school 
that it will take additional Gloucestershire pupils to meet the rising demand for specialist 
placements, increasing the number on roll to 139. A scheme has been identified to adapt and 
extend the school’s accommodation to enable them to continue to support existing pupils and 
meet the needs of the additional pupils.  It is proposed to allocate £0.215 million from the 
approved High Needs Specialist Provision budget to enable the school to cater for the 
additional pupils. 

2.3 Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Alternative Provision School

Cheltenham & Tewkesbury Alternative Provision School (CTAPS) provides support for primary 
and secondary aged pupils who are unable to attend mainstream provision and/or require 
specialist support.  This may be for a fixed term or permanent period.  The service operates 
from a single site often referred to as the St Georges Centre, Alstone Lane, Cheltenham.  A 
recent survey highlighted the need to undertake measures to introduce appropriate safe 
segregation of pupils from catering equipment.  A scheme of works has been developed and 
will also provide enhancements to the accommodation.  It is proposed to allocate £0.075 

Page 137



million from the approved SEND support in mainstream schools budget to enable the works to 
be carried out.

2.4. Overall Change to Capital Programme

As a result of the above changes occurring from existing approved budgets within the Children 
& Families Capital Programme there will be no overall change to the current programme’s 
total allocated budget. 

2.5. Capital Spend 2019/20

The Children and Families capital schemes are forecast to spend approximately £21.339 
million in 2019/20.  This revised forecast indicates a slippage of £6.676 million from the 
original forecast spend for this year of £28.015 million.  This is primarily due to more accurate 
programmes produced by project teams for newer schemes as they have developed, together 
with some delays encountered through the planning process.  Further details of this reduced 
forecast are provided in the Council’s financial monitoring report which is also being discussed 
at this Cabinet meeting.  While this indicates a reduced forecast spend for this financial year it 
does not impact on the cost of an individual project or its delivery date.  A summary and 
details of the latest spend profile can be found in Appendix A.

3. Risk Assessment  

Risk of overspend will be reduced by effective management of the programme and suppliers 
by the GCC Asset Management and Property Services and will be overseen by the Head of 
Commissioning for Learning.

4. Equalities considerations

These decisions will improve the facilities and provision for children and young people.  The 
individual schemes will be subject to user audit so that their impacts on all groups of society, 
including those with a protected characteristic(s), are assessed and mitigated where 
appropriate.

Page 138



Appendix A  

CHILDREN & FAMILIES CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2019/20

Summary Position as at 17th September 2019

Total 
Budget

Previous 
Years' 
Actual

Budget 
2019

Latest 
Forecast 

2019

Spend 
to date 

2019

% Spend 
against 
Budget

Future 
Years' 

Budget

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 % £000

General Programme 151,902 49,325 25,715 19,039 6,847 27 76,863

Capital Maintenance 3,048 737 2,311 2,300 370 16 0

154,950 50,062 28,026 21,339 7,217 26 76,863

Page 139



CHILDREN & FAMILIES CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2019/20

Budget Monitoring Report as at 17/09/19

Scheme Budget--
2019

Forecast--
2019

Actual--
2019

£000 £000 £000

Alderman Knight sufficiency 0 26 0
Paternoster, replace temps 126 70 0
The Shrubberies kitchen upgrade 96 96 6
Milestone The Space unit upgrade 31 17 1
SEND Support in mainstream schools 80 80 0
Special Provision Fund 18/19 - 20/21 500 500 0
High Needs Specialist Provision 0 0 0
Specialist Provision 19/20 500 500 0
Cleeve School 1FE expansion 205 80 0
Cleeve School dining facilit ies 206 206 0
Beaufort School 1FE expansion 78 65 0
Balcarras School expansion 350 350 350
Chipping Campden School 6th Form/PES 94 94 141
Rednock School sports hall 285 285 14
Thomas Keble School dining area 74 74 0
Pittville School, increase capacity 94 24 0
Pittville School expansion 325 325 0
Pittville School hygiene room 30 94 75
Severn Vale School 1FE expansion 75 72 0
Cotswold School, 6th Form Accommodation 0 0 0
The Cotswold School expansion 1,500 300 1
Winchcombe School expansion 1,000 250 0
Barnwood Park School 1FE expansion 1,052 1,052 776
New Secondary School, Cheltenham 900 760 616
Cheltenham Secondary growth 0 0 0
Short Breaks Capital Grants 191 191 0
Basic Need Grant 2018/19 0 0 0
Health & Safety 18/19 16 16 8
Basic Need provision 18/19 300 300 0
Healthy Pupils Capital Fund 18/19 0 0 0
Russet House APS redesign 10 7 0
Stroud & Cotswold APS DT classroom block 0 0 0
Accessibility 18/19 0 0 4
School Security 18/19 44 44 0
Basic Need Grant 2020/21 0 0 0
Schools Condition Allocation 2019/20 6 6 0
Basic Need Provision 19/20 300 300 0
Feasibility 19/20 250 250 22
Health & Safety 19/20 90 90 0
Accessibility 19/20 0 0 0
Caretakers Properties 19/20 10 10 0
Chelt & Tewks APS refurbishment 0 0 0
Abbeymead Primary, hygiene suite 3 3 3
Ashchurch Primary replace temps 686 386 22
Aylburton Primary staff toilet 10 10 10
Woodmancote Primary hygiene room 74 73 7
Birdlip Primary EYFS outside area 0 0 0
Bourton-on-the-Water Primary, expansion 52 32 16

Page 140



Scheme Budget--
2019

Forecast--
2019

Actual--
2019

£000 £000 £000

Bourton-on-the-Water Primary expansion 500 400 4
Leighterton Primary replace temps 0 16 16
Bream Primary Early Learners 68 68 0
Brockworth Primary Academy 1FE Expansion 456 500 490
Castle Hill Primary multi use room 130 130 0
Chalford Hill Primary, replace temps 15 15 0
Charlton Kings Junior hygiene suite 44 44 0
Charlton Kings Junior hygiene room 52 52 6
Charlton Kings Infant access improvement 2 2 0
Cirencester Primary replace classrooms 1,303 1,400 208
ClearwellPrimary kitchen upgrade 0 0 0
Parton Manor Junior additional classbase 250 250 0
Churchdown Village Junior Safeguarding 11 11 0
Drybrook Primary remodel classrooms 173 150 149
Dursley Primary remodelling 122 122 0
Ellwood Primary Additional space 6 6 6
English Bicknor Primary Pre-school 9 9 0
Fairford Primary 2 classrooms 2,000 1,900 1,549
Grangefield Primary, ICT/FFE 20 20 0
Grangefield Primary, expansion 17 17 7
Rissington Primary, pre-school 30 5 5
Rissington Primary, classroom extension 4 0 4
Rissington Primary expansion 0 0 0
Rissington Primary hygiene room 72 72 6
Innsworth Junior reception and toilet 48 48 0
Innsworth Infant new reception classroom 293 304 304
Kings Stanley Primary adaptations 9 9 0
Kingswood Primary group room and ramp 76 76 22
Warden Hill Primary expansion 2,225 50 0
Severnbanks Primary internal remodelling 5 5 0
Mickleton Primary, double classroom unit 37 20 2
Minchinhampton Primary hygiene suite 3 3 0
St. David's Primary expansion 350 40 20
Nailsworth Primary Disability access 40 40 18
Northleach Primary, extend school house 6 6 6
Norton Primary Garden room/breakout 44 44 0
Prestbury St. Mary's Primary expansion 0 140 0
Primrose Hill Primary, hygiene suite 3 3 0
St Marys CofE Infant temporary expansion 8 8 0
Sherborne Primary Site security 5 5 5
Shurdington Primary expansion 56 30 1
Siddington Primaryhygiene room 32 32 4
Slimbridge Primary expansion 200 250 86
Ann Edwards Primary roller shutter 11 11 0
Isbourne Valley classroom extension 18 1 0
Park Infant hygiene room 122 122 10
Steam Mills Primary Security fencing 2 2 0
Tredington Primary additional classroom 115 102 102
Park Junior counselling/meeting room 10 10 0
Park Junior kitchen upgrade 84 84 84
Stow on the Wold Primary Atrium 3 3 0
Stratton Primary kitchen upgrade 147 147 26

Page 141



Scheme Budget--
2019

Forecast--
2019

Actual--
2019

£000 £000 £000

Swindon Village Primary, remodelling 6 6 0
The John Moore Primary expansion 868 868 607
Mitton Manor Primary outdoor learning 29 29 29
Thrupp Primary, replace temps 9 9 0
Upton St Leonards Primary Toilet refurb 20 20 -1
Willersey Primary toilet refurbishment 3 3 3
Winchcombe Abbey Primary expansion 1,000 200 0
Foxmoor Primary Little Foxes Nursery 20 20 0
Gardners Lane Primary 2 Class Extension 90 90 0
Gloucester Road Primary, SEN/Group Room 2 2 0
Greatfield Park Primary Garden Room 0 0 0
Leckhampton Primary expansion 2,000 1,400 115
Coopers Edge Primary, FFE & ICT 22 22 0
A2YO Capital Contingency 34 34 6
Hunts Grove, ICT/FFE 200 200 0
Longford Primary, ICT/FFE 34 34 0
Hunts Grove Primary, GCC internal fees 6 4 2
Cheltenham additional primary places 0 0 0
Early Years 18/19 12 12 0
Mitton Manor Pre-School 1 1 0
Bishops Cleeve area primary places 500 250 1
Tidenham area primary provision 0 0 0
Winchcombe area primary provision 0 0 0
Dinglewell Junior replace classrooms 28 28 1
Dinglewell Inf & Jnr kitchen upgrade 0 0 1
Finlay Primary 1FE expansion 1,133 1,168 654
Hillview Primary KS2 toilets phase 2 11 11 0
Hillview Primary KS1 toilets phase 3 8 8 0
Linden Primary, hygiene room 4 4 0
The Moat Primary Refurbish toilets 4 4 0
St James Junior entrance and foyer 38 38 0
Tredworth Junior entrance/safeguarding 4 4 4
Trevone House 750 750 212

25,715 19,039 6,847

Capital Maintenance Programme 19/20 2,311 2,300 370

Total C&F Capital Programme 28,025 21,339 7,217

Page 142



Report Title Children & Families Capital Programme Update

Statutory Authority Gloucestershire County Council’s statutory duty under the 
Education Act 2011

Relevant County Council 
policy

School Places Strategy

Joint Additional Needs Strategy for children and young people 
with additional needs including SEND 2018 - 2021

High Needs Strategy

SEND Commissioning Strategy 2019-24

Ensuring Sufficient School Places

Resource Implications
All proposed changes to the Children and Families Capital 
Programme are fully funded by capital grant, developer 
contributions and revenue contributions.

The proposed new SEMH school will reduce the Council’s 
reliance on the Independent/non-maintained special school 
sector, saving an estimated £1.5 million annually in placement 
costs and £0.360 million in transport costs.

Sustainability checklist:

Partnerships We will work in partnership with our suppliers, other local 
authorities and key stakeholders

Decision Making and 
Involvement

Consultation will be undertaken on individual schemes where 
appropriate

Economy and Employment The schemes will seek where appropriate to encourage the 
economy by providing improved access

Caring for people Many schemes will have benefits to people with mobility 
impairment

Social Value Many projects will provide social value by enhancing facilities 
available

Built Environment The enhanced materials policy will be employed where 
appropriate

Natural Environment’ 
including Ecology 
(Biodiversity)

Environmental assessments are undertaken as part of scheme 
development

Page 143



Education and Information We will keep stakeholders informed with progress on the 
individual schemes

Tackling Climate Change Carbon Emissions Implications? Positive and neutral
Vulnerable to climate change? No

Due Regard Statement Has a Due Regard Statement been completed?     No

Human rights Implications Consultation with stakeholders will be undertaken on individual 
projects where appropriate

Consultation 
Arrangements

On a scheme by scheme basis

Page 144



SCHEDULE OF PROPOSED DISPOSALS

Cabinet Date 9th October 2019

Finance and 
Change Cllr Lynden Stowe

Key Decision Yes

Background 
Documents

Cabinet decision on Schedule of Proposed Disposals March 2019

Location/Contact 
for inspection of 
Background 
Documents

Through the above link to the County Council’s website 

Main Consultees Lead Cabinet Member, Officers from across Gloucestershire County 
Council, partner organisations including Local Members, Parish, Town and 
District Councils where appropriate and GCC Property Board

Planned Dates Ongoing

Divisional 
Councillor

All

Officer Neil Corbett, Head of Property Services
Tel: 01452 328813
Email: neil.corbett@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

Purpose of Report To approve the Schedule of Disposals proposed to meet the three year 
Meeting the Challenge 3 capital receipt target of £33m up to 2020/21.

Recommendations In line with the Policy for the Disposal of Property:

1. That Cabinet confirm that those sites described at Appendix A (Exempt) 
which have previously been declared surplus by Cabinet in March 2019 
and not yet disposed of, continue to be declared surplus to requirements

2. That Cabinet declare the sites listed on the proposed Schedule of 
Disposals Appendix B (Exempt) surplus to the Council’s land and 
property requirements

and in relation to both these schedules delegates authority to the Head of 
Property Services to dispose of these sites in consultation with the Cabinet 
Member for Finance and Change.  

Reasons for 
recommendations

Through the approval of the Schedule of Disposals, and the declaration of 
these sites as surplus to requirements, Officers will be well placed to 
achieve best value for the Council in the disposal of these sites, thus 
contributing towards capital receipt targets.

Page 145

Agenda Item 13

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?AIId=23124
mailto:neil.corbett@gloucestershire.gov.uk


Resource 
Implications

The disposal of these sites in accordance with the Policy will generate 
capital receipts for the Council.

Asset Management and Property Services are working towards a capital 
receipt target of £33m towards Meeting the Challenge 3 savings that will be 
used for overall financing of the capital programme.

Page 146



MAIN REPORT CONTENTS

1. Background 
As part of Meeting the Challenge 3, Asset Management and Property Services (AMPS) are 
undertaking a challenging disposals programme by seeking to achieve £33m in capital 
receipts over a three year period, April 2018 to March 2021.   During the first year, 2018/19, of 
the three year programme AMPS achieved £8,455,067 of which £7.175m relates to shortfall in 
MTC 2.  

The programme has been developed across the organisation, led by AMPS in consultation 
with the Property Board who challenges the use of property across the council, in order to 
ensure the council’s property portfolio is being effectively used to meet the future needs of the 
business.  Property and land are recommended to Cabinet to be declared surplus prior to 
disposal to contribute towards the Meeting the Challenge programme.  

A schedule of sites was declared surplus by Cabinet in March 2019 and it was agreed that an 
update on these sales and any further sites which Property Board recommend should be 
declared surplus would be submitted to Cabinet late 2019.  In line with Policy for the Disposal 
of Property the approval given by Cabinet is valid for 6 months therefore a new decision 
confirming approval to dispose must be given in order to progress activity in achieving these 
capital receipts

2. Schedule of Disposals
The attached Schedule of Disposals at Appendix A (Exempt) was approved by Cabinet in 
March 2019.  In accordance with the Policy for the Disposal of Property, AMPS are now 
seeking confirmation of the decision to dispose of previously approved sites that have not yet 
been sold.  The schedule has been updated to show completed sales, sales agreed and any 
changes to previously agreed disposal strategies.  

The attached Schedule of Disposals at Appendix B (Exempt) outlines new proposed disposals 
for 2019 onwards.  The sites listed have been recommended as surplus by service areas and 
AMPS to Property Board, and Officers from the Development and Disposals team within 
AMPS have recommended the most appropriate disposal strategy to deliver best value for the 
Council.  Property Board have approved the recommended disposal strategies.

One Gloucestershire Estate partners have been consulted about potential asset sales as part 
of the One Public Estate Programme.

Capital receipts received and sales agreed to date for 2019/20 currently totals £4,201,916 with 
further sales being negotiated and a number of properties currently being marketed.  Approval 
of the appended Schedules of Disposals will enable new sites to be programmed for disposal 
to help achieve capital receipt targets.

Officers will provide an updated schedule to Cabinet in early 2020, delivering an update on 
sales to date and any further sites which Property Board recommend should be declared 
surplus by Cabinet. 

3. Completed Sales
Since March 2019, the following property and land have been sold by Gloucestershire County 
Council:

Page 147



ADDRESS VALUE
Home Farm, Abenhall, Mitcheldean, Glos GL17 0EE £960,000
Land adj Trenley House, Coaley Glos GL11 5AZ £516,800
Land at Home Farm, Abenhall, Mitcheldean Glos GL17 0EE £41,000
Land at Upper Lock Café, Wallbridge, Stroud £1.00
Land at Wallbridge, Stroud Nil value

The two areas of land at Wallbridge, Stroud were transferred as GCC’s contribution towards 
the canal restoration project as approved by Cabinet in 2005.

4. Options
Cabinet are asked to confirm that the properties and land described at Appendix A (Exempt) 
which have previously been declared surplus by Cabinet in March 2019 and not yet disposed 
of, continue to be surplus to requirements.

Cabinet are asked to declare all sites on the Schedule of Disposals Appendix B (Exempt) as 
surplus to the Council’s land and property requirements.  Should Cabinet choose to identify 
any specific sites which they do not wish to declare surplus at this point, Officers will remove 
them from the Schedule and return them to Cabinet for decision at a future date.

5. Risk Assessment  
Should Cabinet elect to remove any specific site from the Schedule of Disposals, this could 
cause a delay in the disposal process for these specific sites – which could have an overall 
impact on the delivery of future capital receipts targets. The Council is best able to respond to 
the market and opportunities if sites are already declared surplus to requirements by Cabinet – 
enabling the achievement of best value. There is a significant risk that short delays in decision 
making can lead to long delays in the disposal. 

6. Officer Advice
Officers recommend that Cabinet declare the sites listed on the proposed Schedule of 
Disposals surplus to the Council’s land and property requirements, and delegates authority to 
the Head of Property Services to dispose of these sites in consultation with the Cabinet 
Member for Finance and Change and Councils Chief Financial Officer.

7. Equalities considerations
In recommending sites as surplus to Council requirements, and in compiling the Schedule of 
Disposals Officers across the Council have sought to pay due regard to the impact on 
protected groups. Some sites on the Schedule are surplus to requirements due to changing 
plans for office accommodation used by the Council, and where these buildings are currently 
occupied by our employees, or those of our partners, the impact of the closure of the building 
and the relocation of their place of work will be taken into consideration. Information on the 
impact will be gathered through the collection of data concerning the individual members of 
staff who will need to be relocated. Where required, due regard will be paid to the needs of 
staff to ensure that any issues relating to the new workplace are considered (eg specific chair 
requirements, disabled parking spaces etc) in order to mitigate any negative impact.  Where 
buildings have been providing a service those users have been catered for in other buildings. 

8. Consultation feedback
Consultation has taken place with the Lead Cabinet Member, Property Board, service areas 
and other organisations where appropriate in the development of this Schedule of Disposals.
Local members are consulted prior to land and property being marketed.

Page 148



As each site is disposed of, the Development and Disposals team will do so in accordance 
with the Council’s ‘Policy for the Disposal of Property’ which contains clear consultation 
requirements.  

9. Performance Management/Follow-up 
In accordance with the ‘Policy for the Disposal of Property’, Officers will provide an update to 
Cabinet early 2020 on the progress against the Schedule of Disposals and developing plans 
for future disposals.  This will be monitored by the Property Board at regular meetings and by 
the Senior Management Team in AMPS.

Page 149



Report Title Schedule of Proposed Disposals

Statutory Authority S.123 of the Local Government Act 1972

Relevant County Council 
policy

Policy for the Disposal of Property (2012)

Sustainability checklist:

Partnerships Partnerships such as One Gloucestershire will be consulted 
with in accordance with the ‘Policy for the Disposal of Property’ 
2012

Decision Making and 
Involvement

Where appropriate there will be local consultation on the 
disposal of sites

Economy and Employment The disposal of sites may enable the development of 
employment opportunities through the potential future use of 
some sites

Caring for people There may be some disposals which arise from changing 
practices in delivering care: these are managed by the service 
area who will also manage any impact

Social Value Social value seeks to maximise the additional social, economic and environmental 
benefits to the local area by procuring goods and services above and beyond the 
benefits of merely the goods and services themselves.

Built Environment There may be some sites which are appropriate for 
development, which will follow associated planning rules and 
processes, including consultation

Natural Environment’ 
including Ecology 
(Biodiversity)

N/A

Education and Information N/A

Tackling Climate Change Carbon Emissions Implications? Neutral
Vulnerable to climate change? No

Due Regard Statement Has a Due Regard Statement been completed?     No
Considerations included in main body of report

Human rights Implications N/A

Consultation 
Arrangements

Ongoing in relation to each disposal

Page 150

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?AIId=5997

	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	5 Recommendation to Council: Youth Justice Management Plan
	Gloucestershire YOS Signed YJ Pan 2019-20

	6 Financial Monitoring Report
	7 Producing the Council Strategy and Medium Term Financial Strategy 2020-21
	8 Public Health Nursing Service
	9 South West Sub-Regional Residential Dynamic Purchasing System
	10 Adoption of a Waste Tipping Away Policy
	11 Establishment and construction of a new 75 place special school for children and young people (aged 11-16) with Social, Emotional and Mental Health (SEMH) needs
	12 Children & Families Capital Programme Update
	13 Schedule of Proposed Disposals

